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Item 1, Business

(A) Description of Business

Alphaland Corporation (ALPHA or the "Company"), formerly Macondray Plastics, Inc. (Mpl) is a
holding company incorporated in the Philippines and registered with the Philippine Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC). The principal business of ALPHA and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the "Group") is real property development.

(1) Business Development

(a) On November, 19, 1990, the Company was incorporated as Agro Plastics, Inc under
Securities and Exchange Commission No. 18385 with Pioneer Ventures, Inc. as the
controlling shareholder. Until 1994, the Cornpany's sole business was to supply the
requirements ofthe Lapanday Croup's banana plantations.

Sometime in March 1995, the Company was sold to Macondray & Co., Inc. ("MCI")
and was subsequently renamed Macondray Plastics, Inc. (MPI). In 1997, the Company

embarked on a program to reduce its total dependence on the banana industry by further

expanding its customer base to commercial/industrial accounts. [n November 2000, the

Company braved the sluggish stock market and became the first Davao-based, Davao-

oriented company to list in the Philippine Stock Exchange ("PSE" or the "Exchange").

The proceeds of the initial public offering were used to expand the Company's

production capacity and capabilities. ln September 2009, the Company decided to spin

off the operations and maintenance of its plastics manufacturing interest to a separate

juridical entity. Thus, Macondray Plastics Products, tnc. (MPPI) was then incorporated

ind registered with the SEC on September 25,2009 and became a wholly owned

subsidiary of the company. Immediately thereafter, a deed of conveyance was executed

on October 13,2009 where the Company shall transfer all of its assets and liabilities

relating to the plastics manufacturing interest to MPPI with effect upon the approval by

the SEC of MPPI's application for increase in authorized capital stock (the

"Assignment"). Accordingly, MPPI assumed the management of the Company's plastic

products manufacturing operations and absorbed all the employees of the company who

were all connected to the plastics manufacturing business at that time'

On October l, 2009, a Share Purchase Agreement (the "SPA") was executed between

RVO Capital Ventures corporation ("RVO Capital") and MCl. The transaction involves

theacquisitionbyRVoCapitalofMCI,sgg,444'000sharesintheCompanywhich
represents MCI's entire interest in the company. Since MCI',s interest represents

approximately 660 of the company's outstanding capital stock, the acquisition thereof

tiiggered the application of the mandatory tender offer rule of the Securities Regulation

cJi" c.snct. efter the conduct of the tender offer, RVO Capital acquired a total. of

142,6i6,i 4S shares representin g 95Yo of the Company's then issued and outstanding

caPital stock.

OnNovemberl8,2009'theCompanyandallthestockholdersofAlphaland
Development, lnc. (ADI) entered into a Share Swap-Agreement (SSA) for a share-for-

share swap of all of ADI's issued and outstanding shares (as well as existing

shareholders,advances/depositsforfuturestockSubscriptions)inexchangefornew
shares to be issued by ALpHA. Each ADI share was exchanged for approximately 5.08

ALPHA shares, or a total of 1,269,"734,04:l shares of ALPHA. After the share-for.share

swap,ADlbecameawhollyownedsubsidiaryofALPHAtherebyallowingthe
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(b)

(c)

diversification..into the property development sector. In view of the foregoing, the
Company applied for the arnendment of its Articles ol Incorp,ration irrof rfig tfi, Gi
cirange in corporate name from "Maco,dray plastics, lnc." to,,Arphaland corpirution'i
(b) change in primary purpose from plastics manufacturing to that ofa holding company,
(c) change in principal place of business from Davao ciry to Makati ciiv, ano toj
increase in its authorized capital stock from p400.0 million to p5.0 billion, among otters.
These amendments were approved by the SEC on April 7,2010.

On December 23, 2010, ALPHA signed a Memorandum of Understanding ("MOU)
with Macondray Philippines Co., Inc. ("MPCI), where the latter rs offering to buy
ALPHA's entire interest in MPPI upon completion of the Assignment and whicir
ALPHA accepted for a reasonable consideration to be determined nearer to the
Assignment.

On April 29,2011, the SEC approved the increase in authorized capital stock of Mppl
that completed the Assignment and total spinoff of Mppl. lt paved the way for the
Company's eventual sale of MPPI to MPCL A Deed ol Absolute Sale was executed on
October 28, 201 I for a consideration ofP254.0 million.
For the past three years, the Company does not have any bankruptcy, receivership or
similar proceedings.

The Company has likewise not undergone any material reclassification, merger,
consolidation, or purchase or sale ofa significant amount of assets not in the ordinary
course of business for the past three years.

(2) Business of the Companv

(a) Descriotion of Reqistrant

ALPHA is a holding company incorporated and registered with the Philippine Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC) on November 19, 1990. The principal business ol
ALPHA and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the "Croup") is real property
development.

The registered office address ofALPHA is Alphaland Makati Place, 7232 Ayala Ave. ext.
cor. Malugay Street, Makati City.

ALPHA's Sienificant Lesal SubsidiaTies as at December 31.2018 and 2017

a. Alphaland Balesin lsland Resort Corporalion (ABIRC). 100%-owned by ALPHA. was
incorporated in the Philippines and registered with the Philippine SEC on May 26,2010.
ABIRC's primary purpose is to invest in, purchase, or otherwise acquire and own, hold, use,

sell, assign, transfer, mortgage, pledge, and exchange or otherwise dispose, as may be

permiued by law, ofreal and personal property ofevery kind and description.

ABIRC has investment in preferred shares of Alphaland Balesin lsland Club, Inc. (ABICI).

b. Alphaland Southgate Tower, lnc. (ASTI), 1O0%-owned by ALPHA, was incorporated in the

Phifippines and registered with the Philippine SEC on May 29, 2001 as Alphaland

Developrnent, Inc. On October 15, 2015, the Philippine SEC approved the change in

corporate name from "Alphaland Development, Inc." to "Alphaland Southgate Tower, Inc "
ASTI's primary purpose is to engage in real property acquisition and development. ASTI's
main property is a 20-storey office tower building with a six-storey podium shopping mall

known as Alphaland Southgate Tower.
c. Alphaland Makati Place, lnc. (AMPI), 100%-owned by ASTI, was incorporated in the



d.

Philippines and registered wirh the philippine SEC on March 6, i99l as Silvertown property
Development corporation. on February 26,zorI,the philippine sEC approved the changl
in corporate name from "silvertown Property Development corporation" to ,,Alphaland

Makati Place, Inc."

AMPI's primary purpose is to acquire by exchange of shares, purchase, lease that specific
property described as three-storey bLrilding with basement ofstrong rnaterials together with
the warehouse, other land improvements and machinery and equipment as well as the
leasehold rights on the land, which is situated at Ayala Avenue corner Malugay street,
Makati, Metro Manila.

AMPI entered into a joint venture with Boy Scouts of the philippines (BSp) to develop the
Malugay Property into a first class commercial development now known as Alphaland Makati
Place. It is a mixed-use property developmenl consisting of three (3) high end residential
towers atop an upscale six-storey podium with a shopping center and a City CIub.

AMPI has investment in preferred shares of The City Club at Alphaland Makati place, Inc.
(TCCAMPI).

Alphaland Reclamation Corporation, ll0o)%-owned by ALPHA, was incorporated in the
Philippines and registered with the Philippine SEC on April 5,201 l, and primarily engaged in
the construction of reclamation projects and to contract for and perform reclamation works.

Alpholand Balesin lnternational Gateway, lnc. (ABIGI), 1O|%-owned by ALPHA, was
incorporated in the Philippines and registered with the SEC on May 19, 2010 as Aklan
Boracay Properties [nc. On October 17,2016, the Philippine SEC approved the change in the
Company's corporate name from "Aklan Boracay Properties, lnc." to "Alphaland Balesin
Gateway, Inc." On April 10, 2018 the Philippine SEC approved the further change in the
Company's corporate name from "Alphaland Balesin Gateway, Inc." to "Alphaland Balesin
International Gateway, lnc." ABICI's primary purpose is to invest in, purchase or otherwise
acquire and own, hold use, sell, assign, transfer, mortgage, pledge, exchange or otherwise
dispose, as may be permitted by law, of real and personal property of every kind and
description.

Alphaland Aviation, Inc. (AAI), 10|%-owned by ALPHA, was incorporated in the Philippines
and registeted with the Philippine SEC on July 31,2012 and is primarily engaged in the
aviation industry and its related businesses, including but not limited to, the provision of
hangarage and moorage, parking and landing operations, aircraft maintenance, supply of
parts, oils, and lubricants and other related businesses.

Alphaland Baguio Mountain Log Homes, Inc. (ABMLHI), l0}o%-owned by ALPHA, was
incorporated in the Philippines and registered with the Philippine SEC on January 17,2013 as

Alphaland Holdings Company, Inc. On September 7,2016, the Philippine SEC approved the
change in corporate name from "Alphaland Holdings Company, Inc." to "Alphaland Baguio
Mountain Log Homes, Inc.".
ABMLHI's primary purpose is to deal and engage in the real estate business in all its aspects;

to hold, develop, manage, administer, sell, convey, encumber, purchase, acquire, rent, or
otherwise deal in and dispose of, for itself or lor others, all kinds of real estate projects,

involving commercial, industrial, urban, residential or other kinds of real property, improved
or unimproved, with or to such persons and entities and under such terms and conditions as

may be permitted by law.

2258 Blue Holdings, lnc. (Blue Holdings), 10O%-owned by ASTI, was incorporated in the

Philippines and registered with the Philippine SEC on September 17,2012 and its primary
purpose is to purchase, own and hold the stock of other corporations, and to do every act and

f.

h.



(i)

thing qovered generalry by the denomination of "hording corporation," especia[y to direct theoperations ofother corporations through the ownership Jfstock therein.

i. Alphaland southgate Restaurants, Inc. (ASN), 1\T%-owned by ASZ, was incorporated in the
Phitippines and regisrered wirh the phirippine SEC on Marcri 2g, 20r r as Arpharani u[iv",
lnc. [t was renamed as ASRI on Junez'7,2013. Its primary purpose is to estabrish, maintain
and 0perate restaurants, coffee shops, refreshment parlors and cocktail lounge.

j. choice Insurance Brokerage, Inc., t10%-owned by Blue Holdings, was incorporated in the
Philippines and registered with the SEC on November 6,2012, and is primariiy engaged to,
conduct, carry on and maintain insurance business, to act as a broker, and to do othJr ielated
activities.

k. Alphaland Aviation-Pampanga, lnc., 10|%-owned by AAl, was incorporated and registered
with the Philippine SEC on Decernber 5, 20 I6 primarily to engage in aviation industry-and its
related businesses, including but not limited to, the provision of hangarage and moorage,
parking and Ianding operations, aircraft maintenance, supply of parts, oiis, and lub.i"unts a-rd
other related businesses.

l. Aegle wellness center, Inc. (Al(cl, 110%-owned by ALpHA, incorporated and registered
with the Philippine SEC on september 28, 2015 primarily ro provide diagnosric, thera-pheutic
and naturopathic services using formulated herbal supplements and natural health pioducts
and sale of such herbal supplements.

m. Aegle Drugstore, lnc., I1}o%-owned by AMpI, was incorporated and registered with the
Philippine SEC on December 22,2017 primarily to engage in the busineis of retailing or
wholesaling of pharmaceutical products, medicines, foodstuffs and groceries

n. Alphaforce Security Agency, 1nc. (ASAI), 80%-owned by ALpHA, was incorporated and
registered with the Philippine SEC on March 18, 201 I prirnarity ro engage in the business of
providing security and investigation services to private institutions and government
organizations.

ALPHA initially subscribed to 79,999 common shares of ASAI representing 40% of its
outstanding shares in March 2011, which was then accounted for as an associate. ln october
2017, ALPHA purchased additional 79,999 common shares from an existing shareholder for
Fl 1.2 million increasing its ownership of ASAI to 80%.

o. Alphaland lnrernational. Inc. (All), 100%-owned by ALPHA, was incorporated and
registered with the Philippine SEC on January 29,2014 primarily to marker assers, including
club shares and condominium units of the Alphaland Group of Companies outside the
Philippine market.

The Group generates funds primarily from sale of condominium units and parking spaces at
Alphaland Makati Place, Inc., sale of Baguio Mountain Lodges and Balesin Private Villas; from
nrall and leasing operations of Alphaland Southgate Tower, Alphaland Makati place Mall and
Corporate Center; and from operation ofserviced residences ofThe Alpha Suites that commenced
during the first half of the year 2018. The leasing operations and The Alpha Suites provide
recurring cash flows for the Group.

The Group also generates funds through secondary sale of membership shares of the completed
Club projects, namely, Alphaland Balesin Island Club and The City Club at Alphaland Makari
P lace.



(ii) The Group operates their business in the.phirippines and has no revenues contributed by foreignsales. Its network of high-end clientele is largely nilipinos.

(iii) Distribution Methods of products or Services

(iv) New Product or Service

As of December 31, 2018, the company has not made public announcements on the launching of
any new product or service.

(v) Competition

In. terms of the property deveropment sector, there are a number of rear estate deveropers, some
with greater financial and other resources and more attractive locations, tnut "orp"t!'*itt, tf,"Group in seeking properties for acquisition, resources for development, and prospective ciients.
The Group believes that in an emerging rnarket rike the phirippines, 

" uoij,,,i"rr-f.pitrrir.a
developer is best positioned to acquire and reinvent prime but underdeveloped rit.r. rn i.l, tt un u
year, the Group has built an inventory of incomparable properties.

The croup stands for development done right, with attention to detail and focus on quality for the
long term that delights its customers, and gives its shareholders the best return.

Strategy

The Group positions itself as a.selective property investor and operator focusing on very few,
large, premium projects. Recognizing opportunity in an emerging rnarket, the Groip,s straiegy is
to acquire and revitalize prime sites that have languished dul to volatile economic cycles.'This
strategy has proven successful since while being one of the youngest in the industry, the Group
can already boast of its major development projects.

(vi) Sources and Availability of Raw Materials and Name of principal Suppliers

This is not relevant to the operations of the Group.

(vii) Dependence on Customers or a Few Customers

The Group is not dependent on one or few major customers. ADI leases spaces in its shopping
center (Alphaland Southgate Mall) and office building (Alphaland Southgate Tower) to a large
number of clients. It also leases parking spaces on an hourly basis to the general public and on a
monthly basis to its tenants and their employees. ADI also rents out LED billboard spaces, event
spaces at The Alpha Tents and function rooms; ABIRC sells club shares to a targeted customer
base of high net worth individuals. AMPI also sells club shares and residentiai condorn in ium
units to a large network ofhigh-end clientele while leasing out rnall space to several dining and
retail clients.

(viii) Transactions with and/or Dependence on Related Parties

The Group, in its regular conduct ofbusiness, has transactions with its related companies. The
following tables summarize the transactions with the related companies and outstanding balance
arising from these trallsactions.



2017
Pu rchases Rental Purchases Renta I

Related companies under comion key

P34 F t95

Nature of
Transactions

(ln Thousands)

'I lansaclioIs
Outstsnding

Balances
OulstandinB

Transacliolts-[radc 
and other receivablei

Trade
Related conpanies under

connon key managenenl

Re loted componies under
conuon lcy management

P317,380 P23;745 P154,.767

Air transport
services

Real estate

Capit6l
expenditures.

P184.J18

2t5,.100

sales 202.987 J01,762 176,362 I38.0i3

Nootradc

debr
Contracl assets
Re I a ted co mpan ies unde r Real estate

sales

Trsde rId other pryrbles
Trade
Reloted conpanies uhder

connon key nonagenent

Associale -

Acquisition of
properties

Purchases

?2,216,11
24,699

P647,30t

I,l4J
F_

82,4t2
P

52

Security
services

Advances from
Re la ted compan ie s unde r

comnon key mahagefienl
Purchase of

assets and
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Other transactions of the Croup with its related companies are as follows:
. RVO is the beneficial owner ofthe investment properties (e.i. Baguio Property) acquired by

the Group during 2015.
r In 2016, the Group entered into lease agreements with TCCAMPI and ABICI for the rental

space of AWCI. In January 2017, ABICI and TCCAMPI rescinded the lease agreement and
started to assume the rental charges at no cost to AWCI. Rent expense amounted to P23.2
million in 2016.

. In April 2013, ABICI and the ABIRC executed a Letler Agreement wherein the parties agreed
that the difference between the budget under the Supplementary DA and the actual
construction costs incurred will be treated as advances to ABICI. Advances to ABICI related
to this agreement amounting to F1,575.5 million as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 is due
and demandable

Reimbursentent
AHEC ofexpenses 8- tt,02J F- Fl.02l

Relatedconryniesundel Reimbursenent
comnon key managemenl olexoenses ?647

55,276



. On Augrrst 5,2012, ALpIlA, ASTI and ABICI executed a Lefter Agreement whereby ASTI,as the development arm of the Arpharand Group and on beharf oi aLpHa, ,ro.ri.r., i.
?ej9T AIrPqAls obtigations. undet the DA (as iuppremented) entered into uv lipna *rir,ABIRC and ABlcr over the rsland Club, specificaly to provide a subsidy to tr:e tsland ctubri
operations during ABICI,s construction period.

outstanding balances as ofyear-end are unsecured, non interest-bearing and settlement occurs in
cash or equity. The croup has not made any provision for impairm"ent i".*, ."l"iirg," ,r,.
amounts owed by related companies,

(ix) Intellectual Property Rights

ALPHA is the owner of the following registered marks:

.1 Il]9 {L-I-!A and togo, with IpO Registration No. 4-20|-O02gO2 dated 7 July 201 I2. THE clrY CLUB and rogo, with rpo Registration No. 4-20r r-002993 dated 20 october20ll (re-filed May I 3, 20 t4)
3. ATASTE oF FRANCE and rogo, with lpo Registration No. 4-2014-000 r2033 dated 25 June

201 5

4. BALESIN ISLANDER and logo, with Ipo Registration No. 4-20r4-00012034 dated 25 June
20t5

5 cosrA DEL soL and logo, with Ipo Registration No. 4-2014-00012035 dated I January
2016

ASTI is the registered owner of the following trademarks:

1. "alphaland", with IPO Registration No. 42008002299 dated I I August 2008.
2. "alphaland sourHGATE ' , with lpo Registration No. 4/201210000g729 dated I 6 May 20 I 33. THEALPHATENTS and logo, with lpo Registration No.4/2012100009730 dared i6 May

2013
4. ALPHALAND TowER and logo, with Ipo Regisrration No. 4/201210000973 | dated l4 June

20t3
5. ALPHALAND MAKATI PLACE and togo, with tpo Regisrration No. 4/2012/00009732

dated l4 June 2013
6. THE ALPHALAND BALESIN cLUB and logo, with lpo Registration No. 4/2012/00009733

dated l4 June 2013
7. ALPHALAND MARINA CLUB and logo, with lpo Registration No. 4/20 t 2/00009 :,34 dated

l4 June 2013
8. MARK's PRIME RIB and logo, wirh IPo Registration No. 4-2014-00012036 dated 25 June

20t5
9. MARK'S STEAKHOUSE and logo, with IpO Regisrration No. 4-201 g-00005 196 dated 20

September 2018
10. ToscANA RISTORANTE ITALIANO and logo, with lpo Registration No. 4-201 4-

00012037 dated 16 July 2015

(x) Need for any Government Approval of Principal Products or Services

As the Group is engaged in and operates an environmentally critical project, it must comply
with laws prescribed and regulated by the Depa*ment of Environment and Natural Resources
C'DENR). Under Presidential Decree No. 1586, any person undertaking or operating any
environmentally critical project or area, as may be declared by the Presideni of the Philippines,



must first secure an EnvironmenJai compriance certificate (.ECC) from the DENR. An ECCis a documerr cenirying rhat the projecr wi, not cause iignificant ...g;iir, .rriionrrn.d
impact and the proponent wiI unde.ftale preventive, mitigating and enhancement measures toprotect and rehabilitate the environnrent.

As a real estate dev-eloper, the Group is required to secure permits and licenses from thedifferent agencies of the nationar government and rocar governrnent units. rirese' perm;ts
include an environmentar complianci ceftificate, uuirainl pe'rm its 

'"ri'""*p.""'r.i"l1L 
rrr.croup incurs expenses for_the purposes of comprying iiih environmentar' ra*'s irrai consistprimarily of payrnents for Government regulatory i.eJ srch fees are standard in tt"'iJustry

and are rninimal.

(xi) Effect or Probable Governmental Regulations on The Business

The. Company is compliant with all govemment regulatory requirements for the operation of itsbusiness. The company is not aware of any futurJ governmentar reguration that'courd have amaterial effect on its business.

(xii) Amount Spent on Research and Development

The Group engages in research ard development activities focusing on the fypes of constructionof materials, construction methodology, value_engineering, an-<l qualiry'asrrru*" 
-fo, 

ioprojects. The expenses incurred by the Group in-conneciion with these uoiuiti., ar. no,
material.

(xiii) Cost of Compliance with Environmental Laws

As_a real estate deveroper, the Group is required to secure permits and ricenses from the
different agencies of the nationar govemment and rocar govemment ,nitr. ir,".. f"rrit,include an environmentar compliance certificate, buirding permits and occupancy p".r,iii. m.
Group incurs expenses for the purposes of complying with environmentui tu*r ittut .onri.t
primarily of payments for Government regulatory fees. Such fees are standard in the industry
and are minimal.

(xiv) Employees

ASTI provides the management and administrative support such as legal, finance, marketing,
and human resource requirements of the Group. ASTI has a total manpo*er complement of
225 employees as of December 3 l, 201 8.

ASTI has not experienced any disruptive labor disputes, strikes, or threats of strikes. and
ASTI believes that its relationship with its employees in general is satisfactory. ADI,s
employees are not un ionized.

Item 2. Properties

Alphaland Southgate Tower
The property with lot area of 9,49'7 square meters, more or less, located at the nexus of Metro
Manila's two main traffic arteries, EDSA and the South Superhighway is now a fully developed and
revenue-generating 20-storey office tower building with a six-storey podium of ample parking and a
shopping mall. It was declared an Information Technology Zone on January 

'12, '2009 
1y the

Philippine Economic zone Authority, pursuant to presidential proclamation No. 1692 iated
December 22, 2008.



Alphaland Mahati Place

Alphaland Makati Place consists ol three high-end residential towers atop an upscale six-srorey
podium with a shopping center and a cify crub dedicated to urban sports and l;isure. Alphaland
Makati Place is located on a premium one-hectare property along Ayala Avenue Extension corner
Malugay Street, Makati city. Featuring truly "smart homes," Alp[aland Makati place is the first in
the country with built-in concietge technology that will enable its residents and tonants to acSicve
Iilesryle objectives on demand.
Comprising of almost I .6 hectares of sports and leisure facilities, The City Club at Alphaland Makati
Place fulfills the wellness, social, sports and business needs of its members. Facilities include a spa,
aerobics, dance and yoga rooms, formal and specialty restaurants, cafes, a sporls bar, virtual golf, air
soft range, screening room, boxing ring, gyln, children's activity center, coffee lounges, indoor tennis
courts, indoor badminton courts, lap pool and children's pool, private business meeting rooms, and a
business center.

Alphaland Balesin lsland Prooert-v
ABIRC acquired approximately 394 hectares ol land in Balesin lsland, Polillo, Quezon. Additional l0
hectares were also acquired via land-for-share swaps with existing Balesin Island landowners. This
brings the total land ownership to approximately 404 hectares. Of this total, approximately 95
hectares were already conveyed to ABICI. The transfer of certificates of title from ABORC to ABICI
is currently being processed.

Silang Prope4v
ASTI's three parcels of land in Silang Cavite, measuring a total of 300,000 square meters, more or
less, is reserved for future development.

A lphaland Baguio Mountain Lodges
Alphaland Baguio Mountain Lodges Project covers approximately 68 hectares of rolling terrain in
Itogon, Benguet. The Company aims to transform the property into high-end log cabin homes,
prefabricated and imported from the United States of America. Each log homes will have a full
panoramic view of Baguio or the northern -mountains beyond.

Patnanungan Propertv
ABIGI acquired approximately 753 hectares of land in the island of Patnanungan, Quezon, more
particularly on the tip of Patnanungan Sur.

Atimonan Propertv
ABIRC's land in Atimonan, Quezon Province, measuring a total of 21,005 square meters, more or
less, is reserved for future development.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

There are certain lawsuits and claims filed by third parties against the Group which are either pending
decision by the proper judicial bodies or under negotiation, the outcome of which are presently
undeterminable. In the opinion of the Group's management, the ultimate disposition of these cases,
disputes and assessments will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position or results of
operations of the Group.

As of December 3 l, 2018, the Company is a party to the following legal proceedings:

L Josephine A. Maclang vs. Alphaland Corporation, el al., Hon. Labor Arbiter Adela S.

Damasco and 3rd Division of the National Labor Relations Commission, docketed as CA-C.R. SP

No. 138666. This is a Petition for Certiorari filed by Petitioner Maclang ofthe adverse Decision ofthe
NLRC-Third Division dated 23 lanuary 2017 in NLRC NCR Case No. 04-05720- l3INLRC LAC No.
09-002259-14, which DISMISSED Maclang's Complaint for Illegal Dismissal.. The Court of Appeals



DENIED the instant Petition. Maclang's Motion for Reconsiderarion of the dismissal of her perition
was also denied. on l6 June 20 r 7, respondents received a copy of petitioner,s petition io. n"ri.* on
certiorari elevating the case to the Supreme^court. The Supreme Court denied her petition througilResolution dated 3l July 2017. Maclang's filed a Motion i'or Reconsideration but was also denieclwith finality on l4 February 2018.

9:R: f o 218282 with the Supreme court (2nd Division). T.his is a compiaint ro,- iri.gur-oirrir*rfiled by complainant Redentor y. Agustin ("Agustin") before Labor nruite, Ivurita piatir" i"LaPadolina") docketed as NLRC-NCR No. 00-l I laola-zoti . LA padolina issued a Decision aectarlng
that complainant Agustin was ilega[y-d ismissed and ordering the coeoration a puy rri," ti"irur
amount of P336,875.00. This was affirmed by the Nationil Labor Relations commission (4th
Division) and the court ofAppeals ("CA"). Since the cA denied the corporation,s 

"ppLr"ii., iir,rr.issuance of a restraining order, it was constrained to pay the said judgment a*aid, i,rcrusiue otexecution-fees. Both parties elevated the Decision of thi ca to the S-uprerne Court in separate
Petitions for Review. The petition for Review fired by the corporation was dockered as sc c.ti. tto.
211946, which was denied with finarity, whire the one filed by cornprainant Agustin, which is this
case, is submited for resoh.rtion as the parties had already filed tleir reipective Mlrnoranda.

3. Jose Edwin G. Esico vs. Arphaland corporarion and Arpharand Deveropment,./2c., with the
Supreme Court docketed as G.R. No. 134512 (ist Division). Tiris case arose fiorn the consolidated
cases of: a. Illegal Dismissal filed by complairlant Jose Edwin c. Esico (.,Esico,,); and, b. wrongtll
resignation, training reimbursement amounting to p91i,720.00 and damages ril.J uy- arprl.r-o
Development, lnc. (now Alphaland southgare Tower, Inc.) (,,ADI,,) before- Labor Arbiter Litia s.
Savari ("LA Savari"). LA Savari disrnissed the complaint for illegal dismissal uno oro.r.J t1'.
reimbursement of training expenses amounting to p997,700.00. This ias reversed by ttre lfnC l tst
Division), and awarded complainant Esico p2,205,000.00 as fuI backwages, p690,000.00 as
separation pay, P 3,680,000.00 as unpaid salaries and l0 % ofall monetary u*ard. us Attoiney,s fees,
and affirmed the award of P45,450.00 as proportionate l3th month pay. The corporation and ADI
elevated the case before the Court of Appeals, which reversed the NLRC decision and reinstated the
ruling of Labor Arbiter Savari with modification as to the amount of training expenses from
P997,700,00 to P9'17,'120.00. complainant Esico elevated the case to the Supreme iourt'by way of a
Petition for Review on Certiorari, which petition is presently pending resolution. '

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

During the last Annual Stockholders' Meeting on June 20,2018, the security holders, present and
repre-sented, approved the appointment of Reyes Tacandong & co. as the company's exteinal auditor.
The foregoing matter was approved by the security holders present and entitled to vote during the said
meeting.



Item 5, Market for Issuer,s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

(A) Market Price of and Dividends on Registrant's common Equity and Rerared stockhorderMatters

(l) Market Information

(a) on september 8' 2014, the psE issued a resorution delisting the company and mandatedthe company to hold a 
!e_n{er offer to buy a, the shaies or i* '."tiiinon-rirui"gi.

sharehorders. on october r7,20r4, the company compreted it. t"narr oii"iio z,il),lss
company shares, reacquired through ASTI, equivalenr to p24.2 million. The pSE arsoprohibited the company from apprying for rerisiing within , p.rioa oir*e y.u.r'rlo"*,rr.
effective date ofderisting. ocrouir zotq marks tie end ofthe five-year recess, thereby
allowing the Company to relist with the pSE.

(2) Holders

(a) The total number of sharehorders of common shares, as of December 3 r , 20 r g, is gg and
shares outstanding are 29,407,499,4l0 (exclusive 0f4,239,000 in treasury).

-II. OPERATIONALAND,,@



The rop 20 registered stockholders ofthe company as ofDecember 3l, z0l g are as follows:

Citizenship

F ilipino

Filipino
Filipino

Hongkong

Filipino
Filipino
F ilipino

F ilip ino

Filipino
Filipino

Filipino
Filipino

Filipino

Filipino

Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino

F ilip ino

No, of Shares %

A lphaland Development. Inc.

RVO Capital Ventures Corporation
Boerstar Corporation
Red Epoch Group Ltd.
Fine Land Limited
Azurestar Corporation
Loustar Corporation

Powerventures, lnc.

Galaxyhouse, Inc.

Crystalventures, Inc.
Towermill Capital Ventures
Corporation
Gemsplace Resources, Inc.
Summer Wind Capital Ventures
Corporation

Noble Care Management Corporation

Mega Access Capital Ventures, Inc.

Globalcentric Corporation

Earthlight, Inc.
Regentstar Holdings Corporation

Arculli, Derek

Citadel Investments Limited

(3) Dividends

(a) There has been no proposed action
for the ensuing year. The Company
years.

or resolution relating to the declaration of dividends
has not declared dividends in the past three calendar

13,792,109,780

8,426,567,460

r,677,884,300

961 .l 34. I 30

890,000,000

280,626,360

222,570,910

2 t9,604,500

190,304,900

I 88,796,760

I 88,4s4, r 40

r 87,5 12,680

167,169,230

t4s,916,470

100,825,370

100,473,660

100,247,230

100,r38,r90

I 00,000,000

100,000,000

48.s5%

29.66%

5.91%

338%
3.13%

0.99%

0.78%

0.77%

0.610/0

0.66%

0.66%

0.66%

0.s9%

0.51%

0.35%

035%
0.35%
0.35%

0,35%

0.35%

(b) There are no restrictions on the Corporation that limit the payment of dividends on

common shares. The Company has re-invested its retained eamings for working capital
requirements as well as the expansion of its operations and facilities.

(4) Recent Sale of Unregistered or Dxempt Securities Including Recent Issuance of
Securities Constituting an Exempt Transaction

As at December 31,2018, the Cornpany enlered into the following share subscription

agreements:

Date of Subscription Subscriber Number ofShares
Subscribed

Total Subscription
Price (in PhP)

June I 1, 20l8 Crystalventures, Inc. 18,8't9,676 224,479,349

June I l. 2018 Earrh lieht, Inc. t0,024,723 t t9,294,209
June I l, 201 8 Calaxylrouse, Inc. 19,030,490 226,082,22,1

June ll,20l8 Gemsplace Resources,

lnc.
r 8,75 1,268 222,'t65,069

t.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

10.

lt,
t2.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17,

t8.

t9.

20.



June I l,2018 Globalcentric
Corporation

10,047,366 I 19,463,179

June I l, 2018 Loustar Corpomtion 22,257,091 264,414,318
June I 1,2018 Mega Access Capital

Ventures, Inc.
I0,082,537 l r9,982, | 87

June I l,2018 Powerventures, Inc. 21,960,450 260,890,144
June I 1,20l8 Redcrest Holdings

Corporation
9,856,652 I t7 ,097 ,022

June I 1, 2018 Regenstar Holdings
Corporation

t0,0t3,819 P119,t64,443

Junell,20l8 Summer Wind Capital
Ventures Corporation

]l6,7 t6,923 198,597,048

June I l, 2018 Towenrill Capital
Venlures Colporation

r8,1145,4 r1 223,883,511

other than the foregoing, there were no recent sales of unregistered or exempt securities
including recent issuances ofsecurities constituting an exempt Transaction.



Itenr 6. Managcment Discussion :rnrl Analysis or plan of Operntions

REVENUES

COSTS AND EXPENSES
Cost ofreal estate sold
Cost ol services

P2,877,819

859,354
646,589

?2,483,427

834,340
360.468

P394,392 t60/o

25,0t4 30/o

286.121
Ceneral and adminislrative 1,237,3J0 g74,?g4 362.546 4l%2,i4W
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES)
Gain on fair value changes ofinvestment properties
lnterest gxpense and other finance charges

7,453,5t6
(l2l,J1s)

,471,8r9
(365,72-t\

51,476

(4,018,303)
44,382

-35%
-t2%

- 100%
- 1000/0

Other I

NET INCOME

oTH0R COMPREHENSTVE INCOME (LOSS)

Nat to be reclassified to prolt or loss in subsequent
years:
Revaluation increase

designated as FVOCI

Reclassification adjustments on disposal oIAFS
financial assets

Unrealized valuation gain on AFS financial
assets

lncome tax effect

|.t57
7,165,860 |,57 t.401 (4.405,541)

4,.165,r48

1,084,338

- (216,038)

- 58,146

I

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX

PROVISION FOR INCOME'tAX
Currenl 68,J80 58,t61 to.2l9 tTo/.

4,728,303 8,169,032 (3,440,129) "42o/o

9,5 f5 4.355,633 45'176%
lncome tax eflect (t,287,956) (2,854) (1.285,102) 45028%

.. .. . . . . .. 3,011,t92 6,661 3,070,53t 4609.10/0
Unrealrzed valualion gain on equily securities

- 1.084.338 00/o
lncome tax effect (162,651) - (162,651) O%

_ .... " 921,6E7 _ 92t,68,1 00/,
Kemeasuremenl galn (loss) on rettremenl

_ .liabil.LlJ . . - 22,504 (22,504) .t00%
To be reclassiJied to prortl or loss in tubsequenl

years:

2 t6,038 -t00%

(58, t46)
15,789 l5

- (t42,t03) 142,103 .t00%
4,1I 1,811 -3641o/o

TOI'AL COVTPRU LNSTVE rNCrOl\tE p8,727,11t2 ptt.056.091 p6ll.08lJ 8%

Net income attributable to:
Equity holders ofthe Parent Company P4,127,912

391

FIi,167,662 (F3,439,750)

3,998,879 ( r r2,938)

interests I

-42o/o

-11%
t69,032 440.129 -420/a

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders ofthe Parent Company
Noncontroll ing interests

]8,126,19t P8,054,768
391 t,326

?672.023 80/o

(935) -1t%
P8,721,182 P8,056,094 P67 t,088 \yo



The Group's consoridated net income in 20rg and 2017 amounted to p4,72g.3 mirion and

Li;,fi,&T.,l,l,lili,:TI;";;TI, 
rotur.o.p,,i,,^i", r*.1"r,r,, c,",p i, ps,ziiJ,irii.ii,ii 

zors

I 60% lncrease in Reyenues
The croup showed consoridared total revenues amounting to p2,g77.g miflion and p2,4g3.4 mirionfor the years ended December gr, zora 

""Ji6ii,'r"rp""i;rar. The increase is mainry anributed tocombined effects of AMp|s additionar ,"nt rn"or.'i.5, c'o-rJo."r" Tower and increased number ofnew lease agreements of AMpr and ASTI durin! 26 iil. 
"'i;ri;r."re, 

there is an increasing trend inrevenues from fansport services provided by AA'l to egfil. 
" -

337o increase in Costs and Expenses

llli'iii,,llJ"i,i ,?li;l,frl[l :i:':: 1"'* to F2'74r 7. mirion in currenr period mainry represenrs

"f 
nfgi,.., ,*p""*"ir.n"'-.'"" 

servlce' correspondirtg to increased number of units rota uni'nurU"..

37oto Decrease in Orher lncome (Expenses)
other income (expense) decreasid by p4,r26.3 mirion from pr,r57.6 mirion in 20r7 toP7.03 1.3 mirion in 20r8. The significant a""r*.. l. 

"nriirtuuL to ro*., gain on rair varue changesof invesrmenr properties recosn izid in 2o t r as compare; ;; ;;'i (Southgate Tower and Mar, Silang,Mal.ati Place, Baguio and Balisin propenies).



Yenrs Eode(l Decentbrr JI V a rin nce
2017 2016 Amoun t %

REVENUES

COSTS AND EXPENSES
Costofreal estate sold
Cost ofservices

F2,483,428 F2,335,748

834,340
360,468

t,094,857
285,884

Pr47,680

(260,517)
7 4,584

-24%
26%
680/0

t0%

6%

General and adminislrative

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX
PROIi/ISIoN FoR INCoME TAx

Delcrred

123

141.53 r t,942,85 t

il0 184.6 t

IoTHER_tNCOME (EXPENSES)
u^arn-on talr valuc changes ot.invcstment propertics
rrutresl expense and ulher linance chargcs
9lher gains (losses) _ net

11.47t.8t9
1365,127)

It,57t,403

58,r61

10.007,052
(294,749)

1.464.']67
(70.978)

t svo
24%
73%

123,114 105.186 17
9,817 4tI,717 t4%

10,210,685 1,360,718 t3%

u 7.0ll4

8,r69,032 7,076,1323

(28.923)
297.432

9%

t,092,209 t5%

778
.33%

100/o3,402,371 tl
NET INCOME

oTHER COMPREHENSTVE INCOME (LOSS)

Not..to-be reclassified to prolit or loss in subsequenl
years;

Revaluation increase
lncome tax elfect

9,5 r5 103,828 (94,3 I])
3 t.l 2

-9 to/o

-9t%
Remcasu.eme nr giiilGffi -9tyo

t o oe rectassi./ied to pro.fit or loss in
years:

a55ats

Income tax efl'ecl

Reclassification adjusrmenb on disposal ofAFS
rInanclal assels

Unrealized yaluation gain on AFS financial
(2 r6,038)

58.146
t5,789

(r08,495)

125,090
6t

554,930

( t07,543)

(666.944)
77,454

99o/o

-920/0

-l
- 1269/0

.t t8%,TOT

Net income attributable to:
Equity holders ofthe parenl ComDanv
Noncontrolling intercsts

Total co.pr.h"r,siiiG6ffi

P1.091.256 tso/o
951 229yo

P8. t67.662 P7.076.406

417

5%

t5%
169

Equiry holders ofthe parent Comfanfn;;;;;;;irhsiil;"J;''" ""'p*v F8'0s4.?68 P7.702.670 Fr52,0e8 5yo



Tlre Group's consoridated net income in 20r7 aud 20r6 arnounted to p8,r69.0 miriorr andP7'076'8 million. respectivelv. Total corrprehenl* ir"",i" 
"i,r,. Group is pg,056.1 million in 2017and F7,703.1 million in 2016.

6ak Increase in Revenues
The Group showed consolidated total revenues amounting to p2,4g3.4miIion and p2,335.7 milionfor the years ended December y,zotl^ii)ii,'r.rpt.iir* 

,-ne increase is mainry aftriburabre toincrease in rer)[ income of ASTI due to h igher o.iupun.y ,uiu'in 20 r 7 for the Southgate Ma, and forthe higher leasabre area ror rhe sourhgate To*.r .;;;;;'.i;" iiiro. r, was compremenred by increasein transport services due to addirion,iaircr;f,;r,€;[;;;tl"*li"t, r.ua lo more Baresin membersand guests accornmodated to and from galesin tsia;;.

l0ozo lncrease in Costs and Expenses
lncrease from p1.942.9 miIion in 20r6 ro p2,14r .5 milion in 20 r 7 is due to the increase in sarariesand emplovees' benefits due to the inc.ease tr;;;;;;;'; of some or rhe key manapernenrpersonnel of the Group and the recognition ofdonation orn'sit to Ateneo de Manira, rnc., a rron_stock, non-profit educationar institutiin, Th" in;;;;u;'pu,i;u,'y offset by rhe decrease in cost ofreal estate sold of AMpl.

140% ln.crease in Other Income (Expense)
other income (expense) increased by p l,4 r r.7 milion rrom p9,8r7.g milion in 20r6 to plI,229.5million in z0r'r. The significant incrlase is .nriuri.ur. ," ,ii i#r.ur. in gain on fair varue chanqe ofSilang,and^recognition of gain on.fair uutr..trn!. i", afpf,'.f.ra C;*r;;;'i;#;,;i:ilt_r,panially offset by the decrease in gain on rair varue.irng* 

"ii"r,rrgate Tower, Baguio, and Baresinproperties.



Icars [inded Decentber Jl
n-;----,._ .vrr Afiolnl

REVENUES

(-ns.re r Nh 
p2,335,748 p2,t87,274 pt48,4,14 

7o/oCOSTS AND EXPINSES I"/A

Cost ofreal estate sold
cost ofservices 1.094.957 1,20.1,386 ( 2.529) _9%
cqneratano ai"nrinisnarive :::'191 ?9?.884 ' 8i.000' 

-';;

!!------1125 ,,:ii oyo

,rrl ,;i;.;;;, 
i:::"

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX t0.210,685 8,8t7.t35 t1Q,r s<nPpnr/ rc r^trr

oTHER-INCOME (EXPENSES)

f,?:1.:i.H:5"J:H?.:i##:'ilil:x.*"", ,?f:l)i::, ';jlllfl, 1.4?9,?st 1.1.,.

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX

8^7,9\1 -.63,e0r 2r.r83 36%
!g__j.ety:l_ qii'.iit t6vo

| ,942.85 t

3.13

7,144

434,504 t6%
NET INCOME .7,076,823 6,|7,777 959,046 t6o/o
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Not.to be reclassified lo ptol,it or loss in subsequenl
yeaf':
Revaluation increase 

l03,g2g

1) Aen
R.meusu'e,nenr gain-lii-iliilEiiEiEii

liahilitv
00/o680

Tob"u"louilieiap*,y,@
years;

Re{lassificalion adiustmenls on disposal ol.AFS
nnancral assets

Unroalizsd valuation gain on AFS financial
assets

lncom€ tax effect

Equity holders oflhe parenl Comoanv
Noncontrolling inlerests

Total comprehensiviii6
Equity holders ofrhe parent ComDanv
Mncontrolling jnterests

(r08.495)

125,090
6t
54

F7,076.406
417

P',l,',102,6'70

4t7
P7,701,087 P7, I

485,13 t -41%
-40%

1,155,623

( r08.49s)

(430,533)

0%

.37%
-4'to/oll

04

t6

9

P6.1r8.500 F957.906
t.140

I t7,'777 P9-5 9

P',l,167,605 P535,065

I,t40

160/0

- 1580/0

7%
- 1580/0

| 6!it

Nel income altributable to:



I!: .gr"orp', consolidared ner incorne it 20t6 and 20t5

Lf;'Ji;f,'llliili,:Tffil1] rotarcomprehe-ns';;il#;'',flIE[l,T,J?,fia3]f 
,l,r;il]ti,6i3

70,4 Increase in Revenues
The.Croup showed consolidated total revenues amountins to Ifor the year *a.a o...r[, I r. zo Io ard 20 I 5, ,."r0..,;.1, ?''315 

7 million and P2, i 87.3 rniIion

::ffiffi:X,:T|J;:[il',f;.l a,. . r,;er'"'" 
"'"".,|il;U I;,JT 'ifi:":""ffi.:T'[Tl,|il';j:

ro more Baresin';";;;; ;,;":'X;[T::ffi*ilraoditio;af airc1ft u"etil;AAi;i;"'r, r"ua
increase in interesr income r'om ii.rrlrr"ni s.i. 

"ienipir il;oHil,rT',nr;lr.rsrand. 
rhere was an

loh decrease in Costs and Expenses

,::i::?L,::i::,lfllri Tl,,:i, 
,, 20t5.to ?t,e42e rnirrion in 20r.6 is due ro the decrease in cosr of

ar. ,o ,or. nigii, i, irj,t."'" 
was parliallv ollset by the increase in AAI's cost 

"i nrr.p"n'r"*i.*

14,?o-ln.crease in (lher lncome (Expensel
urher income (expense) 

'nrr"':"l-0, 
pr,2r7.9..mi,ion from p8,599.9 mirion in 20r5 to pg,gr7.gmillion in 20r6. The sien ifica nt, increase is attributable alr," lnr"u.. in gain on fair varue cha-nges

:,|,,Tilt"'#::,1"r-,L'Jj.X1l 
sil"e' e's'i", P".*,,*'liJ'raresin.properties. nre increasi was

ro,rg-rerm a.o, d,i.,*,,Tiil:ffi:'iii:['lTilJi$[::iff1.11e.r'..g!, g,"_,"'i"n.'o".ilii,. i,
due to lower n umber ol sold shares in year 20 I 6. 

gatn on sale of A FS financial assets



Financial Condition (in thousqnds)

ASSLl S

Current Assets
Cash and cash equrivalenrs
Trade and other rec4ivables

li1j11-a levepnmenr costs and parkrng lors ror saleAovances lo related companies.q:Ll^:::::ll:: 
!".1r"",:9..T i.arr varue rh,oush orhercomprelensrve mconre lrvOCii ifori,

a\,arrabte-fbr_sale (AFS) fi nancrai assetsl

Pt t0tt57
I,113,928
J,080,t40
3,r 19.J79

1,065,31 I

F215,593
r,993,504
3,942.375
2,777.048

985,811
79t

t2,349

(F105,416) -49o/o
(219.576) -t to/o
(862,235) .22%
l42.l3l t2o/o

available-for-sale (AFS)

Noncrrrmrrt Assiii

Propeny and eqLripnrent

[fornrerly classil]ed as

79.s00

,nvestment in and advances lo 6n associste

"l'it fi [':',:i *t-1"]cnlra:lcvurorcc,1(rormcrrv 
cra'si ned as

rnyeslment propefltcs

12.349

29,970,174
47,675,612
n,t74.812

00/o

29.078,457
40.664.071

r,812,148

892.117
7.0r.7t9
8.342.464

30/.
t70/o

4550/o

ty.I I

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Cunent ponion of:

Long-tern debl
Customers'deposits

Advances from related companies
tai

Ner deferred tax li;biliries

Lon8-lerm debt - net ofcurrenl Dortion
Cuslomers deposits _ net ofcurrent ponron
Keltrement liability

P3,896,062

t,223,962
.1,592

245,2s2

F2.808.583

t,071.574
13,504
8t,764

Fr.087,479

t52.388
(69.9r2)
163,488
2)

39%

140/o

-950/o

2000/0

480/o

- t00/o

1730/o

38%
490/.

0%
00/o

0%

4,914,969
266,t ! r

44,509
18,54 t,246

5,525,046
97,605
24,451

11.4s 1.529

(550,07i)
t68,506
20.058

5.089.717
9 _792Totai

Tolal
Equiry Atlributsble to Equity Holders ofthe prrenl

LOmpany
Capital srock
Addilionat paid-in caoiral
Retained eamrngs
Other comprehensive income:
Cu-mulative unrealized valualion gatn on equily secunlies
oesrgnated as FVOCI

Revaluation suelus

P2,a42tt74
t2,769,130
45,295,494

22,891,678
J,r0l,6J8

86,948,064

r6,881,220

19.1t8,749

2,655,107
t0,740,079
40,343,598

,,432,497
7s,850
45

r6,88t,220
1,2t4

186,467
2,029,65t
4,95t,896

(540,819)

1.027.788 39920/o

0o/o

t90/o

t20/o

Less: ,0il l 9,654

3:::"ffi:J#yj jr,"s herd by a subsidiary

Torar assets of rhe GrouD increased. by ?15,747.g mirion or rgo/o from pg3,6r5.0 mirion as ofDecember 3 t, ZO|T to pgg,362.7 miilion as 
"f 

b.".iU", :ii.'Ztf t.
49a,4 Decre-ase in Cash and Cash Equivalents

i"TJiifiiT:-l3Jo',',u"r[i""' to Plr0 2 ,nirlion *u' rnainlv caused bv debt service and

I

proJect



UoZ Decrease in Trade and Other Receivables
uecrease fiom Fr,gg3.5 milion to p1,773.g miflion mainry pertains to the forfeiture of sares ofcondominium units, parking slots and.it;iilil;;J oiti)ir,,urorn,ing to pr4z.5 mirrr.on, ner ora'owance, CoIe*ion ofprior year's ,ec.irrutes oraarr,,Lliirro AMpr arso caused the decrease.

2296 Decrease in Land and Development ond parking lots for sale

P:ltitq in land and developneni^and ,r,[;rn r.ir'f., ,i"il is atrributabre to rhe coqt or rear estaresuru and ro rne recrasslflcat,6n or arupr5J'ion"od;iriilil:t, from,.Land and deveropmenr cosrs,,to "Property and equipment" account due to change in use, from condominium units ror sare toserviced residences called, The Alpha Suitei. 
'- -"-"bY rrr uJ\

I2ol lncrease in Advances lo Reloted parries
Increase in advances to related purti", i, uttriUrtuUt" to fundinoperations. g mainly made to Clubs to suppon its

22aZ Increase in Other Current Assets
Increase is primarily due to establishment of a Debt Service Reserve Account (DSRA) required underthe omnibus Loan and Service Agreemer, *iir,, riiio tirruunt , tr.., and increasei creditabrewithholding taxes due on sale otrruiprop"rtL, un;';;;.:"'

':i"*:;::';,:;:::#y,i?Bay^f:':?;;,',:i,ri;s desisnatect as FVoct and 3% rncrease in Equity
Net increase in equiry secu'ities desigria*o 

", 
ivoii"i. primariry due to appreciarion of fair markervatues of shares of Baresin rsrand Crui. ft," 6r"ri#lji!i,lrir," r",, varue of rhe preferred shares in

ilfJ[?ffiHJl:.recent 
arm's r""slh ;;k.iil;#i'ii1,"^)n,* i, ,r,. bi",p:."i.,^u.i"]'L,,,n,

I702 lncrease in lnvestmenl properlies
This account represents both compreted, properties and properties under construction herd to earnrentals or lor capitar appreciation, or both. Increase ,.prlr.ii, fair varue appreciation or ior,lgut.l ower and Mall, Silang, Makati piace, nugr;o, pu,;rffi rnd uu,".,, prope(ies.

4550% lncrease in property and Equipment
l he movement or the accounts main ry penains to the transfer of A M p's condom iniu m un its ror sa relrom "land and deveropment costs and purting lot, io, ;ii.r:io ip.o"ny 

and equipment.,accounr dueto change in use, from inventory to service-d residen-ces.u]t.a "m. Arpha suites,,. Revaruationadjustments ofThe Arpha Suites and tr,. crorp', uir.rut, urlo 
"u*.a 

the increase.

4lol Decrease in Other Noncutenr Assets
Decrease is aftributabre to the apprication of advances to contractors to the payment of progressbillings for the construction of Baresin prrr""lirr.., a"g"rio"'tog tor., and Makati prace proiects.

Iffi, ',;TXffiii 
,l_.#::fl,il",, ted to ?2s.2s2.6 milion and p23, ree.s miilion as or December



J9%o hcrease.in Trade and Other payables

;ffiffili:'i:,J,,1li,,,ijiir*rJisirion orAMp|s condominium units, parking stors and shares

200% lncrease in Advances/ron Related parties
ryovement rn advances from related parties is attributable tpurposes. ' 'vrsrwv Pctlrvs ls arrloutable to advances made for working capital

,J{;!;i;::,ir:; current portion of Long-term Debt and t0o4 Decrease in Long_term Debr_ Net of
Movemenr in long_term debt perlains to the principal loan navailment of coni.r"r to s"-ri tcrsl eirur"inJ';;'ffiilfii:*rments of AC, AAI and AAPI, and

: 
^i;,i;r;::::r::;:if:r 

Portion of Cusromers, Deposits and t 73% increase in customets , 
Deposits

[1'::Ti::]::'i*i:*.::ffifxT["fiTi1Tffllrv for the rease of corporare rower and from

38%o 
.lncrease in Net De/eted Tax Liabitities

inl:iffi,1r#butable to the recognitio, of deferred tax tiabitity on the sain on fair vatue change

49026 lncrease in Other Noncurrent Liabiliries

il;fH,x"1X,:?il1:,t"",:1:,1:**. rentals rrom new rease agreements orASrr and AMpr (mainry

Totar equity o[ rhe Grouo ium,ne{.!r r 6yo or by p9,654.6 milion, from F60,4 r5.5 milion as ofDecember 3 t, 20t7 to p7}dl}.i mirion as 
"f 

o#ri",il, zif ,t.
701 lncrease in Capital Stock ol.d lg0z6lncrease in Additional paid_in Capital Sfock

ff.:'f:lffill,:lT:iT, ;,"#:H:,'.: 
;; ff #lJ;;ffi':l t u,oao,o, a nc .r,,"., in 20, 8 by

2ok lncrease in Retained Earnings
The increase is brought about by'the net income of the Croup during the current period.

296 Decreae in Cumurarive unrealized.varuation gain on equity securities designated as FyoctThe decrease is mainry the effect.of 
"a.rrrir"ri rii"- , 

^rz'."'{n"sare 
of shares of stock not traded inrocat stock exchange, from 5_ t0% ," t% ;;;;; ;h;Tri.o",ai[.* .n .,ire January r , 20 r 8 .

3992026 lncrease in Revaluarion Surplus

I[ils:i[::[]rcrease 
perrains to vatuation adjustmenrs of AMprs Atpha Suites and AAt,s and

7oZ Decrease in Noncontrolling interesls
I he decrease is atrributable to ihe remaining 3% interest in Choicacquired by the c;";;l;;;* 

rvr'4.rrlrg J-lo tn'erest tn choice Insurance Brokerage, Inc. fully



Cash and cash equjvalents
Trade and other ieceiyahles

Hlfil';Hi:l'Jjff'and narkins rots ror sare

&:::1"::::::: I'tdat:{..r' ir,l varue throueh other
ij1l",*L.:: l"::l^l lrvocrt rro,iniiry crassined as

ll.'l1i.o.'^:li':''' to t'r h "",;.i;;i,'iOlirer current asscts

P2t 5,593
t,993,504
3,942,37 5
2,777,048

985,8
191

t2,349

29,078,457
40,664.073

I,832,348
321

F256,146
1,254,521
5,436,0t5
2,4 t2,742

(P40,553) -t6%
7i8,983 Sgo/o

( 1,493,640) -27o/o

364,106 t5%

Noncurrert Assets
Investment in and advances to an assoctale.ql,y"T::1li:: 

9:ll91"red as FVoct (rormerty ctassified as
,_.AFS 

[lnancralasseis) - *, 
"tar".r,'r"niqrnvestmentproperlies

Property and equrpmenl

22,669

29,27 t,4t I
27,297 299

1,492,835

(10,t20)

(192,954)
13,366,77 4

3l9,s ll

460/0

-lo/o

49%
23%

t4

rraut rl I lEs llo eotrnT
cu, rcnt Liibitiries
Trade and other payables
Uurrent ponion of

Long-tem d€bt
Cuslomers' d€posits

Advances from related cornpanies
lnCOme lax nav2hlF

P2,808,s83 F2,519,517

4i

1,071,5t4
73,504
8t,764

t,480,419
22,932
8,693

89

18,451

69.237,3

F289,046

(408.905)

50,572
13,01t

I to/o

-280/o

22t%
84to/o

Long-lerm debt - net ofcurrent portion
Lustomers dcposils - net ofcuffenl Donion
Kerrrement liabilirv
Net deferred rax li;bilities

EquiryAfiributable to Equity Holders of thr parenl
Lomp0[y

Capitalstock
Addirionat paid-rn caDjrat
Retained eamings
Other comprehensive incomel

Cumulalive unre_alized valuation gain on equrty securities
desrgnated as FVOCI

Revaluation surplus

otal

Lirbililirs
4

4.04t.878
127.034
J 1,416

10,124,487

5,525,046
97.605
24,45t

t3,451,529
II

1,481.t68

t29.429)
(6,965)

3,327,042

370/o

-23%
-22%
33%

2,655,701
t0,140,079
40.343,598

23,432,497

75,850

2,655,707
t0.739,040
32,t72,445

23,s74,599
72,680

,.0:,
8.t7t.l5l

(t 42,t02)
3,170

00/o

00/o

250/.

:arenrSorpany's 
shares held by a subsidrary

Losl 0l trersltu chq/a"

Totar assets of rhe crou, increased. by ?12,752.0 mirion or rg%, from p70,g63.0 mirion as of.December 3 r. 20 t6 ro F8j,6 t s.0 mitriori as 
"i'o"..rt"i':1,] z"tjr ,.

l60% Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents



On.February lS, 2017, ALpHA enrered inro an OLSA wirtm^illiorr to refinance tt,..*itiing lorr. ruo io"n*,#;]'.'1, ?P' for a .loan laciliry of p5,500.0

of ttre croup The loan tras a ierm "i;.;;;;;;;:;;bi;'/-"1:-o 
workinscapiturrequiremenrs

commencing one vear urt., i,iriur d,u*J'-. i.i..ilyriil;il,ilffIln i;ffiff';l:x#,[T6'726'0.m,rion in rast quarter^of 2017. oin rrr"rr'a.[r'i, 20r7, AL.HA made its drawdownsamountrng to p6'296'0 mi[ion-. Despite 
"r 

ur. aru*Jo*r, ,ua", .urt and cash equivarents decreasedhom p256'r mi'ion to p2r5.6 mirion Jr;r;;;fi;,"or,tuy, to supporr the comprerion of
f#l3gXi Sf;ffi[i'.L11i:,lJ,1f ri;;.;; ; ;,,',J'i,*,,," i,,".",.,"'1"" *i","r"Jy"]*, 

",0
5901 Increase in Trade and Other Receivables
Increase from pr,zs4.5 miIion to p1,993.5 milrion is due to recognition of receivabres from sare ofBaguio log cabins and Batesin private-viilas ii'i;;;.'" "* - '

27% Decrease in Land and Development and parking lors for saleDecrease from p5,436.0 rni ion io p3,g4Z.4 r;iiil.-ir,",l ]Corporare ro*.' rionirunj 
",,a 

a*"L.pr"* 
".;;;;;';"';r;;*ffffil[:JnJ::lrfil:,iJX["ll,lffi ,ffi ilIru;:ti ffi"[;:ilf,1t l*ffi#;; ;;; "Jle, 

i o ioe .u b in,, a 
"i., 

i,' ii,i 
""i"' 

v i r r ^
1696 Decrease in Other currenr assets
Under the ord .LSA, ASTI, ABTRC, AMpr and ABMLHI (corectively the Borrowers) were requiredto maintain a Debr Service R"r"ru. e..orni io.. ,r,,. r*-ty^ 

"i 
rrrerest and/or principar repayments rothe lenders. The ord oLSA *o. pr.t"*inri.a;;#J#rough BDo during the first quarter ot.20l7 ln August 20r7' AL'HA requested to BDo the *uir.i orthe Debt Service Reserve Accounrand Debt Service payrnent Accourt rnair)rairing uutu,,". ,.q;;;r.ments lor a period of, one year liornrhe i'iriar borrowing date BDo assenred_ ro ir,,. ,"lr"rii"ii.rr read ro the posrponemenr ot.themaintaining balance requjrements until the n^, qr*"J"iv""r'lo r t.

I5% Increase in Advances to Related parties
Increase in advances to related parties is attributable to funoperations. ParLrEs rs anrlDutable to funding made to Clubs to support its

4694 Decrease in lnve.rtments in and Advances lo AssociatesThe decrease in rhis account was broughr ;il;;;;i;;iA's additionat common share subscriprronin ASAr increasing ALpH{'5 0wnershi-p to go"/". xs^ 
'ha; 

fecome elpHn,s subsidiary in 20 r i.
49ok lncrease in Investment properties
This account represents both completed properties and properties under construction held to earnrentals or for capitar appreciation, or. boih. increase rroi"{ii,zgl.l mirion to F40,664. r milrionrepresents fair value appreciation of sitang rrd A t;;;1.;;6orioiu," ro*.r.
23ok lncrease in property and Eguipment
lne movemenr of this account pertains to the newry acquired aircraft of Arpharand AviationPampanga, lnc. on February 2017 ror rts commercial operations.



Total liabilities of the CrouD a
zotl aniidri,;;;-;iri amounted to F23'lgg million and Pl8'451.3 million as of December3r,

I t% Increase.in rrod, or) othu royrbks
Increase is primariry due to increased trade payabres pertaining to construction project of ArpharandBaguio Mountain Log Homes, Inc. and inciease ir-,i.pii,r'**ived by ABIRC irom sare lf gord

84,104 lncrease in Advancesfrom Related parties
r ne l)crease is primarily due to the advances received by AMpl frorn a related par.ty.

807%o Increase in Income Tax payable

I[rffffi:tJ:rlrimarilv due to the computed income tax due of ABMLHI retated to the sate ot

l9% lncrease in Longterm Debt - net of cteferred financinp costsThe increase penainito loan drawdowrrs 
"i 

a upile. ea iini"oo rt to, ,.u,. 20 r 7 ;n rorar amounr ofP6,68i.2 mi,ion. rhe toan d.u*do*.,r_*.r.;;;;;;itilif;i;yflir:ip1r 
toun ,"puyr"nt, of.AAr,AAPI, ASTI, AMpt, ABMLHI and ABIRC in totat amount of F5,072.I million.

l40l 
.lncrease in Customers Deposits

'l 
he rncrease is attributable to the security deposits received by ASTI from its new tenants in 201 7.

330/o.lncrease in Deferred tax liabilities
Ihe 

'rcrease 
is a(ributabre to the recognition ofdererred tax riabiriry on lhe gair: on fair varue change

;li:?H::" 
corporate rower' Sourhiate r"*.,,,,o'ir".ii"rir1'ng, eug,io, parnanungan and Baresin

Totar equiry of the Grouo iumoed..p.) r 50/o or by Fg,003.5 milion, from ?52,4r r .7 mirion as orDecember 31, 2016 to eOti,+f S.i mif t;o, u, of O##;i,;i;
l9o-Decrease in Unrealized Gains on AFS Financiol Assels

;:'rJ:'fi:::'t?;J"rijff:tbv the realization orthe gain on sare orAFS financialassers rerared ro

2 5oZ.lncrease in Retained Earnings
The increase is brought about by ihe net income ofthe Group during the current period.



Cash and cash equtvalenh
Trade and other receivables

fiHil1:,,:1:il:ff:sarii:ld 
parkinc rors r"0r sare

"o:ll":::::l::: derisnared. as-fair value rhroush orher

P256,146

t,254,52t
5,436,0t5
2,4 t2.142

F453,724

793,395
4.533,0t7
1.994.185

985,8 t I

(F19i,578) .440/0

46t,126 s8%
902,998 21o/o
4t8.557 2t%comprehensive income IFVOCti Ifo;r

uvafl aDte-roFsate (AFS) iinanciai aisersl
rornterly classified as

r\0ncurtent A$sets
lnveshnent inand advances to an associate&l,l"T:::::: g::lCl",i,r *!6dirii",,.ry.r*.iri"o o,Afs financjal asseis) - n., oi"riJ.,'ffijr'
lnvestmenl propenies
Propeny and equipntent

111
0%

assels

20/o

56%
650/o

-15%

22,669

29,27 t,4 t I
27,297,299

1,492.815

21,r08

28,684,133
11.544,3|

904.420
359.472

(43e)

587.278
9,752,988

s88,415

!g-{5iqa_4--- rq8'ii

Currenr t,iabitilics
Tr.de and othcr payables
Lurrcnt portion of

Long-tenn debt
Cuslomers' deposits

AdvaDces lrorn related companies
lncome tal nrv2ht.

Tolal

Liabiliries

t,480,479
22,932
8.691
.1

4,04t,878
127,034
3 t,416

I0,t24,487

t8.45t,258

2,655,707
r0,739,040
32,tT2,445

23,514,59
72,680

F2,519,53?

52,407,13)

F1,435,1 r I

r,592,525
56.557
2-856

Ft,084,426

(t t2.046)
(33.625)

5.837

56t,452
59,6t 5

8.840
l. l]9,59t

760/o

-590/o

204%
0%

t6%
88%
39%
450/a

Long-tenn debt - neiolcurrent Donion
Uustomers'deposits - net ofcurrenl Dortion
Keuremenl Iiabilirv
Net deferred tax lr;bilrtres

9 t .939

2,6s5.707
10,739,040
25,095,300

23,0t9,669

3,480,426
67,419
22,576

6,984,896

t,2t4

4.716.953

7,077,145

Other noncurrent liabilities

Torat t_iabilities

Accumulaled remeasurentenl on reliremcnt I

Parenl^Con]pany's shares held by a subsrdiarv
Lost ot lreasury shares

.2i7,311

t6.8t7.972 16,8t 7,912
t2,2t4

EquityAttributable to Equiry Hotders of the psrrrt
LOmps0y

Capitalsrock
Addilional pard-in caDrtet
Rclained eamings
Other comprehensive income:

Cum-ulative unrealized valuation tain on equiiy securitiesoesrgnsted as FVOC,
Revaluation surplus

00/o

0%
28%

0%
-6%

554.930
72.680

t.145

1r

14,721

l4

Total assets.of the Croup increased by p12,409.g millionDecember 3 t, 20 r5 to p7d,863.0 milioi as 
"io"""iilr,:"r,j

44oZ Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents

or zlyo,
2016.

from F58,453.2 million as of



Decrease lrorn F453.7 million to p256. I million was ca

ffilffi:'i.:ffill iiffi"",ffior"ii'"0 
''xliii3"'#1,':i;'i1ro'rff,":' 

;:j';J';i'Xii:'[-Jl;

58% Increae in Trade and Other Receiyables
Increase from F793'4 million to P1,254.5 million is due to increase in receivabre from condominiumunit sates of AMpr rowers r 

""d 
2 b;;,";;i;;;;;;#;";r';..centage of comptetion.

2096 Increase in Land and Development and parking lots for salelncrease from p4,533 0 mirion io F5,436.0 ,iiirir"ir'0, 
"..ount 

of substantiar progress in the
il::H:l,iruf";S$:ij::," to*.' i oi irpiui"o'i'.i.,r pr*. p.:*"*i'o,lili,'ii'r.*,,"

2l0l lncrease in Advances to Relared parties

.,frm: 
advances to related parties is attributabre ro funding made to crubs to support its

5696 Increase in Investment ptopelties
This account represents both compJeted properties and properties under construction held to earnrenrars orfor capitar appreciation, or boti. Increaserr",i eii,i++.: miIionto p27,297.3 m,rion
;T::::T#[]:lue 

appreciation orsoutr,gut. io*;;;;i M;il, Sirang, Baguio. parnanunsan and

The significant increase is attributabre to the increase in gain on fair varue changes of southgateTower and Ma', Sirane. Baouiq' p2166nung., urJ i"L.i;'p?lierti"s. rr,. increase was srighrry orfsetbv rhe decrease in inteiisr 
"io"r*, .ro 

"ifr., 
nr.#i"; ;il"J. due to the decrease in roni-teim oebt

f fffi 3i,""1rT'"?.':; JJ;,'$',ifJ;ffi*.',';ffi l."liL 
"r 

o.r ,,,,i.r,i ,,,.,, Ji.'ii ,o*".

56ok lncrease in property and Equipnent
l he movement or this accounr penains to trre rrew-ry acquired aircraff o[ AAr on January 20 r 6 for itscommerciar operations. The increase was arso affected'uy ear,. adoption or the revaiuation moderfor the subsequent measuremenr 

"r 
io 

"i..r"I r.a".;;;;ri#i", equipmenr.

]ljifl';TlXBii,'L:$::f.,f*"ted to Fr8,45r.3 minion and p13,734.3 mirion as or December

43%o lncrease in Trade and Other payables

ff;;?* 'r 
primariry due to increasei t.aJe and accrued payabres pertaining to construcrion project of

I l%o lncrease in Longterm Debr _ net ofdeferred financing cosrsThe increase pertaini ro roan drawdowns or esit, ec, 'eai'una ,q,MLHr for year 20 r 6 in toraramount ofp2'r57 g mi'ion These. roan a**ao*.r *.ri'g*iur"ry on., by principar roan repavmenrsolASrt. AMpt. AAt and ABrRC i, .oirr"rr,'"iii,iiii'ilii,,"r.
2 I 04.lncrea.se in Cuslomers Deposits
I he lncrease is anribulable to the security deposits received by ASTI from its new tenants in 2016.



4504.Increase in De/erred tax tiabilities
l he rncrease is attributabre to the recognition ofdefened tax liability on the gain on fair varue changeof southgate Tower and Mall, Sil.ng, Bd;l;,;.ffirr", ,r'Jratesin properties,

Total eguiry ofrhe Grouo,rTl.d..ly 17% orby F7,692.6 rnillion, lrom p44.7t8,9 miltion as ofDecember 3 r . 20 ts ro psz',ir 
r .i militn * "rb#ru.r. :l,"2d, u.

{:^,::r".o:, in Unrealized Gains on Af S Financiol Assetsrne srgnrtrcanr increase is broughtabout by the increaseln fair market varue ofthe ABICI tranche 2preferred shares thar ur..r.r"niiy fo. .ur" ir ;il'i;;.#i"#' ,u,r,o. The revaruation adjustmenr is
!i,ilr""r 

of higher do'ar to peso exchange *" ., 
"i o...rber ,, 20r6 versus December 3 r,

I00oi lncrease in Revaluation Surplus
The revaruation surprus recosniTs d ilyear20r6 is due to AAI's adoption of the revaruation moder forthe subsequent ,.uiu."r.ntif its aircrafr ,rd.; ;;;;;;n 

"qr;pr"nr.
28% 

.lncrease in Retained Earnings
The increase is brought about by ihe net income ofthe Group during the current period.



Commitments
a. Corporate Guaranty

AMpt, a wholty owned. sufli!lry tJ,'q".rgl, ASTI, entered inro a Joint Venrure Asreemenrwith BSp to deverop the Arprrararrd rtlr'tr, i prr*'pr":ecr. pursuant to trre Joint VenrureAgreemenr, ALpHA has issuecl,, .orporate !rar.r,y'i, f.*,. 
"i riip. *i.r..ur."i.,,,r,1'i*r,AMpr is unabie ro comprete the project 6;, ,;;; amributabre to the raurt of AMpr),ALPFIA shail pay BSp the.amount ofi6oo.b mirion-in exchange for BSp,s r5% share in thesharing scheme as defined in the Joint Veniuie;;;;;;;

b. ConstructionContracts
The Group entered into various construction contracts for the deveropment of its proiects.Totar advances to contractors amourted to esoo z .iiri", and F74g.5 mirion as at Decelnber3 I , 201 8 and 20 t 7, respectively

The significant construction contracts thar gave rise to the advances are as fo|ows:

Su bs id

AMPI

ABMLHI

2018 20t7

P280,92s P t92,412

151,716 204,812

Civil. slructural, masorfi *orks
attd supply and installarion of marerials

Nature

forAlphaland Makati place
Supply of labor, materials, equipmenI
and all related construction *oik, fo,
Alphaland Baguio Mountain Lodges

project

Retention Payable

Retention payable is based upon specifically identified construction contracts rhat stipulate the right ofthe Croup to rerain a portion of tire. progress billings oil"ru"tr"^. D"p";;l;;;;h; ,"rr, 
,1, 

,rr.contracr, alr rerention payabre shafl be rereased ,o 
"]on,ru.,oir 

upon to0z" compietior';;j;;;;p,"r".of works norma,y within one y^ear after .orpr.tio;.' i;i;; iJ,.n,ion payabre amounred to F409.0miltion and F407.5 miilion as at-December 3l,loia-;rd i6iz, r.rp".tir"fy.

Significant contract with retention crause arises from the civir, structurar and masonry works forTowers I to 3 and the construction orthe podium. iri"r r"i.r,i". p"v;il.""il:'d iliTro,as at December 3r, 20rg and 2017 rerated to srch contract amounted to p32g.0 mirion, andP35l .4 million, respectively.

Contineencies

while cases were filed between the c1o1n a1d wG, the agreernent signed by the major shareholdersof the ALPHA incrudes the transfer of the crour'.' ,;;;;;',r'aucc and the settrement of the saiddisputes with the WG.

DeJiciencv vAT Assessment for ASTI and AMpl.The Bureau of Internar Revenue (BIR) issued a FinalDecision.on Disputed Asses"sment (FDDA) ro ASTI 
"r; ;Mpi on June 20, 2016 covering rhe taxabteyear 2014 amounting to F30.e milio;. AS, .;, AMpr"fii;-il;i,-;;;;;;;,,il.","#l 

",reconsideration, which were subsequently denied by ihe sl[. esrr and AMpl elevated the cases tothe Court of Tax Appeals (CTA). The decision ir rtiil p"raing *itfl the CTA.



O:h.e: Legql Cares. There are c

Ij],il H'ffi ;lkinlxi J:1H:,:11 :f lT:.[i:'":r"*::,- pa*ies aga in s,,he c roup

orsposrrion of rhese cases, o,r"J1lll: 
r'i tr't .p'ri", 

'rr",[ 
:] "t:' neSotiation' the outcome ol

n ranciarposirion ;;;:i;l;,1i;lJ:;,,:iX;;';'.,[i#.,;';iiJ:"lo;:,ff1ffi[.,:: Ji;.i:,;,il:



Below are the comparative key performance indicators ofthe Group:

Comparative Key performance lndicator.s

(a) I olat comprehensive in.o*iliiri-frGuG

)l-..llllt h]{." of the parent cornpany

2018 2017 2016

(in thousands)
(b) Weighted average number ofshares

P8,7 26,79 t F8,054,768 ?7,102,610
outstanding beforg the effect ofstock

Basicidilured ea6i 72,964,289 '7 4,37 4,956share (a,/b

(a) Toral equity (in rhousands)
(b) Total num-ber ofshares ouisranding ar end

P6.J98 F6.l28 P6.04 4

P70,070, r l8 P60,4 r5,5 l4 ?52,41I ,740ffi .t57 39 I
P48.0u l

038
P47 .539 F4l . 140

(a) Totat long-term debt (in thousands)
To(al in thousands

P6,I 98.9J I ?6,596.620 F5.522.357
l -18Debt ratio (a/b 60,4 t5,5 I4 52,41I,74t

P0.088 F0. r09 P0. 105

P8,126.79t P8,054,768 ?7,702,670
56,413,627 21

P0. l3.l P0. 143 F0. r59

(a) Total comprehensive income attributable
to equity holders ofthe parent Company
(in thousands)

No material off-balance sheet tr
Group with unconsolidared 

"rri:lTTli"ltt 
alranqements, obligations, and other relationships oftherres were created during the year.

As of December 3 l, 20 r g, except for what has been noted in the preceding, there were no materiarevents or uncertainties known to management that hro . ,.trriur impact on past performance, or thatwould have a materiat impact on tr," rrirr. of.r;il;;ffi# of the foilowins:

' lf;#"tJ:;,:t*"fi1'0" commitments, events or uncerrainties that wourd have a material
o Material commitments for capital expenditures thatmateriar impactonm.brorp,rshort-rermortong-rermlliiiji{1"r"0,, expeded ro have a

r Known trends, events or unoertainties that have i'uJ 
"r,r,", 

are reasonabry expected to have a

[Xl';ilrjl**o'e 
or unlavorable i,rp;.i 

-;; 
rli "ruLv,.u"nu.s/income 

ri"r-."r,i.rirg
' il:Ift::: 

€lernents of income or loss that did nor arise from rhe croup,s resutts oto r\4ateriar changes in the financiar statements of the Group for the year ended December 3 r,

Plan of Operation

The croup generates runds nrimariry from sare or condominium unils and parking spaces arAlphatand Makari prace. rnc. sare ordrguio r\a;unrui; ffi;;:';ro Baresin privare Viras; rrom marland leasing operations olAlphaland sd;s;;;r";;: ;l;ffia Makari ptace MaI and Corporare
;,T';; ili,ff[;,o!i1fHi;"'::,:'a "'"ia'n'"i 'ig'r'.iipi'. ^s,r,., 

,r,u, *,,,.*nJ"i#iI* ,n.
lorrh.crouf. 

Jvsr!v'u rtrcreasrnsoperationsandTheAlphaSuitesprovider;.;.;;;;;;'fr"*,

Return on



The croup arso generates rurrds trrrougrr secordary sare of rnembership shares of rrre compreted Crubpro.lecrs' nanrery. Arprraland Baresi, Isiarrcr crru.iiir,#i,y L,rub at Arphararrd Makari piace.Early in the ycar 20:r1. Banco De O. U,,;L.ri,'ir". ,eilj1p=5.5 birrion roan faciiiw rnr erpharand, whic;'; ;;#;,ll;]i'iJffiJ-;:,iTl;:%ffii 
Iffi',I:.j",li:.#*,',1'r:#l*;Iljl;-yl,*","Tllcapitar requirements rhis ,oan was

t'.:li'J:ilff":iH:J,*1j,,,:,?; l?,.,,l',llf )i,1;\jf:131q ,oan ,o ,he pBCoM rrusr a d
cornperrrron Commission. Arpharand s",,,,e,,. i"*.r,;;, i:ii'*::Til'i:rl"i:"[ B:i:l;i:
ii:-",ili;!"[,*il3 l?flffiHfiiTi"T"'ili;i'l]illi.,,h r,aun,g.,.ni c."io ,".-, w,,r.
eliminate about PhFi L';rrioo 

'n 
debt service' which will ,,'11-'^o'jlgutt' 'ne 

Group will be able to
Croup's financial performance lor 2019 and Leyoil. 

' " ' 'rdve a dramatic positive impact on the

il::tliif']f,iii:::,H:?':ii,,fiT:;,; liTl:J.1,fl1".1,,.y:,opmen, 
or au,hen,ic ,og hornes

proper corrrinued 
'o 

p.!."rr. ,,"rJ*;ir-t. nr."a.r,g;::#li:rl;lfii:fl:#?ffX:l:
| 1#i',.,lll [i l::,::"tt] IJfi *:; m l* ; ;m jle. 

p i *; ri,eu J," 
",.i, i,,r' ii I .,, i *2l single-family homes. has' rr"."-."-^i^;'-r' ';J^ "l'u"l unrts and clubhouse, along with rhe first

bedrooms, which consis( r..J-':: ^:-;lii.i"i'ir,."ffiil,::'lfflr:Hlii'iil"# llln'n,o ,
,r,. p,r.. "iii.li,,er;'iil;rIJ,:,,,J][l::::ffi:::1];ffj.l"ffi 1],j(:ffi,";ab'out harf

The rnosr significant oroiccr 1121 bror\e ground in December.20rg is the Arpharand BaresinInre'rariojrar careway on 
"patnanu.ngan 

rsrarrd in eu.zon.- i'ipnrrand has acquired more lhan 700heclares of rand in patnanunsrn tsluia ro, tte prrplr. 
"i 

orrllirg a fu, intemationar airport iacirirywhich wiil accommodare eve-n Boeing z+zr. wiit'[. .#r'iiri],*, of Baresin careway InternarionalAirport' intemationar members and g-uests *irr l.'.ur."aiypiss the congestion or NAIA in Maniraand fly directly ro Batesin from Tok'yo, *;;I, iffi; Joffirg, erngt ok, Singapore. Jakarta andSydney, all ciries rhar will be the target of nlphalaJd,; ;;;;:;r;Istand Crub in 20r7 Arons w;ii, tr,..irun r", ilii-i,,.,,*,;ti;";ff"lilIf#:::Tilf:Tilt,X.il:hole championslip gotf c-ourse and a J0o-room ;;i;i";;';;ihomes.The.rtir"'prE;".riitt ,ll":,o;;;;;;#;,;os wetl as 500 beachlront and gotrcourse

A project rhat the GrouD raunched in october 20rg is Top ofthe Arph4 a rop-of-rhe_rine chic nightspot thar occupies the eniire penthouse floor oi,i.'o pirr.la"blrporate center.

ll;rlo|."r'f,fi.tflflr?J 
20ie because it has made rundamentalrv sound financiar and operaring

Item 7. Financial Statements

;[:::'J:'io?ffiiJfi#"lT;:. orthe Group as orand ror the vear ended December 3r, 20r8 are

Itern 8. Changes in and
Disclosu re

Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial

In 2018' the Company engaged Reyes Tacandong & co. as its externar audiror for the year. Therewere no changes in or disagreements with accointar;. 
";u;;practices, fi,anciar statemenioir.rorr'"., ;;ilil;;;;. ;;;',"L:::[ilirTil:]::i.li:fifiTJ



Duly authorized represental ives
where they *irl,,;;il';;il;"rllR:f: racandong & co are enity to respona to;;;;#;,?,?;'j::t * present at the meering



9, Directors and Executive Olficers ofthe Issuer
(l) Board ofDir€ctors and Executive Officers

If#fi:Hi5ff:ff l;"il: jxTJ;ff .""fffi' jf :"fi iJilf 
, as o r M arch 3 t, 2 o t s,an d th e i r

"] . :.,.,9.1 During Whio-iithi' I(, hcrru-V. { )I j ...-..-....--

I)

l

82 chat;;;nh*;*
Board, Chief

u1',i'N,".:.T:" 
I

hre q6",,-.1 ^^.
as Diriioi
November

==::r::.,=!!nunarrman& CEO:
I, 2009 to present

A o nl-^^I
uerrtfla Ungpln

Eric O. Ricto
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Director

rr ufrEllur; tvtarcn ,9,2014 to
present

As President: 3 I May 2016 to
55 v tce Uhairman and
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-- r-4g?8Zors
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_._ . June 20, 20lg57 Director

72 Director

Director
Director
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ffi
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As Director;
As Direcrol
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Director
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r'i n-:--=-;-------
59 rndependent

- Director
lndependent

Director
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Director
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Ieodoro. Jr.H

54

_*_:=""__--- IEvburru t. yLl

(-,

59 lndependent
Directorv, vEUr ru tvla. LJ. Afaneta

il;L=-.;----=r!-
l0 l d(pfltdunt
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60 Uhtet Operation
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smffiffi
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Corporate Secretary
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'' " -il;,"11 
;.', ; ;:T,l ;"1,?l?...'As Assrstant Corporate Secrelary:

May 20 l6 to present

Margarito B-ii



Narnes qf Directors and Executive Officels

The following are the names. aqes,,citizensh ips and periods of service of the incumbent directors (aswell as that of the new nomiriees) ura .*..rtir. Jiii".^ "ri''. Company, rogerher with a briefdescription oftheir business er,p.ri.r". Jrrirfirr. p.ri ir"Jisf rl.rs

ROBERTO V. ONGPIN. Chair.man of the Board and Chief Executive OlficerMr' ongpin. Firipino, g2 vears ord. *"i .r..,.0 oi*"liun7c"nu,rn, oijthe Board on November r l,2009. He is atso the Chaiiman of atot_aig wea"g. L#Orir),1., 
f 
AB) and Atphatarrd Batesin tstandClub. tnc., and former. Director.of Su,, nitgr"i";."p;rliri', Sral..roL Hotdings, tnc. (pAL) andPerron Corporarion (pcoR). r, g",u x",,il m ;r# N;:E-"curive Direcror or shangii-La Asiaatrd was the Depury Chairn:an of tt,.-sourtibi, i,r, i,l"rrirg ij"r, both listed in rhe Hong [one SrockExchange He was arso a Non-E,.ecurive r;,i..tr'Ji'i"i# Energy pLC lUnired Klngdori.l, Mr.ongpin graduated cum raude in.Business narinirirurion rrlm rhe Ateneo de Manira ur;i",.iry, i, uCerrified pubtic Accounrant, ura hu. un tas;;;;;;il;;;;;r,ress Schooi.

ANNA BETTINA ONGPIN, presidenr
Ms Ongpin' Firipino, 54 u"orr .ori: was erecred Direcror of the Company on I9 March 2014 a^derecled as Vice-chairnan on l^l Mar zoro ir"l.'ri."'ti. v;".-ctuirran of Arpharand BaresinIsland crub, Inc, and the vice Chairmari ana pr.rri.,rl'"i ii. city crub at Arpharand Makati prace,lnc. Ms. Ongpin has more than twenfy years of 

"or,rur;"ui;ois, marketing, project management, and
ixifil.:;Tj:ffi?:#'$:ilJji:i'e',i:#';'r'i;;",l';;lr''n'ra' st li,iijl;;;;;r";i;;.*,."

I.RI! O. RECTO, Vice Chairman and Director
Mr' Recto' Filipino' 55 vears old. i, u[o pi=r.ntly the vice-chairman and president ol Atok.Bigwedge Co. Inc. He is arso rhe Crrairman .,ic cio'"iiirr,o'L'orruni.ur ion. corporatio. (rsM); theChairman of phirippine Bank of Commu. i.r,i"^i pac],', il'"rr., of rhe Boa.d or Supervisors or.Acenric cnrbHr arrd a Dire*or of p^etron .il;;;,i;r"(pca*1) ,r. *.",o has a degree in Industriar
3:fl:iiillt j|:t .the 

universitv 
"t 'r'' 

n iri[ii,.;;J'fi';; an MBA r.", ,r,.i"i,,"."sir,""r,

LORENZO V. TAN, Vice Chairman and Director
Mr' Tan, Filipino' 57 vears ord. 

_was 
erected vice chairman and Director on June 20, 20 r g. He is arsoa director ol Atok-Big wedee Company, r,'. u. i, ,'ir"r;rit uunL"," who served as lhe presidenland chief Execurive officer-of Rizai c6.'r.."irr ilf,;; i;;.rr,ion rrom 2007 to 2016; presidenrof the Bankers Association or trre enififpine; i#;0i;;"";[t6; and Chairman of the philippineDealing Sysrem Hordings Corp. until epi'ir t, zo r o. rr,Ir runlrl r.ru", of rhe Board or Directors ofSmarr Communicarions. Inc,: in lndependeni oir*r, ,ipr,lilrpin. n.riry rrJu"o,,ir*r 6r*L,,",,(RLT) since Juty t3,20r6r, atr..tti oi-air"Cffiaitn'i,iH) srnce June 16,2017.Mr. Tan is acertified pubric Accounrant in pennsyrvania, Llse iro i, iirJ ir-,itippin... Mr. Tan graduared from DeLa Salle University, with a Bacheror 
"r 

s";.r..'o.gr". i,,"o.Lrr,;r* and commerce and hords a

YfiiT.l,lJ:lffiiJ":;0.e*' from the r l x'rr"e"cll,.,.ichoor-of Ha,,,g.,.,ir,"i#,..,.

DENNIS A, tJy, Director
Mr' Uy' Filipino, 45 years ord. was e_rected Director on June 20, 20 rg. He is also the chairman andPresident of Udenna cor,orarionj^cii.r e-.**. iiii.", u"ra pr.r,a.n, of phoenix perroreumPhilippines' Inc (pNX) since 2002. Cornsrech rr,.gr.ii"r' Ar,iance,_ rnc., Chersea Shippingcorporation' ctobar Svnersv r*a. 

",'0 
oi,r, il;;, ;;;ff;;;;, udenna Deveroprnenr corporarion,Value Leases Inc.. and U-Jenna Foundatio,,. t,,..1 Ctiuir*un"of ZCo Croup, lnc. (2CO), Chelsea

OFDIRECTORS 

-



Logisrics Holdings Corp. (CLC), Oilink Mindanao Distributiprintcrs and solemian p-motior, ,rd i;i;r;";;;: ,J#i_rTffiffiff 
ilif,il::,,i: TiLogisrics, pH Resorts c,o, Hot;;;s;, ;r: d;i;, u'io"il*r,* ,n,,ippines Foundarionl in.. r_re isatso an rndependenr Direcror:, 

^*i rr,il,J i;;ffi. i;: (Apx) and a Direcror of Fiist orientatpackaging' Sef,orira Farrns., Aquamirres pr,irippiii!r, ''g,it*or 
Minerals corporalion and BrucorMirrerals corporatiorr' Mr' Uy.is. trre HororJr!, corii'of Karakhrrun ro rire prririppirres sirce

iilJrT,i #ri;#e.holds 
a ei"h.ro.or's"i.1,..'r#i"r' "B,rin.r. 

Managernenr ar rhe be La Sale

FRANCISCO ED. LIM, Director
A tty Lim' Firipino' 64 vears ord, is.presentry the Senior partner and a member ofthe Executive andSpecial Cornrniuees of ihe Angara- Abello c"r""p.i",,"n.jrlj..gr* Law Offices l.aiCner-aw,
ii,F!'.l i'q:,.,',li1 r.Uffi',ll1;l;; Sj,-i.,I,"J fi:,*ttr;:':.k t-,,i*.'li'. ,i",,
Association orrhe phiriooines lsr,areeurr-j"nel.;i;';;,rilx,]lr:t;fih:lli;.:T[iljT:Judicial Rerorm Iniriative. Inc. and a e.ri"* 

"ri*,. r^ii*i. or c-ro*re Direcr.ors. He is arso amember or rhe American Bar Association,";',ii;il'ii::*.h Foundarion. rnc., Internarionar

ffil:i:?,i:'lii::j'l;!')ij'"',:".v c""in'" ii.;. 
^H, 

principres 
"i e;,r;.,; n",ii,.*,,,g

ou y n q, ;"i ;; i; i,;;"f. 
":?r:.ti!!il J !: il:x i ?;,i l.[ ;:,; *ri*if.,* #liLaw and a professoriar recrrrrer 2n6 ,r," vi".-cr,"ir-orrt".'co,,,,.,.r";ur Law Depanmenr or- thePhilippi'e Judiciar Acadernv. He is a oir".r"r 

""r,."."r"r'iiut;. .orpun;es. arnong wrrich are trreUnion Bank of t'e Philionirres, Errergy Developm.*'i'"r05r.,,"r, The lnsular Life-Assurance co.,Ltd ' and producers Savinss Bank c;'rp"*;;:;; r'.irlilr.",", of private corporations Iike the
illffi',X.'ffi lJ:;: t$l: *;m.g;;il, ;; ."#:L# u", a i, g. I H. r.,, L oi,."" i,,,,,n.

JUAN EDGARDO M. ANGARA, Direclor
Mr' Angara' Firipino' 47 vears.ord, was erected Director on June.20, 20rg. He was erected to theSerate of rhe phirippines in 20r3 were ir. ;;;;d"6ri';;Iio joining the company, rre worked as alrar:^e:-at the Metopoliran Bank and frrrr iorpmy i.','di',.'r,in I9q2. He served as u, uffr.rri.. u,,a ,.,i[.'.;;'l;;';:'r^'.:ytreporterforThe PhitippineStar
the United Nations in N.* v'Jr in rse;. H. -",i.a""J i",:::i.11,:'#.811 liiJff#fi* i:concepcionRcgaraandCruzrACCRA)r.*r'irrir#)rio,iIroor.Hefinishedhisrar.idegree 

arlh'*::ly. "J'ffi,ilJ::,^;::,?i:"-;,,,l*,t*$'r,il N,Iuu.," or ru*;;;;;;# ,i;*^.
MARIO A. ORETA
Mr' orera, Firipino, 72 vears ord, u,^a5.slected Director on November r l, 2009. He served as presidentolrhe Companv from i009 to 2017. He *.r*,i" i:#rr., 

"trn" Ciry Crub at Arpharand MakatiPlace. Inc. He graduated with honors rr#ir.,.'a",.#"il."Munitu University with a desree inBachelor o[ Laws and immediarely. joinea ,r,,. i.* ir, .i iilrro, n.yru, Monteciro and onesiako
Silrj;5;jff.lom 

raw schoor.'d. ;;;,,;;i;;',,,j'*,,"*.J,*,* orrhe Law Firm of ran_iuarco

DENNIS O. VALDES
Mr' vardes' Firipino. 57 vears ord, was erected director of the company.since 20r r. He is presentry
3.i"'li::iHl',lixT:#iIJ *:l ';e".',:1,,.: l*i:1il;i,lr ,"ai*"., 

"rn.,.ii,!'i,)to*;c'ompanies. as a Direcior oiih. n.*rprp.,.. and he was ulro ,r 
r^",111^ 

^* 1tl 
the lnquirer.croup of

printi,g, arrd ink-makin,{ oo.rr,ion.. prior ro thar. " lo"ri r* ,.iir'f;r"ff:r,ill,Jr-_5,t,ffi;ideveloping its businessei in Asia., lle is a ce.r,neo fuli;.'u*l,ir,.r,, graduared magna cum roude inBusiness Administration and Accounrancy rro, ,r'. un;".rrrif ot ttre phirippines and has an MBAdegree from the Keilogg School ot Managlrnerr;,;;;ffi irn iversity.



MARGARITO B, TEVES (Independenr)
Mr' Teves' Firipino. 75 *rr" ord.',*u, erected rndependent Director on August 3 I, 20 r L He is arso anilfff iil:l[:'ii;il*:l:r':r,,;;.8;;';;;#fft,lo*,]lt:,.:,,q,re ciry Crub arerpharand
e*,0 or ea;;,;,, ;il;:i ;#,T:Iy ,,f ff,i#;:jj 1u,,u rarrk, rnc . ai,a-,-uJ,r,., oi tr,.
Landbank_president and CEO, una , U.,nA". ;;;.ffi:: 

secr.erary of rhe Deparrment o[ Finance,
District orNegros orientai) u.-outui,.J u uii#,I;ffi"?ffl.Jtritfl|ffi iTgff[,lrJliilequivarent to a BSC in Business Economicl ir""r, ii. cr'r, ir London corege, and a Master of.errs

friU,fffi ' 
",tff l:';:: *:;1i; T 

"'1; 
iT ti' f#, opm e n, E. o n o-, r, w i r i i,,i f 

",,. *.,Corege, a[d nur.d senio.lqoviser ro rhe china_Asean u.nf.?:g...,, 
D^ocror or La\ s. by wiliams

Visiting Proressor at the cuirin uniu.^iry oie r"l.,|i;;:ilffi:;Tf;|j:" Research-Center and

GX_EGORIO MA. ARANETA \t (lndependent)
Mr' Araneta 

'r, 
Firipino. ,o y.r^''"ra."*ur'"il.t.a lna"p*oenl Director of the Company on J

,'',iiiili",l.'l i;,fi,i1#:;:il*';h:*:1,,^"i-t,-'"j,"1,'l'",,",-, "i ni,ii*ii"il1i",,,".
Island club. I,c. and rhe C;ry ctru r, elor,.ilrj nrri.l, 'i,'.t*t 

('o 
'.lnc. (AB). Atphatand Baresin

i=ii;:^3.^i;:t,?il Tffi 'ai*:;H',.1[;*:..,",#.,ff ffi fi, :i[ffiTff 't -:]I
9::g::,: orili* Hauru!.r"int corporarion. and camina o."l'..9|]ui':nun.9l 

Gregorio Aranera trlc..
untversrty of San Francisco a
Degree in Economics. 

,,a eii'."'i.'ni";,;".lliiHil'"11;; iiI.y;.fiiiiH:lJ:iill:
JOSX RAMON T. VILLARIN, SJ (tndependenr)
Mr' Villarin, Firipino' 59 vears ord, i1pr.'r.,,iiy ii. president of Areneo de Manira Universiry. He isalso the Vice-Chairrnan ofrhe Scientific c;;rr'r,iiryl^.i+-ll of rhe Narionar Resirience cou,ncir. He

illitJ! J :J3i iiIJ5.Ti ff [:;:ln,f 5#ll*# i: r' 
y, *,.,., i in i,, i,,i 

-ir,. 
i *.,

arso a member orrr'" e"u'd ;i.,i""' 
"i,..i",,I p,i;;;;",'J#rl 

"t", 
fi'Jxl Iiililri"yil; Hliill:ff:l),iilltff;llijJl[ir:T:r".v' L'v"r, iJi""l'lii'i]","r, aM Areneo de Naga universiry

r-,,a. ci,,, v.[il"ffii#;l:,i::H:,il.ffi1;flX;'1,,y,,,*',* una g,uauur.E v-,gn, c,,
the Ateneo de Manila Univeriity.

FLORINTINO M. HERf,RRA tII (lndependent)
Mr' Herrera' Filipino' 67 vears old, is prese,,rty it," ro,,naing panner of Herrera Teehankee & cabreraLaw offices He is arso a i irector. of-p'hiripp;;ii ei.rir"r, rrir,fiirrr corr.r.iar Banking Corporationll:'.?,,:t#:liffi:,lxiilt;lgo;[*;h*.',x,.'.".,. ;, ,r,. c",p",,i.'',I*J,lo 

",
G.REGORIO T. YtJ Ttnrtependent)
Mr' Yu' Firipino' 5g vears ord,, is presentry the Chai.nan of Auro Narion croup. rrrc., carsAutomobire corp and American MotorcycreJ, I;.. H.r'rir" the Vice chairman and Dire.to," ofSterling Bank of Asia and the chairman il,,;";;;;ri';il,iii"r ro. Network communications. rnc.Mr. yu is also a direcror of various p.;r"," ir.,lirii".ii',lr"r*_ *n,"n are, pAL uorairg., r...,Phitippine Bank of Communications' 'pr,,r,ppr."'ai.ir.i 

i,lil, ,n,,"rr,r, Managemenr. i-nc, andCArS Asian Cars, rnc. 
"" 

,r, 
3:Il ,.ruJ,:Jeii.i'i",ii,,,,olr.. and Manira Symphony or.chestraand an independent direcror of Ikemrl, lnc. and E-Business Services, lnc.

CILBERTO EDUARDO GERARDO C. TEODORO, JR ,, rtndepenclenrlMr' Teodoro' Firipino' 54 vears ord *rr .r..,.J ria.ir,i.,i,' 5i*.,", i"r rhe company on June 20,20l8 He is arso a Direitor or currru.rg srg.,"il#l;, I99.r to preseni ,ra ln;rifprneceothermar production Co,. Inc flsrn zorz ,i pr"!.r, ri" i. .',ll*r,rv the Chairman and president ofBolam Holdings' [nc, Branko Hordings, r* '.ra'wlpjrni 
loraingr, Inc. He studied raw at rhe



Universiry of the philippines 
and

degree liom Harvard Law School
tlar of New york.

finjshed al.the top of his class. He obrained his Masters of Lawsrn Cambridge, Massachusetts, Unired Srates ,rO Or*i,ti !iJ"

MICHAEL ANGELO PATRTCK,M, ASPERIN. (,hie/ Operaring oficerMr. Aspcrin. Filipino.60 years otd. *rr.t;;;;;;;:i"::ir;'rcornpany 
orr Aprir 2.20, anri as

Lnret uperarins officer,n ,,u II:.2g]!, H; Li;;';;;"Jr.ancr chier Executive officer ot rhe8"'JTll#.?:::::l]:'T.lfl'-?ri". ieariir rri'h.J;.il:il:mafters rbrrhe A,nh.,"..r --^..- -..Cornpanies incruding ,r,,. o"*rtp,",], ,ii;r; ffJlil:,il,,,f,,;?J; :1,j": ror rhe.Arpharand croup or
the aviarion and securiry divisions ;i ;; ;;^:,:'';::l^::i": :,.ro Pf!.r!!1. as wett as ttre operarions oIpresidenr rili;;;",i,.."ili;5"JJ[:,ii#,i["Ji"r,,""#Ts^|-e1a, r,. '","*i',,ii,liivi..Philippine vitirary ecaaemy'in 1ls l. t09 to 2012. I-le graduared from rhe

CRISTINA B. ZAPANTA. 
\easurgr a1{senior Vice presidenrfor FinanceMs Zapanra' Firipino' 55' was appointed rreasu-rer 

"ni' 
v,.."pr"rra.rt for Finance on May 17. 20r6and Senior vice presidenr f.,r Finance 

",,' 
1r,,'"'i,;;'ir: ';;" isrrso the Senior Vice prlsident ror

lil*fi f 'tn,ff,lt".;;l m Ti'ff 
"Hf t 

j$,0 .,, o, r,*. a i pi, r,,i *,,,i'ix 0,,..
more than 30 years solid exoer
a Certified pubric Accountan,.,,"n".,, 

prnance, or*niJr;;;,il,ff,11,ff::l :iliJffil;1":hjij

IlS9,f J._tLpA, C orporate Secre tary
Mr' Arba' Firipino.45 vears ord, is arso rhe corporar.e secretary and cenerar Counser of the companyarrd irs subsidiaries He obrainei.his ertir.rr"o;rlrl"".ili]iio ** degrees rrom rn. ur;J"-rriry orthe Phirippines and was admined . tr,'.p,,iiippr*'e"r';i"ffi prior to joining Arpharand, Mr. Arbawas an Associare ar Romuro vuuuntu gr.nulJnir* i.r"iarir^"ros Angeres, rhereafter, he served as
JffJ.i;ill;:,nJf 

srandard chartered s.,r ;iffi ;iL,p,..id.nt of the phitippine Bank or

JoNAMEL G' IsRAELoRB E, corporare rnformation ofricer-and Assisra^nt corporate se*etaryMs tsraer-orbe' Firipino, 46,v"u* rrd. *.r';;p;;;;"# i.orooru," Inrormation ofrcer of rhe
:,:I',ily, lffi ,yil:i.li.# I 1",,m:11li$n f;61 cJ;;;;;'il;:;;';;;:::;,,,,

Directorshios in Other Reporting Companies

Mr' Roberto V ongpin is arso a director and the chairman of Atok-Big wedge co. Inc, (AB).

Hfff;oifu:;.J: i::;"":,iff:", orrhe ciry crub ar Arphatand Makati ptace. rnc. and a director

Mr. Dennis O. Valdes is also a director and the president ofdirectorof Atok-Br; w";;;;., rnc. (AB). Philweb corporation (wEB) and a

lli;ijli,?;iiili;;..ff"1ff:?l3.d the Chairman of pBC; director and the Chairman and cEo of

3fr"Ifl,li;B:director or Union Bank or the Phirippines, rnc. (UBp) and Energy Deveropmenr



Mr. Herrera is also a director of Rizal Comrnercial Banking Corporation (RCB).

Ui.i,'!ii ;],'i,ilffi il: liLi?fl'oili;, Jl'i;,1 ?i.,, 
.,0 ph 

i l ippine Bank or Commun ications,

Mr' Dennis A Uy is arso a director of phoenix petroreum phirippines. rnc. (pNX), 2co croup, rnc.(2co), pH Resorts GrouD Hntaings, irc. d'Hni, iii'[rl",ll" Logistics Hotdings Corp. ICLC), andan Independenr Director of Apex liii,irg cJrp",iy:i;."('*ir.
Shares olAB' ISM' PBC. uBl,EDg, RCB. pAL. pNX.2Go, cr-c, pHR, ApX arrd r are risred in rrrePhilippirre Srock Exchanse. rn.. sr,ur"r tr ii.'a,i) t"ri at Arpharand Makari prace, rnc. andAtphaland Baresin rsrand brub. rn.. r,;.;';i;; il;l.;;;:, sraremenrs fired with the SEC.

(2) Significant Employees

The cornpany considers its entire manpower cornprement (ncruding that of its subsidiaries) assignificanr emprovees' exoectedro.on,rid,r. io.ii;"tb, ffi: ton.ourr,, goars arrd objectives in rine
illr:T":?Tff:l.s ,nission, ";.r",i,,,J'"il.iff;r,ilj[,] rhe impremenration oi it. core and

(3) Family Retationships

Messrs' Dennis o vardes and Eric o. Recto are nephews of Mr. Robeno v. ongpin. Ms. AnnaBettina ongpin is the daughterof rrrr orgpr,t. nir. o#;:ir:"i Recto, and Messr. Vardes are firsrcousins' other rhan the foresoing, trre pr.sons ,"riiri.i 
",, 

chosen by rrre Cornpany to become.'J[:ff:lff:llj;if"";'are rrot rerared'o.,.h orh.,] ,p ro rhc tourtrr ciril degree either by

(4) Involvement in Certain Legal proceedings

l' Atty zenaida ongkiko-Acorda, as 
.auorney-in-/act of Atty. !,::io^ E. ongkiko and in behatf ofPhilex Mining Corporation ys !.o.be.rro i or;;;,,r,^;1, Sll _9ou No. t t_166. Branch t58,Regionar rriar Court of pos,ig. This irrvorves a 

Tt"ri*,ir.'rui,,, 
fired on beharf of phirex againstRVo arrd orher cornpa'nies b"eneficiary;";.; by'RVb';,,'.onn".,,on wirh secrion 2r.2 or.rrresecuriries Regurarion code and.in oro.i ,o r..ou.i ri."ii,o.t-r*;ng prontr;; *iL-t,'ir.r. ri,.r*,,realized from supposed transactions jnvor"i"j irr-,ir*,r,,*rr. ft,i..'ur. r, ir,rr. air."r..y rl.!. orelated petition for Review.on cenio*ri rr irro 

'p.rlirgi.r*. 
the Supreme court in'G.R. No.2041 66' entitled Roberro v' 

. 
ongpin, et ot. u, )roiioT ,t ar. There are arso t'o petitions tbrcerriorari which are rerated ro tr,i .ur. p.naing ;]il;; a"rn of Appears docketed as cA_G.R.SP No r52806 (entitred Atrv. Zenaida bngkik"o-A;;;;;,;, Aftornev-in-Fact of Any. Mario E.ongkiko, and in beharfor pr,,ir", rt,,;nirg c-"r;;;.;i;;';;l iuag" er,ru M. Rafaro-Lingan, in hercapaciry as presidins Judse of-rhe n.gioluf ri;iiirri, urr,,.,,r I59, pasig City, et al.) and CA_c R Sp No r59604 renrirred n"u.."" 

ir, orgnir. 
"li'i'"u"rrrabre Errna M. Raruro_Lingun.

llf"t 
tuout'* as the presiding Juag" or e*rEi,, rii'#in. n"giorut rriar court of pasig city, er

2. People vs. Roberto V Ongp:n, er ol., S.B.-13_CRM:gl!5 and S.B._ tJ_CR4M-O106,sandiganboyan (Third Divisionl. This case *ur r,r.J .**ri *uo and others in connection witrrtwo toans obtained bv Dertav.enture R.rorr..r, Inl. [di;;h", DBp. The Informarions in bothcases, respectively, for violatiorrs of Secrion : t.f .i n.el No 1ql9 *.r";;;; ;;.;i;,J;;;",y20. rn a Resorution promurgared on it rr,'.y )iir+, ,iiri,rra oiriri, oi,'r,," s"ri[.*r^,granred the Accused's Motions to Quash and"DliMisseo'c.irinut Case Nos. s.e._ i:_cnM-0r05 and s.B.-r3-cRIM-0roo. e reLteJ peirir-'i", rirri* on cerriorari is pending before the



Supreme Court in C.R.
C.bavid,;;ij,.. ",. Nos.2t74t7 and 2t79t4, entirled ,,peopte 

of the phitippines v. Reynatdo

3. ln lhe 
_matter of: Roberto V. Ongpin, Mario A, Oreta. M,No. t4-rI3e.rhis concems d; il;;; "rr"';:: 

{rT:::o 
8.. re.ves,et at.. sEC-EtpD case

Department on the riabiriry_ oi,",ponJ'no"io*di,'jjt:T.{i.,?i" 
T;,rr,j,r.1l'?il, l::Ti,[:

ffilili:;ii 1'Xiir.l,?;*:U,".,,,:::::iyf:f:#:, shares orA,pha,and Corporarion ir a
respondenrs as orfi cers,na n,iru.i, o-i ;h; ;ffi:;X;ilHli ffi::ff:[.d;XlJ;.,
ill:,.i:'#:j,..lf ;]il?l* 'r",'u.''' 

ir',.,g,, ,"i,.J.r,rr*rtorrre SEC En Banc, *iie,e the

t,","ilt i]il.x l*fi ffi : * Jf 3:::] il,ft : fi r g ?.T: ii I #.i# x ;*
' 

[Jnlq:;."f,i]:fiYJHi,iii!Lil'J,?i;"i,',"';u;3Lgr" 
*" t4-3044 rhis concerns rhe

ror aregedry comrnrnine L,^sa* i,:Ji,g *,;;i:ol,:l,,XlfrJili:i 
l.i,Ii,lXi.J,"r);?;rJ#,,1 i,? ff : ;1,:i:#:l"ll.".ml l;*iil ll # m ; #2 

Deccm ber,,d;;di ;1;:'ro. i, g ro

li';:;!i:iflx,,1il:;ru;ln"tJ:ffi [,1.;ixq".j",fil!tFiH:t.];ffi :JTr
*:i:ffi tx.,[:::krtr,:*":t$[3;#it:t j:,;ttff 

}',",i,i,f.fl Eij,,,{decision in flavor of RVo, reversing ,r,. sEC-.ra 
'nraing 

that. RVo did nor commit insiderrrading ElpD lrred a Morion ro. n"""o,,rioerori'orl'*n1",,"*.. derried by rhe coun of Appears on
i^il'.,i ;#,1 3; iJ ;3;i:",ff:,.1; JL{: f ;*i il,.l; 

x t;, * uv *,v'o i u p.,,,i 
",' 

rt "["",. -.
5 People of the Phitippines vs, 

len,ny Ang tllt, John Does and/or^Jane Does _ Regional Trial court-Branch t4. Davao'iiw. criminat cur.iroi. zs, slaiJ..if t+s-r: and 76,0j6_13. on Argrr,27,2013, The Departmenr or.l*ri.. looj;'ni* i*,"]#i,rl Intormarions uero.e rtrJRegionat

ij$,ijiq*tl**nri,yii'1 **,* i:,ii:*u"r,, o"*,r", r,.i,irl,,",
Seciions r80r. rsoz "iii,. Tarirf and cusro,ns .^,r- ^.,i^u0J:,,?rr9 

(txr). (]), (4), and (5).

i:ffi[;f ;*]i:' ;rHxHT :i *::,1:ii:rili-..":t""iil lllx ff;J;':,'##;iH li
inrormarions *.,. nr.a ilr,r,. o6j, p.n.i"i.i,,i [''.lJil",j;;1,.I#:ffi:rl,:il,:i:,,;il,mTCCp These addirionar info^rmarionsa, d;?, ;" il';r;ieo unrawrur imponarion of perroreumproducrs on ocrober 4. 20 r3' the nrc ai'.rirr"i .ii',,,1'i'.,i., t", Iack of probabre .ur... ,grirrt

ff9];l!:,fi ji:ilil sxff"'J:,o;1"#:#j[",:,"Jsideration, ;i,";, ;;;0.,ioii,,,.
Petitiorr lbr i.nior,i *iii ,n. corn of Appeals, *6;;5 *r.nll_l.lple 

o,f the Philippines fired a
20 r 6 on November z. zo r e , ,n-" n*pr. 

"fi,,.'iliiirrr"JJ; ::';',i,:n#?Jl'l'J.31,?l,".LiJ,,j,the Decision dated october rz, zolo. ro au,":ii;'dffi,:i^ppeats has nor acted on rhe Morionfor Reconsiderarion dated Novembe. z, ZOI O _O'ilri, it i iur" ,.ruir. p.raing.

' 'i;!{,:8i-'d fl"(J'^i;:'??,,{!.,&il?,1ff;:{!l:,;,^!,1ita M De L,ma ond,he Bureau or
ply:b, _ Dennis A. uy fii"a, petii;o, ro.i.,riJlri*,,i,,,I',1, Speciai Former Speciar renth
20 r,J jrr connecrio,, to ri.'r.rorrrio, 

"r 
,n. ooj',"'iir;:;:,,;;i:::r" of Appears on Seprember 4,

violations of rhe TCCp. on Juty 25. zoi+. ,r,. t*,i'"i arril i 
tl*t against hirn l-or the alleged

petirion ror ceniorari or Mr., uy,and a".i.ri.e i# i.*ffi[X,:,i,Hir[l ?:H Trr#il:Ji;and Aususr ri,20r3 nurlified and ser aside.";J;;;i;;;;;lheinformarion 
fired against DennisUv wirhdrawn and/or dismissed r", r."t 

"rpr"#ii"'..iiilrn. ,o, and the Bureai orcust.msthereafrer fired a Motion fo. Reconsideratit;:ffi;;il;ied 
by the Court of Appears on iury



23'20r5 subsequentrv' the DoJ and Bureau of customs fired a petition ror Review o, cerliorariwith the Supreme Courr. 
,Th. 

SrFi;.e"r,i"r.rr,r"i',n" parties to file rheir respecriveMenroranda' which the Darries.compried *itr,. o, oll.,ru. r 12,20r6,the Suprenre Court issuedniffi',"jffifli:: l",'fi *m j*,:[rffi ;T: pu'tre' u"moiuia;l;#'ili,,",

fl*il,::l'"illfjiXill*l':":t-r,n) is nor.aware orany orher regarproceedins incruding without

", 
rar 

"i,r,ii'., l#ilfi:,t[il'j',]i?:,"iffi :lllt/tiffi:,,f; ;*l j;tt:::f *';:filing of this statemenr, to which any of irs orr.",t"""rat i-"ciiire ornc"rs is a party and which ismaterial to an evaluation oftheir ability 
", 

i,rlgriry a 
".,""r"rrJi.



Item 10. Executive Compensation

The aggregate compensarion (in:ryd^'1g bonuses) paid or accrued during the rasr rwo years and theil##1'.o the companv's ctriereiecutive 6ir"i, iiecjil.a the key officers named beiow. as

Name and
Principal
Position

Salary
(PhP)

Year Bonus Otlte. Aggregate(PhP) Cornpensation Compensation (php)
CEO and ---?]0i

94.205.596.90
Top 4 Highes 

-
t Paid
Executives
I . Robeno V.
Ongpin,
Chairman &
CEO
2. Anna
Bettina

94.205.s96,90

Ongpin, EVp
3. Michael A.
P. M,
Asperin,
EVP
4. Cristina B.
Zapanta

5. Enrico M.
Sison

All Directors
and Officers
as a Croup
Unnamed

20t7 95.77 t ,596.90
95.771 .596.90

CEO and
Top 4
Highest Paid
Executives
I . Roberto V.
Ongpin,
Chairman &
CEO
2. Anna
Bettina
Ongpin,
President
3. Michael A.
P. M.
Asperin,
EVP
4. Enrico
Sison, SVP
5. Yu,
Christene,

SVP

201 8 r26.3 i 5.086,
t26.3ts.086.i

0



All Directors
and Officers
as a Croup
Unnamed

t27.515.086.2120 t8
t27.s t 5.086.i

CEO and
Top 4

Highest Paid
Executives
l. Roberto V.
Ongpin,
Chairman &
CEO
2. Anna
Bettina
Ongpin,
President
3. Michael A.
P, M.
Asperin,
EVP
4. Enrico
Sison, SVP
5. Mark
Bidd le,

Executive
Chef

2019 t27.400.000.00+
127.400.000.00r

AII DirectorJ--701! t29.800.000.00+
and Officers
as a Croup
Unnamed

* I29.800.000.00

*Estimotrda@

ff.f"J,.r:[:J"fi,:[nfi:l i:lt to,, their compensation and bonus,-are entitted to reimburse

::r:::4ii;;";r d- il;. i, :to:ffi ; -iii: !l :,,:,ii113 ;Xil:. ;' lff Ti ffi j::t tjarrangements with respect to the resignation. termination of employment of such execuiive ofticersbetween the Companv and anv of.its"ex.artir. 
"inl"rr.'r-it ."*ir", tt,.." are no warranls or optionsheld by rtre ('ompany's officeri or director. .i,h;r'rl;;;;;oi,1",,".,r.

The non-executive members of the Board of Directors do not rrthe Company. None or,ii.^.o,l:::lli, l; ;#';:#i,ffiffi:r#Xt::,j"H[: T[
fiIifi,.t19.1ffi"#ffi:Lfo_,:.,u'",., other rhan those frouiaea ;;. Ji,.;;;. *,u,jil, ,0",
ornot *or. ,r,un-iox 

"itr,.l.l']i:]:i'll:l^9 
under the companv's ov'ru*t to tt..ir."u"pl ai.,ncome betore tax ofthe Corporation during the pr...di;;;;;' '

The Comparry is being managecr by the rnanagement team or its who,y-owned subsidiary, ASTI.



ffi "' 
securiry ownership of Certain Record and Beneficiar owners _ as of December 3r.

,,,

Iiffi::: lli,l;l:?::lH::[11"1:]i,iJ;:1;l,;'l;::.r record or, benenciai owners o, more than

Except as stared above, the BOD and Managernenr ol the Company have no knowledge of any person

;j:;i',1i"?:TL:'t:1"1:Jlj ::::1,I1;;li.;r"i,,"".,i, ii'. o.,.nciar owner or more rhan rive

Common Alphaland
Southgate Tower,

Inc.
(formerly
Alphaland

Development, Inc.)

The Penthouse,
A lpha land

Southgate Tower,
2258 Chino Roces
Avenue Extension

corner EDSA,
Makari Ciry

Wholly-owned

Filip ino 13,192,109,780 48.55%

Common RVO Capital
Ventures

Corporation

I 7/F Tower I ,
Enterprise Center,

6766 Ayala
Aven ue. Makati

Ciry

Stockholder

Roberto V. Ongpin
-Beneficial Owner

8,426,567,460 29.66%

Common Boerstar
Corporation

A lpha land
Southgate Tower,
don Chino Roces
Avenue corner

Roberto V. Ongpin
- Beneficial Owner

Filipino I ,677,884,300

percent (5%) of the company,, or,r,unai,,g ,iui.r;il;ir,;;"r'iX";?;ffi::illjI ;:T"i::rnvestmert power with respect to shares coiprising ;;;;;;;"" percenr ot.the outstanding shares

o/ Rccord Otrner
tutd re la t iot t,r h i1.t

()yiner cncl
rt:lu iortshQt ttitlt



ofcommon stock. There are no
are under a ;;rre 

"rlirr 
rir,i,#".?#::'1" more than s%o or the company's common srocks thar

(2) Security Ownership of Management

I[fl."mr":::ffJ,:i],:::."r.:hares or commorr srock owned of record and beneficialy by rhe
December 3 l, 20 I 8: of the Cornpany and the percentag. oi ,hureilaffi 

"i.]lnlr". .,

(3) Votine Trust Holders of 5yo or More

Common Koberto v. ongpin

--_------=__:__'_

_ tnc 0. Recto

Corrmot,
Direct

0 F ilip ino 0%Ind irec r0, 385, 078J)0Lt)rlI]]On
Direct 36.s6%

Common

Common

Anna Bettina On$ii-
--d;oA o""E-_.

10 Filipino 0.00%

Direct
Direct
lnd irect

1,000 Filipino 0.00%

Denn is O. Vaidd

j F ilip ino 0.00%
Common- r 64,000,000

Dilecr 0.62%
Common Michael Angelo Fatrick

M. Asperin

1000 f ilipino 0.00%

Direct
r000 Filipino 0.00%Common

C"rr-

Cliburn Rnttrony a. GUe
Dilect ln F ilip ino 0.00%lvlarganto [] Tevcc Dilect

Common

C"rr-

TOOI} F i lip ino 0.00%\rregono Ma. Araneta III

.lgglEclggrclq M. A ngara

Direct to Filipino 0.00%

Direct

Direct

l0 iFilipino I O.OO'7,Common

Florentino M. Herrera rrr
IA Filipino 0.00%Common I rancrsco Ed Lim Dire0t

Common

Gilberto Eduardo
Celardo C. Teodnra r

IA Filipino 0.00%

[)ircct t/t F i lip ino 0.00%Common- Denn is A. Uy Direct

Direct

t0Common

Jose Ramon T Vittari"

Filipino 0,00%

l0 f ilipino 0.00%Common (':rad^'i^ 'r \7

Common
___:l:EYly r. ru Direct ln Filipino 0.00%Urrstlna B. Zapanta Direct/lnd irect

Diiiri,ldtr..r 0Common Jason .l A lh,
r ilip ino 0.00%

Common l) Iiilininn 0.00%., urrdt lls I LJ. lsrael-ufbe I )irect/lnd irect 0 f ilipino 0.00%

Except as disclosed above. the company has not received from any of the directors or executiveofficers of the company any sratement oi o*n.rrt ip. *i.ir*r'"i *."r0 or beneficiary, of more than)70 ol the Company's oul.standing shares of cornmoi ,,";k. ;;;;
l flll,"ff: fr l i";; ,#:l;_##;H' ;;i i il,' :H; # ffi : [.'J ji,. :H, # :1. ;:::ffi ::



(4) Changes in Controt

,-h:",ur1n9 voting trusl agreements or any orher similar ascontror or the company or"which tr,. co,ipunv,r,u, ffi ;i:Ti::!:,k:Ti:#jiX ,ff,:j,.:?.,;:
L ompany tras occurred since rhe beginrrirrg of iti,la;, ;;;1 ;;,
Item 12. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The company is not aware of any ransaction i, the last two (2) years, or proposed transaction toill'iJl'J:llli:'i:,1J,y#IT[i:iai11"- il0"1];;;"". ii*., o,";it*!.i,,;:;;;t";,"*.,,

l, any director or executive officer
2. any nominee for election as director
3. arry security holder named above
4. any member ofthe immediate farnily ofthe above-named persons

Except as discrosed in the company's notes to financiar statements. contained in the company,saudired fina'ciar sraremenrs. rr'.." hui b..n-,.,o-,;;,;;i;'i;;;#r,.n.ro which rhe company was or is robe a party in which anv of the incumbent ,fir";i;;; ;.;;ril" 0.,r..,o. or executive orficer of rheuompany or owners of more than ten percent o[the corpunvj. uoting shares has or is to have a director indirect mareriar interesr. rn tte oiJinarv;;;;;.;ffiii":s. the Company has rransacrions withother companies in which some of.such perions ,.y ;;;;';;.rest. Such transacrions are negoriated

;l;:.*''' 
length basis comparabte 

"i u.n.rir'r,irr,r;;;l;h""., be provided by independe-nt rhird

The transactions with related oarties/affi liates are carried out under commercial terms and conditions.Pricing for the sales of products_ are marker dri".r. Fo;;;;;h^es and olher services, r'e corfuny,.practrce is to soricit comperitive quores from rr,,i..a prrti"r. i,u"ru.tron, rr# uny;.1;;J;;[r rr.evaruated on arm's rensth commirciat t.r^ una- riru,..i ,o'u,aairg against third party suppriers.Purchases and services ire usuary o*uro.a onli.;;;'il;,;;... cosr provider. The Company arsoreceives/granrs cash advances. arla oqr;r il.il ilpJ from^o affiriared companiei ard
::T*fl','iiJ[T:filr*Jl[::,::"J i,.'" ;i';;;, oJ#i,i.,.o rare based o, c,,",.ni t-anr ,ute,

No director has resigned or declined to stand for re-election to the board of directors since the date ofthe last annual meeting of security holders because oi;;;;;;retaring ro *. c",np"iyt 
"p"rriii,n., 

pori"ir-";;;,;r:""'"'"tent with the Company on any maner

Item 13, Corporate Governance

The Board of Directors and Man
key to ac,ievinl il; t;il;;ilpr:lfi.j;;#ffi:,#:i:i5:[::i:ii.:T[:,il:,i:1il1[:,;:
code on Corporar.e covernanc-e ,""ri . pl"ra.'irr. ffi::,:ffi srrucrure by which the business andallairs of tlte company are directed urd 

',,r,,ug.J, -i'i 
ora.,. a'i,rt ur.. long-rerm shareholder valuethrough rhe enhancernent of corporate perfonnaice aud 
".""r.irllri,y.

compriance with the code of corporate Governance is ensured by the corporate compriance officerrn coordinarion with rhe Chairman and presideni 
"flh;'a;;p.ry. Regurar meetings are made

rv. -coRPonarrcovrnrrraNc;



b_etween Management and the Board of Directors. to review and ,and address key poticy mauen. The Bo,d i; p;;;i;;il;;;'.:"i1:," the co,npany's perrormance

ffiilit H iiffij;T,,1'::t 
acce\s ro ,r,i ,o,i* ..i ,.;,'.'"'9 

cornplere inronnation ror each

company.samairs. ' '- -r'currrstances' seel, i,,d.p",,;;;,;;tillli]l'i'l'rtJl:'l"l[TiifT:

1ll1,l*ll" are required ro submit rhernselves for re_eleclion everv vear rn nn..i.r--^.:^_ r .,

:ltllll,llttotlinnti on com m itte, -il;; ;;ffi;; ffi I]::: :ill]I:: I ::H :;
AII directors are briefed bv Manapeme,,t ^,! rha .^,-^^_...^ ,

,",' 
"rir'" 

C#p*;:l#J#'J,l1t##:;ll"'l:. t"o"r's business operations as wett as a regurar

The audit committee first reviews the company's audited financiars, who then recommends approvalfrom the board of directors before.they ur" ;r"r;nlJ;;rr" ,iili.rrorao. of the company, rt is aiso theaudit commifiee which ensures ira"pJrJ"rJ" 
",,i "u:"",i"irr'Jilr. externat auditors

The company is corrtinua,v seeking measures.or improving its corporate governance to furtherenhance corporate perfo,,,ance and accounrabirify. frr. o'i..",or. and Management have beenencouraged to regurarry attend corporate gnuernarc" serninars and corporate governance consurtantson methods by which it can enhanci itt *ipo*r. i.rr#unJ. aio a..orntuuitity.
No deviation from the Comoanv,
c",;;";;:; il' ""; ;;:Hi;H" #i::li,:.:,;,::?"Jl::T:,";ffi ::ffi l::iii:,*" rn.



Item 14' Exhibits and current Reports under section l7 0fthe seeurities Reguration code
(a) Exhibits

See Accompanying Index to Financial Statements and Supplementary Schedules.

(b) Reports on SEC Form l7_C

3#'.:Jnffii;"riii:Jr'['Jild[;lli,?l'.-'ng materiarevents and changes in the company

9 May 2018

Notice of Annual Stockhorders' Meeting and discrosure of the proposed Agenda and Record Date.
14 May 2018

H::ffijT:rffis;ing 
of Senator Edgardo J. Angara, an rndependent Director of rhe Company since

20 June 2018

Result of the Annual Stockholders, Meeting

- EXHIBITS AND SCIIEilULES



SIGNATURES

. 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section l 7 of the Code and Section r4 r of the corporation

filt;#llii??X,iil'fipflij"itrrorthe 
Issuer bv the undersigned, thereunto aurv auitoi,ea, in

f:' '-/r'(
ANNA Bf,TTINA ONGPIN
President

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me on I , ,, . , .at Makari City, affiants exhibited to
me their Identification Documents/Community Tax Certificate Nos. as lollows

(ao

-toa-Ezon

sth Floor, Th€ City Club at AlDhaland Makati Plaoe
7232 Ayala Ave. Ext cor. Malugay St. Makati City

Roll of Atlomeys f.la. 68034
IBP No. 0666201.10.20',9/ Cagayan

PTR No. 734833201.10.2013, Makati Chy
Admittad lo the Bar in 201 7 / TIN No. 40&29S41d

T!'eohor. r.ln /02) 337-?n3t

PANT,\
fbr Finance

\itnre I.D. Datc & Placed Issued
Anna Bettina Ongpin TrN 440-293-686
Cristina B. Zapanta 'ftN t02- I l6-721
Jason J. Alba TIN 127-577-540

Doc No.
Page No.
Book No
Series of



alphaland
cotPoiATtoN

,SiTAIET'Effi 
OF MAIIAGEME {rS RESPOT{SIBIUTY

FOR COTIgOTIOAIED FItIAilCtA[ SIAIEMENTI,'

It_e-manatement 
o-f Arpherrnd Gorpor.don atd $b6Hhrhs (the Group) is responsibre for thepreparatlon and falr presematlon of the flnanclal statements lncludlng the schedules anacheothercin, for thc yc,rs cnded December 31, 201g, 2017 and 2016, in accordance urith theprescrlbed financial rcporting framework indlcated therein, and for such internal control asmanaternem determines rs necessary to enabre the preparation of financiar statemerts thatare fiee from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

ln preparhg the cOnsolldated financial statements, management is responsible for assessingthe Group's abirity-to contrnue as a goint concem, dbcrosing as appricabh matte* rer"ted totolnt concem apd using the going concem baca of accoilnting unress manatement 
"ith",intends to liquidatc thc Group or to cease opcraflons, or has no realistic afternative but to do50.

The Board of Directorsis responsibie in overseeint the Group,s ffnanciar reportint process.

The Board of Dkectors revrews and approves the financhr statements including the schedules
attached therein, and submits the samc to the stockholderc.

Rcyes Tacandong & co" the indep€ndent audrtor appointed by the stockhoHers, has audlted
the ffnandal statements of the Group in accordance *,ith philrpprne standards on iuoiting. ana
in its report to the stockhorders, has expressed its opinion on ih. f"irn"r, of pr"r"m.tioi-rpir,
completbn of such audit.

;.:n(,,.
Presidcnt and Vice Chairman

Scnior Vbe Presldent - Flnance

Signed this 296 day ofJanuary 2019

9dr noor, AHrhd Sqdlrr Tovrf, Zl!8 Chho Roc..Arcn|I c*. EDSA ttl.d CtSi ftahph- l2!tt+6Jlt372al3l I E+63l33etBI l e hhott hnd-odi+t I rwrH.hd..mph

CRISTINA



SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this
/,aR 2 5 20ls

at Makati City,affiants exhibiting to me therr respective iO"ni,tlriion documents, and personally known tome, follows:

NAME

Roberto V. Ongpin
Anna Bettina Ongpin
Cristina B. Zapanla

ooc. No. '18/
Page No. 7b_
Book No. ,7
Series of 2019

gsrxrYl"tb$I::it"1H5;t'y;:i:,ftffi
l'lIzKl,lj X;!:'il; Miusav.sr' Makati civ

iotioilnomeYs ltr,, oeo-sl

slrl*:t?# iffi3i8i ft?'-xlT*,piil r.iolislss3zot.t o'zotgr

no,'inl$tii#,ii,%i iliiH-*." roszs'ao
'reiep-t$n; No.(oz) 332'zogt

PASSPORT ID NO.

P0300707A
EC2050134
P345'1062A

DATE OF ISSUE PLACE OF ISSUE

September 17,2016 DFA Manila
September 9, 2014 DFA Manila
June 22,2017 DFA NCR East
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t No.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors
Alphaland Corporation

Opinion

I: t* audited the accompanying consolidated financial stalsubsidiaries (the Group), *ii.t, comp,ire ,r'" ..rr"ii"i"a':t".[Jl.n,'Jl]ri:.tliTffilli:r":l
December 31' 2o1g and 2017, and the consoridatJ si""r""i, 

"t -rorehensive income, consoridatedstatements of changes in equity and. consoridated sta;;;ir'"i *rn frows for each of the three years:i[: ?:ff[::f,|i!i,? iX,1] 
ana zoro, ani-not",'i" in"i'",".,., statements, incruding a summary

rn our opinion' the consoridated.financiar statements present fairry, in a, materiar respects, theconsoridated financiar position of the Group ,;; ;;;;;;;;r, zors .na 2017, andirs consoridatedfinancial performance and its consoridalJlfr'il; io, 
"..r, of the three years endedDecember 31, 2018,201,7 and 2016 in accordanc. Jan 0,r,,,00,""'tinanciar Reporting standards (pFRs).

Bosis for Opinion

we conducted our audits in accordance with phirippine standards on Auditing (psA). our responsibiritiesunder those standards are further a"r.rio"u i,iii"'iioii,ii *rrr.nribirities Jor the Audit of theconsoriddted Financior Stoteme.nts s-ection of or, ,"pon.-wu are independent of the Gro;p inaccordance with the code of Ethics for pror"*ior.r eiJorntarits in ttre phirippines (cooe J eilics)together with the ethical requirements that are rerevant to iie auoit of the consoridated financiarstatements in the Philippinet and we have rrrrirr"o 
"r.'"ii,", "thrcar 

responsiuilities in accordance withthese requirements and the code.of Ethics. w" iJi""" ii.iihe audit evioence we have obtained issufficient and appropriate to provide a t.ri, fol. or.ofinion.'"' 
'""

Other lnformdtion

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the informationincruded in the Group's Annuar Report for ttre yea,. enaeJoe."r'u", ,r, 2018, but does not incrude theconsoridated financiar statements.and our aruirorr' ,upon-rt*rJon. rne Annuar Report for the vearended December 31, 2018 is expected to be ,.a" 
"*rruliuio ul lfter the date of this auditors, report.

our opinion on the consoridated financiar statements does not cover the other information and we wi,not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

,ra pol,el. of aqh,! lJ]r!tr{5,tooo
Alrl l iAx ia,rti,atilr. r_r
:?: Toodoic & co rs a hember o, rhe RsM netrcrr E.(h memb€r 6r rh. .<M eL.^- .- _ ,_ RSM
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ln.connection with our audits of the consolidated financial stat,other inrormation identiried above *r,". r, 0".".", ffi;il"ff:f,;iil:::::f]l]li;T",,"# li:other information is materia[v inconrirt"nt *rtr, it 
" 
.-*r"irli", tr.r.,., statements or our knowredgeobtained in the audits or otherwise app"rr, ,o U" r.,i*"r, ,i""r.0.

i::i:;:::!:-t 
oI Monosement ond rhose chorsed with Governonce for the consotidoted Financiat

Management is responsible for the-preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financialstatements in accordance with pFRs, 
-and 

r"r ,rri 
'ri"l".i'.ontror 

,, management determines is

;:H1*::,:;f":^:i:lJ:11,,:fi::r:i:",..", rin"n.lli ,t.t".unts that ire r."" i,o,,,.,".,"r

ln preparing the consoridated financiar statements, management is responsibre for assessing the Group,sabilitv to continue as a goins coicern, 
.discros 

ing, .t;;;;;;il, matters rerated to going concern andusing the going concern basis of accounting unre* ,.rie"r";i 
"ither 

intends to riquidat; the Group orto cease operations, or has no realistic alteinative Uri,"i",".'"
Those charged with governance are responsibre for overseeing the Group,s financiar reporting process.
Auditors' Responsibitities for the Audit oJ the Consoliddted Finonciol Stotements

our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statementsas a whore are free from materiar misst"t"r"nt, *r,"1i1, ar" ,o'rr"u, o. 
"rror, 

and to issue an auditors,report that incrudes our opinion.. Reasonaur" *rrr.n.""l'l high rever of assurance, but is not aSuarantee that an audit conducted in accordance *nr,, oso *,ir.r*.ys detect a materiar misstatementwhen it exists. Misstatements can arise from rruro o, 
"rroi 

.ni-are considered materiar if, individualyor in the aggregate, these courd reasonabry be .*p"*"u io inii*nce the economic decisions of userstaken on the basis of these consolidat"a finrnciaf siaiem;;. 
"""'

fl:i[i,ol1ffJ,fll}ffi"'::li:il::PsA, we exercise proressionarjudgment and maintain proressionar

' ldentify and assess risks of material misstatement of the consoridated financial statements, whetherdue to fraud or error, design and perform aron oa."urr"r ,esponsive to those risks, and obtain
;:l*ffi:y;t"i,".]:l}.j:||,:" appropriate ," oi",,a" .'i"',s ror our opinion. ii" il;"",
nr;5 ;:#i[ ff ::ffi:,,:?:J;:illffi I:"#, :il,:J:,i]:]::,T;tJI*:;:::x;i H,r:";

' 
,1:l':?""il"f#:i:Ti;t:il".rr control rerevant to the audit in order to desisn audit procedures

effectiveness ofthe Group,s ,iJ,Tlliliii;i" 
not ror the purpose or expresrirg." 

"pi,i"" ""ir,"
' Evaruate the appropriateness of accounting poricies used and the reasonabreness of accountingestimates and related disclosures made by minagem"ri. 

- - "
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' Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accountingand' based on the audit evidence obtaineffii"ii"r. ,i.l.r,., uncertainty exists rerated to events;;':::ff#Jl;:fflliil lpllT,:. a",ii 
", ii"'i,."uii aorrity to continue as a soins concern.

report to the rerated discros'::JJic;lril'.'J,",liilil.xi;::ffi'l'::;',:",:'"",1g",,"*;.:ft:lll:
inadequate' to modify our opinion. orr.or,.rrtron, .'r" o"r* o, ,lu 

"udit 
evidence obtai."a ,p a:::,:1f.::1ffi"":l:::;"!:"T;.1";;;ilil J"#""J' conditions may cause the Group to

' 
,ilit]|!:liJ::::i::Jx"#L','J,'^'::':#ifiliilf:,T 

conso,idated rinancia, statements,
underrvins transaction, *i 

"u"nt, 
in a manner that a.,,,,""". rJiiii"r]iL;l::"r'"'" represent the

' obtain sufficient appropriate evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business:"UH[*#,T"";::f# express an opinion on ,n" loniora.,"o rinanciar statemenu. *".r"
responsibre for our ,ran oo,n,jX.o"tision 

and performance of the g,ouf .rln.'-t 
"'r"r",ri"'"*,,

We communicate with those charqeq w]l.h governance regarding, among other matters, the planned;1#.i::,ililiit-'5#,fi;:l,ue'r'""' "i; i'0""',"i,i"0'* 
"',, ,,e,i,.""i'1";:;J::", ,,

REyEs TACANDoNG & Co.

3"4^t I JLu,n, 4
BETINDA B. FERNANDO
Partner
CPA Certificate No. 81207
Tax tdentification No. 102_086-538-OOo
EoAlccreditation No. 4782; Vatid untilAugust 1S, 2021JEL Accredrtation No. 1022-AR-2 Group A

Valid until March 15. 2O2o
BIR Accreditation No. 08_005144_OO4_2O\Z

Valid untitJanuary 13, 2O2O
PTR No.7334334

lssued January 3, 2019, Malati City

tanuary 29,2OLg
Makati City, Metro Manila



ATPHALAND CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

'"1:^i1_?1,1r_?sffi(Amounts in Thousands, Except for Book Value per Share)

December 31
Note 2078 2077

ASSETS

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

ii:!:l!"*ilfi"""',':itssanoparkingrotsrorsare i i;#i:j ;#ffi;
Advances to related companies .'- 3,080,140 t,gqz,lts
Equity securities designated as fair value through other 

77 2,609,147 z',r'ri',ou
comprehensive income IFVOCtI lfor.rurfy ,f"rlifiJ J,available-for-sale (AFS) financial assetsl

;
Noncurrent Assets
lnvestment in and advances to an associate
Equity.securities designated as FVOCT (formerly classified as

. AFS financial assets) _ net of current portion
lnvestment properties
Property and equipment

9

10

11

12

13

72,349

29,970,774
47,675,872
10,774,872

12,349

29,078,457
40,664,O73

7,832,348Other noncurrent assets
Total Noncurrent Assets 32

1 77,908,799

UAg -tTtES AND EQUTW

Current t-iabilities
Trade and other payables
Current portion of:

Long-term debt
Customers' deposits

14 P4,772,r78

Advances from related companies
lncome tax

Total Current Liabilities

15

18

17

7,223,962
3,592

24s,252

P2,808,583

L,017,514
73,504
87,764
45

71.2

Long-term debt - net of current portion
Lustomers' deposits _ net of current oo

Noncurrent tiabilities

Retirement liability
Net deferred tax liabilities
Other noncurrent liabilities

Total Noncurrent Liabiliti;
Totai Liabilities

li;.'r)
0Ft,( f

4,974,969
266,777
44,509

18,547,246

5,525,046
97,605
24,45!

73,457,529

118

749

....,".o 
"iiill

(rorward)

29

199,461
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December 31
Note 2o7a -ro-i;

Retained earnings t2,76gi,7!o ,o,ioo'.i*
other comprehensive income: 16 4s,2gs,4g4 iJ,iiJ,r*.rT:l:jl: r:*"llled-vatuation 

sarn on equity securitiesoesrgnated as FVOCT (formerly classified as aii-- 
. '-

ttnancialassets)

'3;i,3# ":i'i?l
Less:

Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the parent
LOmpany

Capitalstock*

3::]l]:r,", 
paid-in capitar 15 p2,842,t74 p2,6ss,7o./

::::1_cTe""/, ,hares herd by a subsidiary
cost of treasury shares - -' - """''"'"' v 

|! 
,",rt:,::? 76,887,220

Noncontrolling interests 70,065,630 60,470,647
Total

4

415,514

P48.081 P47.539
see accompo nying Notes ri;;M

'The Secur(res and ExchanSe Commrssion approved the tO-for-1 StocI Sph (Stock Sptit) of Alvalue per share rs computed based on
addtjona jnrormation;.;;;;',Jil"J:;;';'"'il":"'ffi:'il:':;lfl1ii:,i";:;I',TilliX]l"j',I;"'Jll



ALPHALAND CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIFS.o"t?:,:1I?srnrrrvffi
(Amounts in Thousands, Except for Earnings per Share)

Years Ended December 31
Note 2018 2077 2 016

REVENUES

COSTS AND EXPENSES
Cost of reai estate sold

19 P2,A77,879

20

P2,483,427 F2,335,7 48

51,476 71,431

cost ofservices 859,354 834,340 r.og4.a57

- 

J-;:;-:_--

oTltER TNCOME (EXPENSES)
(Jarn On tair value changes of investment

properties

erest expense and other finance char6- 
17 ?,459,576 77,47r,a8 ro,oo7,o52

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX
11,157,568 I,l83,734

pRovrsroN FoR rNcoME TAx 7'155'850 77's77,4o3 to,2ro,68s
Current

NET INCOME

Defened 68,380 58,161 B7,oB4

4,728,103 8,769,032 7,076,823
oTHER COMpREHENSTVE TNCOME (Loss)
Not to be reclossilied to profit or loss in

subsequent yeors:
Revaluation increase
lncome tax effect 4,365,748 9,515 103,828

31,148
un real ized vatration gailii-ftiiftEu,,i-iiE

oesrgnated as FVOCT

192 6,661 680

1,084,338Income tax effect

Remeasurement gai" (lorfi;tir"n"rt

Reclassification adjustments on disposat ot AFS
rnancial assets

Unrealized valuation gajn on AFS financial
assets

10

10

(216,038) (108,49s)

lncome tax effect 58,146
1.s,7 89

72s,090
6

626,264

(Forward)

7
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Years Ended December 31
Note 2018 2011 2016

Net income attributable to:

i::::#,fl:::,.:,:p"rent 
company .4,127,st2 F8,t67,662 F7,076,4o6

Total comprehensjve income attributable to:

:,1illl^:q:" { "" 
r"rent company pa,126,7s1

Noncontrollins intere; 
_ ,_- ,-, t6'rzb,t91 F8,054,768 p7,702,670

......-....--

Total Comprehensive lncome per Share.
Based on weighted average number of shares

'ee 
occompanyjng Notes to can5otidoted Finoncidl statements.

'Total comprehenslve income per share is computed based on weighted average number of shares outstanding before the effect ol stock sptit

il;[:::iJt*' 
* the sEc on December 10, 2018. rhir information ; intended as additionar information for manasement repo(in8



ALPHALAND CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLI DATED STATEM ENTS OF CHAI.IG Ei I N EAIJ ITY

(Amounts in Thousands)

Years Ended December 31
Note 2018 2077 2076

CAPITAI. STOCK

Ealance at beginning of year
16

Additions
22,655,707 P2,655,707 P2,655,707

Balance at end of

ADDITIONAL PAID.IN CAPITAL
Balance at beginnjng of year
Additions

70,7 40,079
2,O29,6sL

2,655,701 2,655,707

10,739,039 10,739,039

Excess of acquisition price over acquired interest -"-'*-: 
1 

^n;Balance at end of vear 
-- --' -------- - 1'040 -

769

40,343,598

4,727,9t2

189,059

52,918

32,772,445

8,761,662
2s,09s,300
7,076,406

10,7 40,079 10,739,039
RETAINED EARNINGS

Balance at beginning of year
Net income
Reclassification adjustments on disposal of equity

securities designated as FVOCI
Amortization of revaluation surplus

10

3,4913,491 ,rr_
Balance at end of ve ar -

CUMULATIVE UNREALIZED VATUATION GAIN
ON EQUITY SECURITIES DESIGNATED AS FVOCI
(FORMERLY CLASSIFIED AS AFS FINANCIAL
ASSETS)

Balance at beginning of year
Effect of change in tax rate
Unrealized valuation gain

10

23,432,497
(1,301,805)

927,5A7

23,574,600

32,172,445

23,079,670

52,331

432,497 23,57 4,600
REVALUATION SURPI.US
Balance at beginning of year
Revaluation gain
Amortization of revaluation

1.2

75,850

3,077 ,792
72,680
6,661
3,497

Balance at end of

ACCUMULATED REMEASUREMENT GAIN
ON RETIREMENT I-IABILITY

Balance at beginning of year 45,350 22,846 24,192
lemeasuleme.nt_Bain (toss) on retirement tiabitity zt _ ;;,;;; ii,!li,odrdlLE dr elo ot vear

45,350
PARENT COMPANY'S SHARES HELD

BY A SUBSIDIARY
Balance at beginning of year
Additions

16

20

(76,877,9721 176,877,972)
48

(Forward)

Balance at end of

73,479
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Years Ended December 31
2078 2017

TREASURY SHARES

Balance at beginning of year
Reissuance

Additions

1P72,214)
11,000

Balance at end of

NONCONTROLTING INTERESTS
Ba ance at beg nnlng of vear
Acquisition
Share in:

Net income
Other

4,670
(1,069)

4,793

or:7,310
{44

0

See occomponying Notes to Consolidoted Finonciol Stotements,

4,467
(7s0)



ALPHATAND CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Amounts in Thousands)

Years Ended December 31
Note 2018 2A1l 2076

CASH FI,OWS FROM OPERATING ACIIVITIES
lncome before income tax
Adjustments for:

Gain on fair value changes of investment
properties

lnterest expense and other finance charges
Depreciation and amortization
Loss on forfeitures and cancellation
lnterest income
Unrealized foreign exchange losses
Gain on sale of AFS financial assets

11

15

72

7

5

10

9

F7,165,860

(7,4s3,s16)

321,345
296,100
t97,387
(17,033)

3,584
lr7,764)

1,717
(723,r52)

(19,635)

1,885
(108,50s)

811,571.403 F10,210,685

Q,r,47t,819], (10,007,0s2)
365,727 294,749
724,567 72L,860_

in net loss (income) of an associate
Operating income before working capitikhanges
Decrease (increase) in:

Trade and other receivables
Land and development costs and parking lots

for sale

Other current assets
lncrease in:

Trade and other payables
Customers'deposits

5t3,727

19s9,224)

(1s3,290)
(1s,848)

493,499
98,594

444,698

(738,983)

(537,357)

1384,6241

1

321,031
21,142

135

495,722

(4s8,383)

(458,693)

220,506

1,062,891

25,997
Retirement liabi

Net cash generated from (used for) operations 12,484)

146,718)

15

(854,ss3)
(17,866)

77,764

1,494

894,928
(82,091)
19

lncome taxes paid
lnterest received

Net cash provided activities

CASH FI.OWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to:

Property and equipment (1,G33,150) (435,010) (608,326)
lnvestment propenies 1L lzoa,777) (33,4s91 izzai,e:f;s
Equity securities designated as Fvoct (7O,4OO)
Software 13 (5,796) _ (1S4)

Proceeds from:
Sale of equity securities designated as FVOCT

(formerly classified as AFS financial assets) 2ll,g2t I5B,Z!4 :3I,A2O
Disposal of property and equipment lSAtT
Rescission of sale and disposal of investment

properties - 22t,2:1g
Decrease (increase) in:

Advances to related companies 167,901 (364,30G) 1446,730)
Other noncurrent assets 134,GS8 (18,904) S2.,St7
lnvestment in and advances to an associate (7SO) 9,671
Advances to an associate - .r.ooy rr,96)

t 
", 

a"tn rtuo ,n ,nr"ttin

(Forward)



-2

Years Ended December 31
Note 2018 2017 2416

CASH FI.OWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from:

lssuance of new shares
Availments of long-term debt

Payments of:
Long-term debt
lnterest and other finance charges

lncrease (decrease) in:

P2,276,1t8
742,737

(1,193,8s3)
(296,O78)

21s,593

F-
6,530,142

ls.378,627)
(60s,94s)

F-
2,L57,784

(1,713,541)

123t,614|,

:l;::::::',T:il:iX,::"T,.n'"' 1614:: 73,071 34,013

Purchase of parent company shares held by a 
9'792 (69,691) (2,131)

subsidiary
Movements In treasurv shares l: - (63'248) -

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES
oN cAsH ANO CASH EQUTVATENTS (3,584) (1,117) (1,885)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING
OF YEAR

CASH AND CASH EqUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

256,146 453,723

110,157 215,593
183

P216,116

256,146
120

101 P9

See occohpanying Notes to Co nsolidotect Finoncial Stotements.

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH
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ALPHALAND CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Corporate Matters

Corporate lnformation
Alphaland Corporation (ALpHA or parent Company) is a holding company incorporated and
registered with the Philippine securities and Exchange commission (sEc) on November 19, 1990.
The principal business of ALPHA and its subsidiaries (co[ectivery referred to as the ,,Group,,) 

is rear
property development.

The registered office address of ALPHA is Arpharand Makati prace, 7232 Ayara Ave. ext. cor. Marugay
Street, Makati City.

The consolidated financial statements as at December 3r., 201g and 2017 and for each of the three
years ended December 31, 20LB,2oL7 and 2o1G were approved and authorized for issuance by the
Executive Committee of the Board of Directors (BOD) on january 29, 2019.

ALPHA's Lesal Subsidiaries as at December 31,201g and 2017

Percentage of
_ OwnershipPlace of

Alphaland Southeat€ Tower, tnc. (Aiit)
Alphaland Balesin lsland Resort Corporation

(A8lRC)

Alphaland Makati ptace, tnc. (AMpt)l')
Alphaland Baguio Mountain LoB Homes, tnc.

(ABMLHI)

Alphaland Balesin lnternational Gateway,
lnc. (formerly Alphaland Balesin
Gateway, lnc. ) (ABIGt)

Alphaland Reclamation Corporatioh (ARC)
2258 Blue Holdings, tnc. (Blue Holdings) (')

Alphaland Southgate Restaurants, tnc. (ASRt)
lal

Alphaland lnternational, lnc. (All)
Alphaland Aviation, lnc. (AAt)
Alphaland Aviation - pampan8a, tnc. {AApt)lb)
Aegle Wellness Center, lnc. (AWCt)
Alphaland lnternational, lnc. - BVI

Alphaland lnternational, tnc. - Seychelles
Superface Enterprises Limited
AeSle Drugstore tnc. (ADI) l')

Choice lnsurance Brokerage, lnc. (ClBl)(")
Alphaforce Security Agency, lnc. (nSAt) (0

Redstone Mountain Holdings tnc. (RMHt)k)
Lodgepole Holdings, tnc. (LHt)k)
Mt. Eaguio Holding Estates tnc. (MBHEt)l3r

(Forward)

Philippines

Philippines
Philippines

Philippines

Philippines
Philippines
Philippines

Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
British Virgin

lslands
Seychelles
Hongkong
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Phitippines
Philippines

Nature of Business

Real property development

Real property development
Real property development

Real property development

Real property development
Real property development
Holding company

Re5taurant operations
HoldinS company
Aviation
Aviation
Wellness center

HoldinS company
Holding company
Holding company
Pharmacy
lnsurance brokerage
Security agency
l-lotdinS company
Holding company
Holding company

2018 2A7l
100 100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100
100

100

100
100

100

100

80

100

100

r.00

100

100
100

100
100
100

100
100

100
100
100

100
97

,:



-2-

company 
Place of Percentage of

Iop ot the Atpha, tnc. Doing business under philipt*;-l"rt-;;;;;;;i,on, 
1oothe names and styles ofTop ofthe

Alpha by touiey and The Atpha By
Louie Y (Top ofthe ltpha)(d)

The Alpha Suites, tnc. (Atpha Suites)rd) Philippines Real estate company
Pinecrest Holdings, tnc. (pFlt)k)
(a) Thtough ASTI

(c) Thtough AMpt; tncorporated jn 2077
(d) Throuqh AMpl; lncorporcted in 2018
(e) Thrcugh Btue Hotdinqs
(I) Associate in 2016
(q) tncorporoted in 2O1g

Changes in Group Structure durinq 2O1g and 2017

a ADr was incorporated and reSistered with the phirippine sEc on December 22,20!7 primarly toenSage in the business of retairing or whoresaring of pharmaceuticar products, medicines,foodstuffs and groceries.

b Blue Holdings initialy subscribed to 15,749,996 common shares of crBr representin gjo% of itsoutstanding shares in November 2072. rn october 2ou, Brue Hordings purchase; additionar
6,000,000 common shares from an existing sharehorder for F5.o mirion resurting to an increasein ownership of crBr to g7%. rn December 201g, the remaining interest was obtained by BrueHoldings making ClBt its wholly-owned subsidiary.

crBr was incorporated and registered with the phirippine sEC on November 6, 2012 primariry toengage, conduct, carry on and maintain insurance business, to act as a broke, and to do otherrelated activities.

c ALPHA initialy subscribed ro Tg,ggg.common shares of AsAr representing 40% of its outstanding
shares in March 20L1, which was then accounted for as an associate. rn october 2017, AL'HApurchased additionar 7g,9gg common shares from an existing sharehorder forp11,2 miflion
increasing its ownership ofASA| to gO% (see Note 9).

ASA' was incorporated and registered with the phirippine sEc on March 1g, 2011 primariry toengage in the business of providing security and investigation services to private institutions andgovernment organizations.

d Top of the Alpha was incorporated and registered with the phirippine sEc on May 2r,2orgprimarily to establish, maintain and operate restaurants, coffee shops, refreshment parrors andcocktail lounge.

e Alpha suites was incorporated and registered with the phirippine sEc on June r.1, 2o1g primariryto deal and engage in the real estate business in all its aspects; to hold, develop, manage,
administer, sell, convey, encumber, purchase, acquire, rent oi otherwise aeat in ano oispose"or,for itself or for others, all kinds of real estate pro.iects.
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f RMHr, LHr, MBHEr and pHr were incorporated and registered with the phirippine sEC primariry toinvest ln, purchase, or otherwise acquire and own, trotd, sett, assign, transfer, ,o.tgag", pt"ig",
exchange or otherwise dispose, as may be permitted by law, of real ,nU p".ron"T iop.rt,Tevery kind and description. These entities were incorporated in zo1g.

Sisnifi cant Operatinp Subsidiaries

a Asrl was incorporated and registered with the phirippine sEC on May 29, zoo1 as Arpharandcorporation The phirippine sEC approved the change in its corporate name to ,,Arpharand
Development, tnc.', on December 28, 2009 and then io ,,Alphaland 

Southgate to*ur, ir..,, onOctober 1S, 2015.

Asrl's primary purpose is to engage in real property acquisition and development. ASTl,s mainproperty is a 2o-storey office tower buirding with a six-storey podium shoppin8 ma known asAlphaland Southgate Tower (see Note 11).

b ABIRC was incorporated and registered with the phirippine sEc on May 26, 2010 primariry toinvest in, purchase, or otherwise acquire and own, hold, use, sell, assign, tranrter, .o.tgig",pledge, and exchange or otherwise dispose, as may be permiited by law, of reat anA perr"oiai
property of every kind and description.

ABIRC has investment in preferred shares of Alphaland Balesin
(see Note 10).

lsland Club, tnc. (ABtCt)

c AMPI was incorporated and registered with the Philippine sEC on March 6, 1991 as silvertown
Property Development Corporation. On February 26,2070, the philippine SfC approvea ttre
change in corporate name to,,Alphaland Makati place, lnc.,,

AMPI's primary purpose is to acquire by exchange of shares, purchase and lease a specificproperty described as three-storey building with basement of strong materials together with thewarehouse, other rand improvements and machinery and equipment as wel ai the reasehord
rights on the rand, which is situated at Ayara Avenue corner Marugay street, Makati, Metro
Manila.

AMPI entered into a joint venture with the Boy scouts of the phirippines (BSp) to devetop the
Malugay Property into a first class commercial development now known as aiphaland fvtakati
Place (see Note 4). lt is a mixed-use property development consisting of two (2) high endresidential towers and one (1) corporate tower atop an upscale six_itorey poiir, -*itt ,
shopping center and a City Club, including a Boy Scout Convention Center.

AMPr has investment in preferred shares of The city crub at Arpharand Makati prace, rnc.
(TCCAMPt) (see Note LO).

d. ABMIHI was incorporated and registered with the philippine SEC on January i.7, 2013 asAlphaland Holdings Company, tnc. On September l, ZOrc, tne philippine SEC approved the
change in corporate name to ,,Alphaland 

Baguio Mountain Log Homes, lnc.,,
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ABMLHI's primary purpose is to dear and engage in the rear estate business in aI its aspects; tohold, develop, manage, administer, sell, convey, encumber, purchase, acquire, rent,.or
othe*ise deal in and dispose of, for itself or for others, all kinds of real estate projects,
involvinB commerciar, industriar, urban, residentiar or other kinds of rear property, impioveo oi
unimproved, with or to such persons and entities and under such terms and conJitions as may
be permitted by law.

e AAl and AAPI were incorporated and registered with the phirippine sEc on Jury 31, 2012 and
December 5, 2016, respectivery, primariry to enSage in aviation industry and its rerated
businesses, including but not limited to, the provision of hangarage and moorage, parking and
landing operations, aircraft maintenance, suppry of parts, oirs, and rubricants and other rerated
businesses.

Maior Sources of Funds

operotions. The Group generates funds primariry from sare of condominium units and parking
spaces at Alphaland Makati Place, Baguio Mountain Lodges, and Balesin private Villa; from mall ani
leasing operations of Alphaland southgate Tower and Alphaland Makati place Mall and corporate
Tower, and; from the operation of the serviced residences of rhe Alpha suites that commenced in
the first half of 2018.

The Group also generates funds from secondary sare of membership shares of compreted crub
projects, namely, Alphaland Balesin rsland club and rhe city club at Alphaland Makati place.

Borrowings. ALPHA, ABrcr, ABTRC, AMpr and AST| has an omnibus Loan and security Agreement
(oLsA) with BDo unibank, rnc. (BDo) for a roan facirity ofF6,726.0 miIion for the puipose of:
(a) refinancing the Group's loans; (b) financing new and on-going projects and (c) providing
additional workinB capitalfor the Group.

AAPI and AAr both entered into an Amortized commercial Loan (ACL) agreement with BDo Leasing
and Finance, rnc. (BDoLFr) for a roan facirity of p2G5.2 miIion and p3o9.o mi[ion, respectively, foi
the purpose of financing the acqu isition of two ATR72 Tu rboprop Aircraft.

controct ro sell (crs) Financing. ABMLHT obtained a crs financing facility with BDo amounting to
P500.0 million for the purpose of refinancing the company's CTS receivabres under the terms and
conditions of a Memorandum of Agreement (MoA) dated october 30, 201g between BDo and
ABMLHI.

ASgregate loan availments amounted to p782.7 million and p6,530.1 million in 20Lg and 2077,
respectively (see Note 15).

Events after the Reoortins period

Assignment of oLSA with BDo. The long-term loan with BDo under the oLSA dated February 15,
2017, amounting to F5,653.2 million inclusive of interest and adjustments as of January 23,20Lg,
was assigned effective on the same date by BDo to philipplne Bank of communications - Trust and
wealth Management Group pursuant to an Assignment Agreement dated January 23, 2019 between
the parties.
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Possible sole ol Alpholond southgote Tower. AST| is currentry in negotiations with a third party for
the sale of Alphaland southgate Tower. However, as at January 29 2019, there is no definitive
agreement regarding the sale. The sale is conditioned on obtaining relevant regulatory clearances.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting policies

Basis of Preparation and Statement of Compliance
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in compliance with
Philippine Financial Reporting standards (pFRs) issued by the phirippine Financiar Reporting
standards council and adopted by the sEc, including sEc pronouncements. This financial reportin;
framework includes PFRS, philippine Accounting standards (pAs), and philippine tnterpretationi
from lnternational Financial Reporting lnterpretations Committee (lFRlC).

Measurement Bases
The consolidated financial statements are presented in philippine peso, the 6roup,s functional
currency. All amounts are rounded to the nearest thousands unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared on a historical cost basis,
except for the following:

Equity securities designated as fair value through other comprehensive income [Fvocr]
[formerly classified as available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets];
lnvestment properties which are measured at fair value; and
Aircrafts and serviced residences presented under "property and equipment,,account which are
stated at revalued amount; and

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange of assets
and fair value of the consideration received in exchange for incurring a liability.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The Group uses market observable data to a possible extent when measuring the fair value of an
asset or a liability. Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on
inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:

o Level L - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

' Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

o Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

lf the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorized in different
levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the
same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire
measurement.
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The Group recognizes transfers between revers of the fair varue hierarchy at the end of the reporting
period during which the change has occurred.

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is incruded in Notes 10,
7L,72 and 25.

Adoption of New and Amended pFRS

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financiar year, except for
the adoption ofthe forrowing new and amended pFRS which the Group adopted effective for annuar
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2OL8:

o PFRS 9, Finonciol rnstruments - This standard repraces pAS 39, Finoncior lnstruments:
Recognition and Meosurement (and aI the previous versions of pFRS 9). rt contains
requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities,
impairment, hedge accounting, recognition and derecognition.

o PFRS 9 requires arr recognized financiar assets to be subsequentry measured at amortized
cost or fair value (through profit or loss or through other comprehensive income [OCl]),
depending on the classification by reference to the business model within which these are
held and its contractual cash flow characteristics.

o For financial liabilities, the amount of change in fair value of a financial liability designated
as fair value through profit or ross (FVPL) that is attributabre to changes in the credit risk of
that liability is recognized in ocr (rather than in profit or ross), unless this creates an
accounting m ismatch.

o For the impairment of financiar assets, PFRS g introduces an "expected credit ross,, moder
based on the concept of providing for expected losses at inception of a contract.
Recognition of a credit ross shourd no longer wait for there to be objective evidence of
impairment.

o For hedge accounting, pFRs 9 introduces a substantiar overhaur alowing financiar
statements to better refrect how risk management activities are undertaken when hedging
financial and nonfinancial risk exposures.

o The derecognition provisions are carried over almost unchanged from pAS 39.

As allowed under transitory provisions of pFRs 9, the Group appried the requirements of PFRS 9
retrospectively but opted not to restate the comparative information.

The Group has performed an assessment and determined the foflowing impact of PFRS 9 on its
financial instruments:

Clossificotion ond Meosurement. On the date of initial application, January 1, 2018, the Group
made the following reclassifications:

(i) Trade and other receivables and other financial assets that were classified as loans and
receivables under PAS 39 are now crassified as financiar assets at amortized cost. These
financial assets are herd to colect contractuar cash frows and give rise to cash frows
representing solely payments of principal and interest.
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(ii) The Group's investment in preferred shares of ABrcr (rsland Crub) and TccAMpr (city crub)
crassified as AFs financiar assets under pAs 3g wil continue to be measured at fair varue
under PFRS 9. These investments are intended to be disposed of overtimetothird parties.
As permitted by pFRS 9, the Group made an irrevocable designation to present in OCI the
changes in fair varue of these investments. unrike pAS 39, the accumurated gains or rosses
presented in ocr related to these investments wiI not be subsequentry recrassified to profit
or loss.

The Group has not designated any financiar riabirities as at FVPL. There are no
classification and measurement for the Group,s financial liabilities.

The application of the classification and measurement requirements under PFRS
materially affect the carrying amounts of the Group,s financial instruments as at
2018.

changes in

9 did not
January 1,

lmpoirment. The new impairment requirements do not resurt to additionar provision for
impairment with respect to trade receivables and contract assets from real estate sales because
the credit exposure arising from. these financiar assets was mitigated by the Group,s poricy that
title transfer should be done onry upon fuI payment and the Gioup can take possession of the
subject property in case the buyer fails to pay the outstanding balance.

For trade receivabres arising from other business segments, the Group appries the simprified
approach in measuring the expected credit rosses. This approach does not track changes in
credit risk, but instead recognize an alowance for impairment rosses based on rifetime exp-ected
credit losses. This resurted in an increase of the alowance for impairment rosses with a
corresponding decline in retained earnings as at January 1, 201g by p18.0 million.

while cash and cash equivarents are subject to the impairment requirements of pFRs 9, the
resulting impairment loss is not significant primarlly because the placements are with reputable
counterparty banks that possess good credit ratings.

For other financial assets at amortized cost which mainry comprise rerated party transactions,
the PFRS 9 impairment requirements do not resurt to sign;ficant expected credit ross. rnperforming the assessment, the Group considered the available liquid assets of the related
parties and the letter of support from the stockholders.

Hedging' The Group does not have transactions that wirr require the use of hedge accounting.

PFRS 15, Revenue from controct with customers - The new standard repraces pAS 1j.,
construction controcts, pAs L8, Revenue, and rerated interpretations. rt estabrishes a singre
comprehensive framework for revenue recognition to appry consistentry across transactiois,
industries and capital markets, with a core principre (based on a five-step moder to be appried to
all contracts with customers), enhanced disclosures, and new or improved guidance.

The following are the related literatures issued subsequent to adoption of pFRS 15:

o Amendments to PFRS 15, Revenue lrom Controct with Customers _ Clorilicotion to 1FRS L5 _
The amendments provide clarifications on: (a) identifying performance obligations;
(b) principal versus agent considerations; and (c) licensing. The amendments also provide
some transition relieffor modified contracts and completed contracts.
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o Philippine tnterpretatjons Committee (plc) e&A No. 20j.6_04, Applicdtion of IFRS 15Revenue from controcts with customers on sole of Residentior properties underPre-compretion controcts - 
- 
The interpretation provides imprementation guidance

specifically whether the sare of a residentiar property unit under pre-compretion sf,ge by areal estate developer that enters into a crs with a buyer -meets the criteria for revenue
recognition over time.

o PIC Q&A No. 2018-12, pFRS 15 tmplementotion tssues Affecting the Reol Estote tndustry _
The interpretation addresses some imprementation issuei affecting rear estate industry iueto changes brought about by the adoption of PFRS j.S.

o SEC Memorandum Circular No. 14, Series of zOLg, ptc e&A 201g_12 tmplementotion lssuesAffecting the Reor Estote lndustry -rhe circurar provides rerief to the rear estate inaustrv ovdeferring the application of the provisions of the ptc e&A 2O1g_12 with respect to theaccounting for siSnificant financinB component, uninstalled materials and the exclusion of
land in the carcuration of percentage of compretion, for a period of three years. This deferrarwill onry be appricabre for rear estate transactions. Effective January 1,2021, rear estatecompanies will adopt plc e&A 2018_12 and any subsequent amendments thereof
retrospectively or as the SEC will later prescribe.

The Group has adopted PFRS 15 using the cumulative effect method which requires that the
cumulative effect of applying the new standard is recognized at the beginning of the year ofinitial application. Accordingly, the information presented lor 2oL7 and 20i.6 have not beenrestated. Further, the discrosure requirements in pFRS 1.5 have not generaly been appried to
comparative information.

Prior to adoption of pFRs 15 and its rerated issuances, the Group is arready using the percentage
of completion method in determining the revenue from rear estate transactions. The Group
also availed of the relief provided by sEC Memorandum circular No. 14, series of 2018. withthese, the application of pFRs 1s has no significant impact on the Group,s rear estate
transactions except for the recognition of contract assets with a corresponding decrease in
trade receivables amounting ro p2L7.6 milion as at December 31, 201g (see Note 6). Had the
Group opted to adopt in full the guidance provided in ptc e&A 2018-12, it is anticipated thatthere will be a decrease in the revenue from rear estate sares due to a rower percentage of
completion.

PFRS 15 did not have a significant impact on the Group,s other revenue streams.

Amendments to pFRs z, shore-bosed poyment - crossificotion dnd Meosurement of share-based
Poyment Tronsocuons - The amendments clarify the effects of vesting an; non_vesting
conditions on the measurement of cash-settred share-based payment transactions, the
accounting for share-based payment transactions with a net settrement feature for withhording
tax obligations, and the effect of a modification to the terms and condition of a share-basei
payment that changes the crassification of the transaction from cash-settred to equity settled.

Amendments to PAs 28, rnvestments in Associotes ond Joint ventures - Meosuring on Associote
or Joint venture ot Foir vorue - The amendments are part of the Annuar rmprovements to
PFRS 2014-2016 cycle and crarify that the erection to measure at fair varue through profit or ross
an investment in an associate or a joint venture that is herd by an entity that is a venture capitar
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organization, mutuar fund, unit trust or other quarifying entity, is avairabre for each investment
in an associate orioint venture on an investment-by-investment basis, upon initiar recognition.

Amendments to pAS 40, lnvestment property _ Tronsfers of lnvestment property _ Fheamendments clarify that transfers to, or from, investment prop"rty (including asseis under
construction and deveropment) shourd be made when, and onry when, there is;vidence that a
change ln use of a property has occurred.

Philippine lnterpretation from rFRrc 22, Foreign currency Tronsoctions ond Advonce
considerotion -rhe interpretation provides guidance crarifying ihat the exchange rate to use in
transactions that involve advance consideration paid or received in a foreign currency is the oneat the date of initiar recognition of the non-monetary prepayment asset or deferred income
liability.

The adoption of the foregoing new and amended pFRs did not have any materiar effect on the
consolidated financiarstatements except for pFRs g and 15 as discussed in the foretoing. Additionar
disclosures have been incruded in the notes to consoridated financiar statements, aiapp]icabre.

New and Amended PFRS in lssue But Not yet Effective
Relevant new and amended pFRs which are not yet effective for the year ended December 31, 2o1g
and have not been appried in preparing the consoridated financiar statements are summarized
below.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019:

o PFRS 16, r.eoses - This standard repraces pAs 17, teoset and its rerated interpretations. The
most significant change introduced by the new standard is that almost all leases will oe urougtli
onto lessees' statement of financiar position under a singre moder (except reases of ress thln
12 months and reases of row-varue assets), eriminating the distinction between operating and
finance leases. Lessor accounting, however, remains rargery unchanged and the disti;tion
between operating and finance lease is retained.

o Amendments to PAS 28, Long-term lnterests in Associotes ond Joint ventures -Fhe amendment
clarifies that an entity should apply pFRS 9, including its impairment requirements, to long-term
interests in an associate or ioint ventu re that form part of the net investment in the associate orjoint venture to which the equity method js not applied.

' Amendments to PFRS g, prepoyments Feotures with Negotive compensotion -fhe amendment
provides a narrow-scope amendment to PFRS g to enabre companies to measure at amortized
cost some prepayable financial assets with negative compensation.

Deferred effectivity -

. Amendment to PFRS 10, Consolidoted Findnciol Stotemert, and pAS 2g, lnvestments in
Associotes ond roint ventures - sore or contribution of Assets Between an rnvestor ond its
Associote or Joint venture - The amendments address a current confrict between the two
standards and clarify that a gain or loss should be recognized fully when the transaction involves
a business, and partially if it involves assets that do not constitute a business. The effective date
of the amendments, initially set for annual periods beginning on or after January L, 2016, was
deferred indefinitely in December 201.5 but earlier applicatio;is still permitted.
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under prevailing circumstances, the adoption of the foregoing new and amended pFRS is notexpected to have any materiar effect on the consoridated financiar statements of ttre croup.
Additional disclosures will be incruded in the consolidated financiar statements, as appricabre.

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated frnanciar statements incrude the accounts of the parent company and its
subsidiaries. subsidiaries are entities controlled by the parent company. control is achieved when
the Parent company is exposed, or has right, to variable returns from its investment with the
investee and it has the abirity to affect those returns through its powers over the investee.

subsidiaries are consoridated from the date of acquisition or incorporation, being the date on which
the Parent company obtains contror, and continue to be consoridated untir the date such contror
ceases. Assets, riabirities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during theyear are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains co-ntrol
until the date the Group ceases to controlthe subsidiary.

The financiar statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the
Parent company, using consistent accounting poricies. A[ intra-group barances, transactions,
unrealized gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated in
fu ll.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

when the Parent company has ress than a majority of the voting or simirar rights of an investee, it
has power over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practicar abirity to
direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Parent Company considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, incrudinB:

o The size of the parent company's hordinB of voting rights rerative to the size and dispersion of
holdings of the other vote holders;

The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; or

. The Parent Company's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Parent Company re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to elements evidencing control.

Ncl represents the portion of net resurts and net assets not herd by the parent company. These are
presented in the consolidated statements of financial position within equity, apart from equity
attributable to equity holders of the parent and are separatery discrosed in the consoridated
statements of comprehensive income. Ncr pertains to the equity interest in ASA| as at
December 31, 2018 and 2017 and ClBl as at December 31, 2017.

Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the NCI even if that results in a deficit balance.
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lf the Parent Company loses control over a subsidiary, it:

o Derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the former subsidiary from the consolidated
statements of financial position;

. Recognizes any investment retained in the former subsidiary when control is lost and
subsequently accounts for lt and for any amounts owed by or to the former subsidiary in
accordance with relevant PFRS. That retained interest is remeasured and the remeasured value
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset in accordance with pFRS 9
or, when approprjate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or joint
venture; and

o Recognizes the gain or loss associated with the loss of control attributable to the former
controlling interest.

Business Combinotions and Goodwill - Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideraiion transferred,
measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any NCI in the acquiree. For each
business combination, the acquirer measures the NCI in the acquiree either at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets.

lf the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer,s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date and
any resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognized at fair value at the
acquisition date. lf the contingent consideration is not within the scope of pFRS 9, it is measured in
accordance with the appropriate PFRS. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred and the amount recognized for Ncl over the net identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. lf this consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized in profit or loss.

lf the initial accounting for business combination can be determined only provisionally by the end of
the period by which the combination is effected. Adjustments to these provisional values as a result
of completing the initial accounting shall be made within 12 months from the acquisition date. The
carrying amount of an identifiable asset, liability or contingent liability that is recognized as a result
of completing the initial accountin8 shall be calculated as if its fair value at the acquisition date had
been recognized from that date and goodwill or any gain recognized shall be adjusted from the
acquisition date by an amount equal to the adjustment to the fair value at the acquisition date of
the identifiable asset, liability or continBent liability being recognized or adiusted.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired rn a business combination is, from the
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units (cGU) that are expected to
benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are
assigned to those u nits.
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Where goodwiI forms part of a cGU and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, thegoodwill associated with the operation disposed of is incruded in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or ross on disposar of the operation. Goodwil disposed of in
this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the CGU retained.

Financial Assets and liabilities

Dote of Recognition. The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the consolidated
statements of financial position when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial
instrument. ln the case of a regurar way purchase or sare of financiar assets, recognition and
derecognition, as applicable is done using settlement date accounting.

lnitial Recognition Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value, which is the fair value
of the consideration given (in case of an asset) or received (in case of a riabirity). The initiar
measurement of financial instruments, except for those designated at fair value through profit and
loss (FVPL), includes transaction cost.

"Ddy 1" Difference. where the transaction in a non-active market is different from the fair value of
other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation
technique whose variables incrude onry data from observabre market, the Group recognizes the
difference between the transaction price and fair value la "Day l', difference) in profit o'r loss. rn
cases where there is no observabre data on inception, the Group deems the transactions price as
the best estimate of fair value and recognizes "Day 1" difference in profit or loss when the inputs
become observable or when the instrument is derecognized. For each transaction, the Group
determines the appropriate method of recognizing the,,Day 1,, difference.

clossilicotion of Finonciol lnstruments. The Group classifies its financial assets at initial recognition
under the following categories: (a) financial assets at FVPL, (b) flnancial assets at amortized coit and,
(c) financial assets at Fvocl. Financial liabilities, on the other hand, are classified as either financial
liabilities at FVPL or other financial liabilities at amortized cost. The classification of a financial
instrument largely depends on the Group,s business model.

As at December 31, 20L8 and 2017, the Group does not have financial assets and liabilities at FVPL
and debt instruments measured at FVOCI.

Finonciql Assets ot Amortized cost A financial asset shall be measured at amortized cost if both of
the following conditions are met:

' the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows; and

' the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment, if any. Amortized cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the
financial assets are derecognized and through amortization process. Financial assets at amortized
cost are included under current assets if realizability or collectability is within 12 months after the
reporting period. Otherwise, these are classified as noncurrent assets.



-13-

lncluded in this category are cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables (excluding
advances to officers and employees), advances to related companies, restricted cash (presented
under "other current assets" account), advances to an associate and refundable deposits (presented
under "Other noncurrent assets" account).

Equity Securities Designoted ds Fvocl (storting lonuory i., 2018). Equity securities which are not
held for trading may be irrevocably designated at initial recognition under the FVOCT category.

Financial assets at FVOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. After initial
recognition, financial assets at FVOCI are measured at fair value with unrealized gains or losses
recognized in OCI and are included under "Other comprehensive income,, account in the equity
section of the consolidated statements of financial position. These fair value changes are recognized
in equity and are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods. on disposal of these equity
securities, any cumulative valuation galns or losses will be reclassified to retained earnings.

classified under this category are the Group's investment in shares of stock of lsland club and city
Club. ln the prior financial year, these equity securities are classified as AFS financial assets. The
accounting policy for AFS financial assets is set out below:

AFS Financiol Assets (Prior to Jonuory 1, 2018). AFS financial assets are measured at fair value. The
changes in fair values are recognized in OCI and accumulated in equity until the investment is sold,
collected, or otherwise disposed of or until the investment is determined to be impaired, at which
time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity are included in profit or loss.

Finonciql Liobilities ot Amortized Cost. Financial liabilities are categorized as financial liabilities at
amortized cost when the substance of the contractual arrangement results in the Group having an
obli8ation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder, or to settle the obligation
other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number
of its own equity instruments.

These financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value less any directly attributable transaction
costs. After initial recognition, these financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on the issue and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized or impaired or
through the amortization process.

This category includes trade and other payables (excluding deposits from sale, unearned rent
income and statutory payables), long-term debt, customers' deposits and advances from related
companies.

Reclassification
For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at FVOCI category to financial assets at
amortized cost, any gain or loss previously recognized in OCl, and any difference between the new
amortized cost and maturity amount, are amortized to profit or loss over the remaining life of the
investment using the effective interest method, lf the financial asset is subsequently impaired, any
gain or loss that has been recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss.
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ln the case of a financial asset that does not have a fixed maturity, the gain or ross shall be
recognized in profit or loss when the financial asset is sold or disposed. lf the financial asset is
subsequently impaired, any previous gain or loss that has been recognized in OCI is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss.

lmpairment of Financial Assets at Amortized Cost
The Group records an allowance for "expected credit loss." Expected credit loss (ECL) is based on
the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive. The difference is then discounted at an approximation
to the asset's original effective interest rate.

The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on the industry's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

Derecotnition of Financial Assets and Liabilities

Finonciol Assets. A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group
of similar financial assets) is derecognized when:

o the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired;

. the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation
to pay them in full without materiar deray to a third party under a "pass-through,, arrangement;
or

' the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the asset and either: (a) has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

when the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Group,s continuing involvement
in the asset. continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred
asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Finonciol Liobilities. A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is
discharged, cancelled or expired. when an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying
amounts is recognized in profit or loss.
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Offsetting Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated
statements of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset
the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously. This is not generally the case with master netting
aBreements, and the related assets and liabilities are presented gross in the consolidated
statements of financial position.

Classification of Financial lnstrument between Liability and Equity
A financial instrument is classified as liability if it provides for a contractualobligation to:

. Deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity;

. Exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are
potentially unfavorable to the Groupi or

' Satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial
asset for a fixed number of own equity shares.

lf the Group does not have an unconditional right to avoid delivering cash or another financial asset
to settle its contractual obligation, the obligation meets the definition of a financial liability.

Land and Development Costs and Parkins Lots for Sale
Property acquired or being constructed for sale in the ordinary course of business, rather than to be
held for rental or capital appreciation, is held as inventory and is measured at the lower of cost and
net realizable value (NRV).

Costs include:

. Cost of the land;

. Construction and development costs; and

. Borrowing costs, planning and design costs, costs of site preparation, professional fees, property
transfer taxes, construction overheads and other related costs.

NRV is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of the business, based on market prices at
the reporting date, less estimated specifically identifiable costs to complete and the estimated costs
to sell.

Other Current Assets
This account consists of the excess of input value-added tax (vAT) over output vAT, advances to
contractors and suppliers, creditable withholding taxes (cwr), supplies, prepayments, deferred rent
and restricted cash.

yAL Revenues, expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of VAT, except:

. where the tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation
authority, in which case the tax is recognized as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as
part of the expense item as applicable; and

o receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of tax included.
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The net amount of tax recoverable from the taxation authority is included as part of ,,other current
assets" account in the consolidated statements of financial position.

Advances to controctors ond suppliers. Advances to contractors and suppliers represent advance
payments on services to be incurred in connection with the Group's operations. These are charged
to expense or capitalized to projects in the consolidated statements of financial position, upon
actual receipt of services orsupplies. These are considered as nonfinancial instru ments as these will
be applied against future billings from contractors and suppliers. Advance payments to contractors
and suppliers, relating to the portion of the project that is classified as investment property and
advance payments that will be applied against future billings beyond L2 months from the reporting
date, are presented as part of "Other noncurrent assets" account in the consolidated statements oi
financial position.

cwr. cwr represents the amount withheld by the Group's customers in relation to its income. cwr
can be utilized as payment for income taxes provided that these are properly supported by
certificates of creditable tax withheld at source subject to the rules on Philippine income taxation.
CWT is stated at estimated NRV.

Prepoyments. Prepayments are expenses not yet incurred but paid in advance. prepayments are
apportioned over the period covered by the payment and charged to the appropriate account in
profit or loss when incurred. Prepayments that are expected to be realized for no more than
12 months after the reporting period are classified as current asset. Otherwise, these are classified
as noncu rrent asset.

Restricted Cosh. Restricted cash includes cash in banks under trust and to be used for interest and
principal loan payments, funds reserved for the purchase of Euro notes and environmental escrow
funds. This is classified as current asset if the expected release is within i.2 months from the
financial reporting date. Otherwise, this is classified as a noncurrent asset.

lnterests in Joint Operations
A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement.

The Group recognizes in relation to its interest in a.ioint operation:

. its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;

. its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly;

. its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation;

. itsshareof the revenue from the sale of theoutputbythe jointoperation; and

. its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

lnvestment in an Associate
The Group's investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method. An associate is an
entity in which the Group has significant influence.

Under the equity method, investment in an associate is carried in the consolidated statements of
financial position at cost plus post acquisition changes in the Group's share of net assets of the
associate,



-t7-

The consolidated statements of comprehensive income reflect the share in the results of operations
of the associate. where there has been a change recognized directly in the equity of the associate,
the Group recognizes its share of any changes and discloses this, when applicable, in the
consolidated statements of changes in equity, unrealized gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the
associate.

The share in net income of the associate is shown as "Equity in net income (loss) of an associate,,
account in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income,

The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group.
where necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the
Grou p.

Upon loss of significant influence over an associate, the Group measures and recognizes any
remaining investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount ofthe associate
upon loss of siBnificant influence and the fair value of the remaining investment and proceeds from
disposal is recognized in profit or loss.

lnvestment Properties
lnvestment properties comprise of completed properties and land for future development held by the
Grouptoearn rentals orforcapital appreciation, orboth. lnvestment properties are measured initially
at cost, including transaction costs. The carrying amount includes the cost of replacing part of existing
investment properties at the time that cost is incurred and if the recognition criteria are met, and
excludes the costs of day-to-day servicing of investment properties. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the reporting date
as determined by independent appraisers. Gainsand losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. Foratransfer
from investment property to owner occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is
the fair value at the date of change in use. lf owner occupied property becomes an investment
property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy on property and
equipment up to the date of change in use.

lnvestment properties are derecognized when either they have been disposed of or when the
investment properties are permanently withdrawn from use and no further economic benefit is
expected from its disposal. Anygain or loss on the retirement of disposal ofan investment property is
recognized in profit or loss in the year of retirement or disposal.

ProDefi and Eouioment
Property and equipment, except land, serviced residences and aircrafts, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation, amortization and impairment in value, if any. Land is stated at cost less
any impairment in value.

The initial cost of property and equipment consists of its purchase price, including import duties,
nonrefundable taxes and any directly attributable costs in bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use. such cost includes the cost of replacing part of such property and
equipment when that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met.
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Expenditures incurred after the property and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, are normally charged to profit or loss in the period when the costs are incurred. ln
situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures have resulted in an increase in
the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of an item of property and
equipment beyond its ori8inally assessed standard of performance, the expenditures are capitalized as
additional cost of property and equipment.

ln 2016, the Group adopted the revaluation model in measuring its aircrafts. This change in
accounting policy was applied by the Group prospectively. tn 2018, the Group adopted the
revaluation model in measuring its serviced residences.

Under the revaluation model, aircraft and serviced residences are initially recorded at cost and
subsequently measured at fair value. Valuations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure
that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying amount. Additions
subsequent to the last appraisal date are stated at acquisition cost.

A revaluation increase is recorded initially in OCI and accumulated to the revaluation surplus in
equity. However, the increase is recognized in profit or loss to the extent that it reverses a
revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognized in profit or loss. A revaluation
decrease is recognized in profit or loss, except to the extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the
same asset recognized in revaluation surplus in equity in which case the decrease is recognized in
ocr.

Upon disposal, any revaluation surplus relatinB to the particular asset being sold is transferred to
retained earnings.

Each part of the property and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of
the item is depreciated separately.

Depreciation and amortization is computed on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives
of the depreciable assets. The depreciation and amortization periods for property and equipment,
based on the above policies, are as follows:

N um ber of Years

Serviced residences
Aircrafts
Buildings
Transportation equipment
Machinery, equipment and tools
Office furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements

35
15 to 25
20 to 40
2to5
2to15
2to5

2 to L0 or lease term, whichever is shorter

Th€ estimated useful lives and depreciation and amortization method are reviewed periodically to
ensure that the periods and method of depreciation and amortization is consistent with the expected
pattern of economic benefits from items of property and equipment.

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use. Any Bain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognized.

Asset Type
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Construction in progress, which includes cost of construction and other direct costs, is stated at cost
and is not depreciated until such time as the relevant assets are completed and put into operational
use. Assets under construction are reclassified to a specific category of property and equipment
when the construction and other related activities necessary to prepare the assets for their intended
use are completed and the assets are available for use.

Software
software is measured initially at cost. software is recognized if it is probable that the future
economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the enterprise and the cost of the
asset can be measured reliably. After initial recognition, software is measured at cost less
accumulated amortization and any impairment loss.

Amortization of software is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of
five years.

The amortization period and method are reviewed periodically to ensure that these are consistent
with expected pattern of economic benefits from the intangible assets.

lmpairment of Nonfinancial Assets
Nonfinancial assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The Group assesses at each reporting date whether
there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. lf any such indication exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset's recoverable
amount. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or CGU's fair value less costs to sell
and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is
written down to its recoverable amount. ln assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. lf such indication exists,
the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if
there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable amount since the
last impairment loss was recognized. lf that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased
to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation and amortization, had no impairment loss been recognized
for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in profit or loss unless the asset is carried at
revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. After such a reversal
the depreciation and amortization charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset's revised
carrying amount, less any residualvalue, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

Goodwill. The Group assesses whether there are any indicators that goodwill is impaired at each
financial reporting date. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and when circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired, lmpairment is determined for goodwill by
assessing the recoverable amount of the CGU, to which the goodwill relates,

where the recoverable amount of the cGU is less than their carrying amount, an impairment loss
is recognized. lmpairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.



-20-

lnvestment in an Associote. After apprication of the equity method, the Group determines
whether it is necessary to recognize an impairment ross on the Group,s investment in its
assoc,ate. The Group determines at each financiar reporting date whether there is any objective
evidence that the investment in an associate is impaired. rf this is the case, the Group cariurates
the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverabre amount of the associate
and its carrying varue and recognizes the amount in profit or ross under the ,,Equity in net income
(loss) of an associate" account.

Caoltal Stock and Additional paid-in Capital
capital stock is measured at par varue for a[ shares issued. proceeds and/or fair varue of
considerations received in excess of par varue, if any, are recognized as additionar paid-in capitar.

lncremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new capital stock are recognized as a
deduction, net of tax, from the equity.

Retained Earninqs
Retained earnings represent the cumurative barance of the Group's resurts of operations,
reclassification adjustments on disposal of equity securities designated as FVoCt (formerly classified
as AFs financial assets), amortization of revaluation surplus, and net of dividend distribution, if any.

oct
ocl comprises of items of income and expenses that are not recognized in profit or ross for the year
in accordance with PFRs. ocr of the Group pertains to unrearized varuation on equity ,u.rriti",
designated as FVocr (formerry crassified as AFS financiar assets), revaruation surprus and
remeasurement on retirement liability.

Treasurv Stock
own equity instruments which are reacquired (treasury stock) are recognized at cost and
deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group,s own equity
instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount and the consideration, if reissued, i;
recognized as additional paid-in capital. Voting rights related to treasury shares are nullified for
the Group and no dividends are allocated to them,

Parent Company's Shares Held bv a Subsidiarv
Parent's shares which are herd by a subsidiary are treated simirar to treasury shares and
recognized and deducted from equity at cost. No gain or ross is recognized in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income on the purchase, sale, issue or cancelation of the Group,s
own equity instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount and the consideration is
recognized as additional paid-in capital.

Revenue Recoqnition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received, excluding discounts and rebates.

Revenue from contract with customers is recognized when the performance obligation in the
contract has been satisfied, either at a point in time or over time. Revenue is recognized over time if
one of the following criteria is met: (a) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits as the Group performs its obrigations; (b) the Group's performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or (c) the Group,s performance
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does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Grorjght to payment fo. p".rorr.n.u -;;rjr:'::: :.".ut:p and the Group has an enforceabte
time rre iorrowin;#:;;:l:.fffflj[L""X,:"ff::.iI;Io:.,*y""," i, .,uiocni,uJ;.-;oin, ,n

net before revenue is recognized.

:ii:;i{{,if ;Lii'f{::::,,ii.:il;,!{!!.?,ii!i;ji,:,r,* Homes and priv.,e vi,,os
accruarmethod at a point in-time wren *re;#il;:#?:::,,;i:?i#:11:1,:r;rr,i."lli

hilli ail;: "Iif;l;:;:""fi[;1T .t*i:,#,:1,,,h e pr.pe*y,,',,,i,,",""," 
o

recognized as the related Jbligations are fulfilled, measured orln?d ..'no"t this method, revenue is
completion of a physical portion of ,t 

" -n,r".i *orn. 
"' '" pr incipally on the basis of the estimated

The Group accounts for an\
consolidated statements 

"f 
i-:Tl 

received from buyers as .,contract 
liabilities,, account in the

payment was made has no, 'ntnt't' position when the related performance obligation for which
obligation is also classified 

"r'u' 

ou"n performed Excess of coliections over satisfied pu.forman.e
revenuerecosnizeor,.,"r,n"','#lllJilii|!:;".:l;iljli;lT'"'" '"0,."1'ivii;;;li, ",of other obligationr ,r"- r".onn.4,", :.1;::.-::.*l*Dre.s that are conditional upon performance
rece vab ey, ".-,",r t",i".li:iihii:H4;iT,;"yJ.T,J:.1*t;*liittl;
reclassified to trade receivables upon completion of,f," p".fo.r.n." obligation.
For.sale of condominium units and preferred shares under a sinis allocated to 

"..r' 
.on.ponin,. ;ffi;";:".:::1:t"T":"]-t sinsle contract to sett, the serins price

,r,t'"."rJrr",r;"rrilil,]t collections received are aDDlict
,r ror."o j,,",",i, :;;;::ffi?,ff:;Tiff ]i#l:::serring 

price

ii'::',|l'",,Tfi1'!',iill,",{!ii!0t,,,,,1:,;"Hi:::';?lo,flf;3r.o,o,"ted 
projects is accounted

llt_oT".froT 
sales of proiects where the Group has materiar oLri.tl:,i -T:th:d 

is used to recognize

[]:5:'l:;il1:x?ffi;:" propertv is ;;;l-;;J ,#',i""H;,':fl ii",::::,::Ji'::'il:
pr,v,r.r potiio-n o; ;#'::=,?ff.;:i1 *[.jf,,lr:i,l;l:,: "l:n" *,,,,iJ.""#"i""'"'i.

il::il:ffii"Tl,:::i.'#flil..T"y11d,1;," ;::,1'"..y.::"-"i::;'':ll';.3"f1?!lil;

The Group accounts for any cash received from buyers as deoosirwhen the construction is not oivona , p."rirrirrv 
,ri.e;. 

;ili;:: I:rr. rate of condominium units

1l1B-1_if .enBineering and design work, execution o1 .onr1.r.r,11i11]: io: belond a pretiminary
preparation, excavation, and comntpri^6 ^r;;:'-:.;,;l 

Lv'Drrurr'r(ro contracts, site clearance andu"...o,ni"aloi,il;;;il;fiji"Jpf 
,5**: 

jH"",,.: j#[[.ilfl 
:*,i,";."",:,;,,.::l::-::5","i: over the recosnized receivabtes ;* ;:;;;J,r;account in the consotidateJ ,,.i",_".* "li,l"^::-i:l'::, in.rhe ,,Trade 

and other payabtes,,
12 months r,", ii"i",*iol;[:ilif*I ,#i:ffi,:,",1J:,.[:ffifjili"".,J,::,,T,iiil:
under "other noncurrent riabirities" a.."rr, ," ii" .""r"ro'r,"J r','.*r"*, of financiar position.
Revenue on the sare of parking rots is recognized using the ful accruar method.
Rent. Rent income from oDeratirl"rr". conting-"ri;;;i ;""J# lt":":-es 

is recosnized on a straisht-line basis over the term of the,u,i.",.no,liit;;;;ffiJ, ::T:;::i,flilJ",1iili;,Jj,l"ii", ".,,0* .",.* ,,in,,",I
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Air Transport, Medicol ond Security Services. These are rec<been rendered. ,,E5e are recognized when the rerated service has

Room Revenues. Revenue is
are rendered. - - recognized when the room facilities are used and the related services

Goin on Sole of AFS FinonciolAssets. Gain on sale of AFS ,transfer of risks and.ewa.Ji tottebrye.. 
rinancial 

assets are recognized upon

lnterest income. lnterest in
effective yield on the assets. 

come is recognized as the interest accrues taking into account the

Other lncome. lncome from other sources, which includes ftrecognized when earned during the period. 'evenue from serviced residences, is

Cost and Expense Recosnition
Lost and expenses are decrear
outflows or deple on, o1"rr"1l"i-iL-economic 

benefits during the. accounting period in the form oftto'u."rrtinglidiffiffi,,Til*rll"Jffi[o"n'"'that resurr i, u".,"i" i, "q,r;;;#;;r"
Cost ol 

.Reol Estote Sold. Cost of real estate sold is recogrrecosnition method apptied. cost or.oroorinit];;;;";il:ll't"d. consistent with the revenue
determined based on actuar costs and project estimates of buirdi.tj"-ll: 

toto'",,on of the project is

contract costs incrude a, o,*., -*".r,. ".: ,-^^- -^-: 
ourrolng contractors and technicalstaff'

ff x.l*:.?i,l*i:.,,;:rr".,ffi d*:l:":{ilii1fliiH;:,i'j:,i";:#il:tllT
::#i,T1""it'#:1, TilH'lil, :**i[mil#i,1"*"^ y fffil?ffi ,i:l':17
recognized in the year in which the changes are d;i";;;J 

q:Lrrrrated costs and gross margins are

Cost of Services. Cost of services is recognized as expense when servrces are rendered.

?:::!_::o Admingtrotive Expenses. Generat and administrat.administering the business. These are expensed as incurred. 
:rve expenses constitute costs of

lnterest Expense ond Other Fit
recosnized ., tr,"v,..i," ril::tl",i"-{ifl:';,ffilj1#T"::rTl.:J[."ffi:;Jj.:?:J::
fl],;,"il'::,:,"lm15 :;::['J][*,":1,"##; ffiJ:'[:],ing instrumeni and n, ,,",,n'.i
Emolovee Benefits

i!i!"'-t!*'i!f[Ji;rti""u,#ii;"'"tnizes a liabilitv ner or amounts arready paid and an expense
the amount "l;;; ;j ;: ffiT:.*T:,I:"il.::il ?:f,1 :l,l",;;ifyhTlTr,,#t:Jflnas a present regar or constructive 

_obrigation 
,;o;, ;;;'.rJ;t"i, . ,"rrtt of pasr service providedby the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.
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:l""Lr."rrJ::#"Jee 
ben€fit riabirities are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as

Retirement Benelit Costs. ,l: Ur:rI has an unfunded, non_contributory defined benefit plancovering.all qualified employees. Retirement U"nefit lort, .projected unit credit method which'."fr;r;;;;;;;;;; il"";T[,X.,:J,rril:T,[Trl],::,il;and incorporates assumptions concerning employees, pro;".t"i r.lrri"r.
The Group recognizes service costs, comprlsing of current serviclosses on curtailments and nonroutine settlements, ,ro,;;"";::;iffi:il:iil;i:,,i:I::i,lcalculated by applying the discount rate to the retirement liability.

Past service costs are recognized in profit or ross on the earrier of the date of the pran amendmentor curtailment, and the date that tt u eroup ,e.ognir"l r"rirrlrr,rrr"lated costs.

Il:::ir:r:"I comprisinB actuariat gains and tosses and retimmediately ln ocl in,r," f"?od in which they ar,ru. 
^"r""rur,'"n 

on plan assets are recognized
or loss in subsequent periods. 

(rrsv or r)s 
^erneasurements are not reclassified to profit

The defined retirement benefits obligation is the aggregate of the present value of the definedbenefit obrigation and the fair varue of pran **r, ffi ii*ni.h the obrigations are to be settreddirectry The present varue of the retirement ili,r,,t ol"i"r*ned by discounting the estimatedfuture cash outfrows using interest rate 
"n 

g"r;;;;';onds that have terms to maturityapproximating the terms of the relateO ,"tir"r"n'i fi.Oiiii;, 
'

Actuariar varuations are made with.sufficient regurarity so that the amounts recognized in the
;:i::,X';::i,iffii:;ff;il::" oo no' ain"""i"l''il,'r., the amounts,;;; ;;;; ;"
Operatins Lease

Group os o Lessee' Leases where the ressor retains substantiary a, the risks and rewards of
[:fff:l,'j'ifliilI;:,f#:','rl:T]::i:1,:il'"; [,* 0.,-""* are recosnized ,n proriio,

Group os a ressor' Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantiary a, the risks andbenefits of ownership of the asset are crassified as op"r.iirc [ar", rnitiar direct costs incurred innegotiating an operating rease are added to the ..;;;;;;"r;;f the reased asset and recognizedover the rease term on the same. bases ,r r"nt ,r-r". "co;;;;;, 
^*, are recognized as revenuein the period in which they are earned.

Borrowina Costs
Borrowing costs are capitalized if they are directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of aqualifving asset. capitarization of borrowing d;;;;;;;;* wnen ttre activities to prepare theasset are in progress and expenditures and borrowing cos,. 

"r"i"iac incurred. Borrowing costs arecapitarized untir the assets are substantiary *"uv t"i,',-",,. i"t",io=". ,r". rf the carrying amount ofthe asset exceeds its estimated recoverabre amount, an rrpii.r"r, ross is recorded. A, otherborrowing costs are expensed in ttre pertod thev o;;;;] 
-" ' "*" "
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*rsflggqqlgylelenunated Transactions
rransactions denominated in-o*tfrIiE*ies are ini allv r
:l*:t. rate prevairins at trre aat! or t.ansa;;.-^;;:lj-"-t"*d_ rn, Phirippine Peso usins the
roreisn currencies are restated 

",,,," t,i.ii"nri.;,;:;i;[H1T:r;ij j?:1ffi::"rTJ:iff:l

ii::t"IilixT;.,:"iil:i.",:.:.,:rj*i*ii;#l ,nu .,,," ., i,,,,.!,,# i,,t,'.,a
items that are measured in'terms of historicar cost in fo;r"in.g.inrt 

profit or loss. Nonmonetary
exchange rate at the dates of initial transaction;. 

--"' "' 'u' c'6n currency are translated using the

lncome Taxes

current rox. current tax assets and riabirities for the current and prior periods are measured at the;T:[[tTi,[:il::;:'"9 n"'o,, p'ia io'it-" t]*.iion.,*'o,,iti",. rhe tax rate and the tax
the reporting perioo. "nt 

are those that are enacted or substantir"rv 
"-*"J.t,1," ".i ,

Deferred Tax. Deferred tax is provided on all temporarv diffeperiod between the tax bases of .rr"t, "rt ,;;;iff, :*i',il^"lces 
at the end of the reportins

reporting purposes. rrowrrrlrEs i'no rnelr carrying amounts for financial

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temD,revaruations. Dererred tax riabirjty is not ,"."r*J;;"; ;;'!::1[^1,,i:ilfi?rJffi1l[r, ]:jasset or riabirity in a transaction ,t r, o ,"r .-[*i."rr '-,i,,"r,,"" and, at the iime ot trr.lliiiiilJi[,'Jiil,fi',T;;::",'*""tins profit o. ro,, io, i.-,.br" profit or ross. Deferred income
oomesticsuusiarar;::;;;;#lJ:,iiTi:[,tffi::l"differences associa,"r-*onl,,"'#ilJ']"

ffJ::fij::i::",,: iliJ"",l"1?':i',:larrdeductibre 
temporary differences, carryrorward benerits orin.o,"t.,",o.-ni,il',il,1i'il',T,,J,TJi:"r:::iff ::::fi J"?:ffi,.i;Tg;"".:H[that it is probabre that sufficient future taxabie o.?'i *iii B"1r"i,abre against which the deductibretemporary differences and carryforwaro o"""tniri r"rr;;;."r"a* and unused tax rosses can be

The carrying amount of deferred tax.assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period andreduced to the extent that it is. no.tong". proorur" ii.i'-ii,.L* future taxable profit wilt blavaitabre to a'ow a' or part of the- defeired;;;r'; ;J'r',li'r"0. ,nr".ornized deferred taxassets are re-assessed at the end or"..t ,"po.tinj;H;r'o l;
f;:"",."T" 

probabre that suffic,ent r,t,,.u',,*lli"'p,.oi; ffi:[ffi: *:;:jr,T:,,"11,ff,rX

Deferred tax assets and liabilitier

;::j*mti,1m}.itx,:j.Id,,:fJfr 
J,",,1,1.*1ffi 

: .,T:n,"JrT::-ff r?Hi:l:
Deferred tax assets and liabilities,are 

.offset 
if a leSally enforceable right exists to offset the current

:il il:T lf,: i*ll:j:,.fi::,fi:111,,,* .,oin"i"i",.,."J',illil 
"*, ,"r"t" to *," ..," i",.ii"
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Deferred tax relating to ltems recognized outside profit or loss is recognized outside profit or loss.

ffio 
t"* o"'t are recognized in ,"r.ti- ,o ii""rir"r"r,"ii..r..rion either in ocr or directry in

Related parties

Parties are considered to be re]lle.d 
rJ 

one party has the abiritv, directry or indirectry, to contror theother party or exercise significant infruence over the;;;;';";, in making financiar and operating
liilll"#;rli,[i?ifi,l;:":",,'0"'ed to be *'","J''i-ir,lr'.,.e subject to common controror

A rerated party transaction is a.transfer of resources, services or obrigations between a reportingentity and a retated party, regardtess of wheth;;; illrl;;;;il.
Provisions
Provisions are recognized when.the Group has a present obrigation (regar or constructive) as a resurtof a past event, it is probabre that an outfrow 

"r 
r"r"rr."r""."o"dying economic benefits wi, be

"rruff:"" 
settle the obliSation, and a reliable 

"rtirutu 
..n^ be made of the amount of the

Provisions are made using the b:,:1^"^r:,T-1:: of the.amount required to settle the obtigation andare discounted to present varues.using a pre-tax rate that refrects current market assessments of thetime value of money and the risks rp".iii. toir" oirig.i,"r. "lt,..r* in estimates are refrected inprofit or loss in the period they arise.

Continsencies
contingent riabirities are not recognized in the consoridated financiar statements. These aredisclosed in the notes to consolida;d-. finrn.i"f ,t.i"r"r**rr,".r,n" possibility of an outflow ofresources embodying economic b€nefits is ,"r",". i"iirg"n-,'"rr",, 

"r" not recognized in the
;il;:ffr* 

financiar statements but are oircror"a-*il,iln infro* of economic benefits is

Events after the Reportinr Date
Post year-end events that provide additionar information about the Group,s financiar position atreportin' date (ad.iusting events) are rereaea ln ttre-c#"r,i"* financiar statements. post

ffi'"ilH[[i,]ll"T,l", adjustins events are a,..LJ i"',i" notes to consotidated financiat

,.t,tn't,."nrrr@
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements inmanasement ro exercise judsment, make estimates ;";.;;;il;,"*:;3:]i:.i:,l"::?:"I:TX,"':liabilities' income and expenses reported in ttre consoroatJ iinaiciar statements. The judgment,estimates and assumptions used in 

- 
the -"-r,J"i"J'irrn.l.t ,t.t"r"nt, are based uponmanagement's evaruation of rerevant facts and .,..r^,"na"r'a, of the date of the consoridatedfinancial statements. while management believes that the assumptions are reasonable andappropriate' significant differences, in the actuar 

"rp"ri"n.u-'o, significant changes in the
:LHi:::.r 

may materia,y affect the estimated ,r"r,i,r. "o.*.r 
resutts coutd differ from such
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Judsment
ln the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management has made the followingjudgment, apart from those involving estimations] i,inii."" the most significant effect on theamounts recognized in the consolidateU financiat statements.

Recognizing Revenue from Reor Estote sqtes t)nder pFRs 1.5. The recognition of revenue at a point intime requires certain judgment on when the customerobtarn'c-ontror over the promised goods and
fil;fi:-ir::Hlnins 

whether control has been transferr"J io tt 
" 

customer, the Grouplonsiders

. The Group has a present right to payment for the asset.. I he customer has legal title to the asset.. The Group has transferred physical possession ofthe asset.o The customer has the significant ,irt, 
"rU 

,u*urO, o-f lwierstrip ot ttre asset.. The customer has accepted the asset.

For rear estate sares recognized. over.time, the Group recognizes revenue using percentage ofcompretion method This method requires ."n.rn irJeru;-irr"o on the buyer,s commitment onthe sate which mav be ascertained tiirough th" r;;;;";.; Jittu ory"r, initiar investment andcompretion of deveropment rhe buyer's ."rri,,n'"ii i, 
"r;,lrtuo o.r"o on corections and creditstanding of the buyers. The percentage of completion or aurutopr"nt is determined based onengineer's iudgment and estimates on the physical po.tion oit.on,rr.t work done and that thedevelopment is beyond the preliminary stage,

Rear estate sares recognized amounted to p1,346.5 mirion, F1,365.6 mirion and F1,42r..2 mirionin 2078,2OL7 and 2016, respectively (see Note 19). 
'- ' ' -,-

Determining Functionor currency' Based on the economic substance of the underryingcircumstances relevant to the Group, trnction.i .rr"-n.i"f,., 0"", determined to be the
illlfl:;.ffrJ}.lill'oo'"" Peso is the 

'u""n', oiiil p'i'",v 
".ono,i. ",,,,o,,*i,n

Determining the crassificotion of operoting Lease commitments - The Group os o Lessor.The Groupentered into a number of operating rease agreements a, 
"'iarror. As a ressor, the Group hasdetermined that it retains substantiary a, the- risks .nJ ,."*.ra, o, ownership of the assets beingleased out under operating lease agreements.

The Group recognized rent income,amountinS to F1,173.7 mirion, p834.8 mirion and F6g6.o mirionin 20L8,201,7 and 2016, respectively (see trtote tg).

Determining the classificotion of operoting Lease commitments - The Group os o ressee. TheGroup entered into various cancerabre r".r" "gr;uni;'*iit' it. ,"r"t"o companies coveringAWCt's branches. The Group has determined, b.;"J;;;;";;;ation of the terms and conditionsof the arrangement, that the ressor retains a, the significant risks ano benefits of ownership of theproperties and has classified the lease as operating lease.

Rent expense amounted to F23.2 million in 2016 (see Note 18).
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Determining the crossificotion oI Findncior rnstruments. The Group exercises judgments inclassifying a financial instrument on initial recognition either as a financial asset, a financialliability or an equity instrument in accordance *it[ *," rriri"r.e of the contractuar arrangementand the definitions of a financiar asset, a financiar riauiiitv or an equity instrument. The substanceof a financial instrument, rather than its tegat form, goveins-its ctassification in the consolidatedstatements of financial position.

Determining Foir value of Finonc,ial lnstruments. PFRs requires certain financial assets and liabilitiesto be carried at fair varue, which requires extensive *" oi "i.**,ng estimates. whire significantcomponents of fair value mea
amount or chanse. in r.i. u.r,"'ilffi:l#f ,i::'.,Iil"fl ;:tr#:HJ";:f[nili?.,:;*;
Any changes in fair varue of these financiar assets wou ro'.n"* prort 

"nd 
ross and equitv.

The fair value of the Group,s financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in Note 2s.

Determining Foir vorue or rnvestments in crubs' preferred shores. The Group estabrishes fair varueby using recent arm's rength market transactionr u"t*"", tr"*r"dgeabre, wiring parties. The fairvalue of investments in preferred shares of the crubs i. Ju,".r,r"o based on the current cashselling price to third parties,

The carrying varue of investments in preferred shares amounted to p31,036.1 mirion andP30,064.3 million as at December 31, 2018 and ZOLZ, *ip".,ir"ly (see Note 1O).

Determining contror, Joint contror or signiricont rnfruence over on rnvestee compony. contror ispresumed to exist when an investor has power over the investee, is exposed, or has rights, tovariabre returns from its invorvement with the investee and h"i*,e abitity to alfect those returnsthrough its power over the investee. on the other hand,l0int contror is presumed to exist when theinvestors contractua[y agreed to share contror of an .rr;;;";;;i, which exists onry when decisionsabout the rerevant activities require the unanimous .onl"nioi the parties sharing contror. TheGroup has assessed it has contror over its subsidiaries anu ioini.o"t.r in ar joint arrangements.

The Group has a 50% interest. in Alphaland Heavy Equipment Corporation (AHEC) as atDecember 31, 2018 and 2017. The Group ...ount, fo,. ti"i" inu"rtr"nts as associate sincemanagement has assessed that there is no joint control between the parties.

Determining the clossificotion of Joint Arrangements. The joint venture agreement with Bsp isaccounted for as a joint operation since the parties that have loinicontro! of the arrangement, haverights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, ,"f.ting io it 
" 

ur"ngement.

clossifying lnvestment properties ond owner-occupied properties. The Group determines whether aproperty qualifies as investment property. ln making its judgment, the Group considers whether theproperty generates cash frows rargery independent of th" oth"l. assets herd by an entity. owner-occupied properties generate cash frows that are attributabre noi onry to the property but arso tothe other assets used in the production or supply process.

some properties comprise a portion that is herd to earn rentars for capitar appreciation and anotherportion that is held for use in the production or supply of gooJs o, services or for administrativepurposes rf these portions cannot be sord separatery, ih" prop".ty is accounted for as aninv-estment property only if an insignificant portion is n"raior rrJin the supply of goods or servicesor for administrative purposes. Judgment irappliea ln o"t"-ining ,hether ancillary services are sosignificant that a property does not qualify as investment prop'"nv. The Group considers each
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property separately in making its judgment.

Determining Tronsfers. Transfers between investment properties, rand and deveropment costs andproperty and equipment of the Group are made after determining that there i. . .t.ng" in ,r",
evidenced by ending of owner-occupation, commencement of an operating rease to anot-her party
or ending of construction or commencement of deveropment with a view to sare. These transfers
are. recorded using the carrying amounts of the investment properties, rand and deveropment costs
and property and equipment at the date of change in use.

The carryinS amounts of nonfinanciar assets transferred between investment properties, rand anddevelopment costs and property and equipment are as follows:

2018 201,7
Transfer from land and development costs to:

Property and equipment
lnvestment properties

Transfers from investment properties to:
Land and development costs 7
Property and equipment !2

1,2 P2,1r5,863
11

653,310
2,244

P-
2,425,353

327 ,379
L9,47L

Evaluoting Legor contingencbs.. There are on-going ritigations invorving the Group which
management believes wourd not have a material adverse impact on the Group,s financiar condition
and results of operations. The estimate of the probable costs for the resolution of possible claims
have been deveroped in consurtation with regar counser handring the Group,s defense in thesematters and is based upon an analysis of potential results (see Note 26).

Estimates and Assumptions
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at thefinancial reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a materiar adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Recognizinq Revenue and cost. The Group's revenue and cost recognition poricies require
management to make use of estimates and assumptions that may affect the reported amounts of
revenue and cost. Revenue and costfrom sare of real estate recognized based on the p"ra"nt"g" ofcompletion are measured principaly on the basis of the e;timated compretion of physicar
proportion of the contract work, and by reference to the actuar costs incurred to date over the
estimated total costs of the project.

Revenue from AMprs sare of condominium units and preferred shares, ABrRc,s sare of private vi[aand land and ABM[Hr',s sare of rog homes under a singre contract to se are alocated to each
component using the residual method.

The fair value of the preferred share is measured at its current cash selling price to third parties on astand-alone basis and the fair varue of the condominium unit is the residuar amount of thetransaction price.

Revenue recognized based on percentage of completion amounted to p 1,346.5 million,
F1,366'6 million and ?L,42L.2 milion in zoLB, 201.7 and 20].6, respectivery (see Note 19). cosi
recognized based on percentage of compretion amounted to Fg5g.4 miflion, Fg34.3 milion and
P1,094.9 million in 2otg,2O!7 and 2OL6, respectively (see Note 2O).
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Assessing Expected Credit Losses. The Group estimates expected credit losses on trade receivablesand contract assets using a provision matrix that is baied on days past Ore for groupings itvarious customer segments that have similar loss patterns. Depending on the di,iersiiy Jf itsdebtor's base, the Group uses its historicar credit ross experience adjusted for forward-rooking
factors, as appropriate.

lmpairment losses recognized on trade and other receivables amounted to p4.5 million,
P71 9 million and p34.1 milion in 2078,2077 and 2016, respectivery. The Group wrote-off tradeand other receivabres amounting to p6,9 milion in 2016. The Group recognized a reversar of
allowance for impairment losses amounting to F1O4.6 million in 2018 (see Note 6).

Allowance for impairment ross on trade and other receivabres amounted to F29.7 milion
and P111.8 million as at December 31, 2O1g and 2017, respectively (see Note G). Management
believes that the allowance is sufficient to cover receivable balances which are specifically idintified
to be doubtful of collection.

The aggregate carrying amount of trade and other receivabres and advances to an associate andrelated companies amounted to p5,110.4 million and F4,771.6 million as at December 31, 2o1g
and 20L7 , respectively (see Notes O, 9 and 17).

Determining NRV ol Lond ond Deveropment costs ond porking Lots for sale. The Group writes downthe carrying value of rand and deveropment costs and paiking |ots for sare whenever the NRV
becomes lower than cost due to changes in market prices or olher causes. The NRV of projects
under construction is assessed with reference to market price at reporting date for simirar
completed property, less estimated costs to complete the construction and estimated costs to sell.
The carrying value is reviewed regularly for any decline in value.

The carrying value of land and development costs amounted to p 2,gog.0 million and
P3,805.6 million as at December 31, 201g and 2017, respectivery. parking rots for sare amounted to
P272.1 million and P135.8 miflion as at December 31 ,20L8 and 2oL7 , respectivery (see Note 7).

Assessing Equity securities Designdted os Fvocr (Formerry Crassified os AFs Finoncior Assets) Iorlmpdirment. The Group assesses equity securities designated as Fvocr (formerry crassified as
AFS financial assets) as impaired when there has been a silnificant or proronged decrine in the fair
value below its cost or whether other objective evidence oi impairment exists. The determination
of what is 'significant' or'proronged' requires judgment. The Group treats ,siBnificant, genera[y
as 20% or more of the original cost of investment, and ,prolonged, as period more than
12 months. ln addition, the Group evaluates other factors, including future cash flows and the
discount factors for unquoted equities.

The Group's equity securities desiSnated as FVoCI (formerly classified as AFS financial assets)
amounted to p31,036.1 milion and p30,054.3 milion as at December 3r, 2078 and 2077r,
respectively (see Note 10).

Estimoting Uselul Lives of Property ond Equipment. The Group estimates the useful lives of theproperty and equipment based on the period over which these assets are expected to be avairabre
for use. The estimated usefur rives are reviewed periodicaly and are updated if expectations differ
from previous estimates due to physicalwear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and
legal or other limits on the use of these assets, In addition, estimation of the usefur rivesisbased
on collective assessment of industry practice, internar technicar evaruation and experience with
similar assets. rt is possibre, however, that future resurts of operations courd be materia y
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affected by changes in estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above. The

;ffi15.Tj,:ffi?r:::::",0", expenses for any period i,o,io ou .n".t"a uy.r,.,e", l, ,r","

There is no change in the estimated-usefur rives of depreciabre property and equipment in 20L8,
191'-:ld 2016. The carrying varue of property .no 

"qrp,.,,"n, 
,rounted to p7o,774.8mirion andP1,832.3 million as at December31,201.8and2Ol.7, r.rpi.,r"j, tr"" Note 12).

Estimoting lmpoirment oJ Nonfinonciol Assers. The Group assesses impairment on nonfinancialassets whenever events or changes in circumstances inoicatelrrat the carrying amount of theseassets may not be recoverabre'. The factors that the Group considers important which courdtrigger an impairment review include the following:

' :::lltt* 
underperformance relative to expected historicar or projected future operating

' significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the strategy for overa,business; and,

. Significant negative industry or economic trends.

An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimatedrecoverable amount.

ln determining the present varue of estimated future cash frows expected to be generated fromthe continued use of the assets, the Group is requireJio ,rt" 
"r,,r.,"s and assumptions thatcan materially affect the consolidated financial staiements.

No impairment ross on nonfinanciar assets was recognized in 2or8,2or7 and 20r.6. The carryingamounts of nonfinancialassets are as follows:

Note 2018 20L7Other current assets*
lnvestment in an associate
Property and equipment
Other noncurrent assets**
' E xc I u d in g restr b teclidli_

8
9

1,2

13

P1,806,510

u326
1o,L74,872

P7,790,662

7L,326
L,832,348

224L4
,.Excluding noncurrent pottion oftrcde rcceivobles onct relundoble deposjts.

Determining Foir vorue of rnvestment propefties. The Group engaged an independent appraiser todetermine the fair varue of its investment properties. The fair va'iues of investment properties werebased on the varuation performed in 2org, zor7 ano zoro. 
-itre 

fair varues of the rand weredetermined using sares comparison and rand deveropm"nt ,ppro"atr. Sares comparison approachinvolves the com parison of the rand to thosu th"t .r" ,or. oiL_.rr',o..,"a within the vicinity of theappraised property and are subiect of recent sales and offerings. tf theru is limiteo aata *litrin itearea' the independent appraiser considers the expansion of th"e research on properties consideredcomparabre Adjustments were made to arrive at the mark"t uarue oy considering the rocation, size,shape' utirity, desirabirity and time erem-ent. L"no a"r"Lpr"nt .ppro..t is basicary a discountingprocess wherein the present worth of the potential value of the property as ,,raw,, land forsubdivision purposes may be estimated. The fair varue ot p.op"rti", herd for rease was determined
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using income capitalization approach which considers income and expense data relating to theproperty being varued and estimated it through capitarization process. capitarization reratesincome, usually a net income figure, and a defined varue type by converting an income amount into
a value estimate.

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair varues of investment properties
are discussed in Note 11.

6ain on fair value changes which was recognized in the consoridated statements of comprehensive
income amounted to F7,453.5 milion, p11,471.8 milion and p1o,oo7.1 milion in 20L8, 2oL7 and20L5, respectively. carrying values of investment properties amounted to p47,675.g million andP40,664.1 million as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Note 1L).

Determining Foir volue of propeny ond Equipment Meosured ot Revolued Amount. The Group
engaged an independent appraiser to determine the fair varue of its serviced residences andaircrafts. The fair varue of the serviced residences was determined by an independent .ppoL",
using income capitalization approach which considers income and expense data relating to theproperty being valued and estimated it through capitalization process. capitalization relates
income, usually a net income figure, and a defined varue type by converting an income amount intoavalueestimate. Thefairvarue of aircraftwas determined usingthe market data approach. Market
data approach involves gathering of cost data from originar im;ort commerciar invoices as we[ as
comparable sources of similar aircraft

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values of serviced residences
and aircrafts are discussed in Note 12.

The revaluation surplus recognized in the equity section of the consolidated statements of financialposition amounted top3,103.6 milion andp75.9 miIion as at December 31, 2018 and 20L7,respectively The aSSregate carrying value of serviced residences and aircraft carried at fair value
amounted to P9,786.3 million and p1,534.7 mi ion as at December 31, 20L8 and 2017, respectivelf
(see Note 12).

Determining Retirement Benefit costs. The determination of the Group,s obrigation and cost for
retirement benefits is dependent on the serection of certain assumptions used by actuaries in
calculating such amounts. Those assumptions are described in Note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Retirement expense amounted to pr.g.g milion, p6,4 milion and F7.5 milion in 201g, 2017 and20r.6, respectivery. Retirement riabirity amounted to p44.5 mirion and p24.5 milion as at
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Note 21).

Assessing Reolizobility of Deferred Tox Assets. The Group reviews its deferred tax assets at each
reporting date and reduces the carrying amount to the extent that it is no longer probable thatsufficient taxabre profit wi be avairabre to alow a[ or part of the deferredlax .rr",, ,o iuutilized There is no assurance that the Group will generate sufficient taxable profit to allow all orpart of its deferred tax assets to be utilized.
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Recognized deferred tax assets of the Group amounted to p6.7 million and F11i..5 million as at
December 31, 2018 and 2or7, respectively. unrecognized deferred tax assets amounted to
P310.4 million and P2L7 .2 million as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Note 22).
Management believes that it is not probable that sufficient taxable income will be available to
allow all these deferred tax assets to be utilized.

4. Joint Operation

2077

on June 30, 2008, AMPr and Bsp entered into a Joint venture Agreement to deverop the Marugay
Property into a first class commercial development to be known as Alphaland Makati plice
(the "Project") whereby Bsp shall contribute the Malugay property while AMpt shall contribute the
improvements (the "Development costs") and its exclusive right (the ,'Leasehold 

Rights,,) over the
Malugay Property, as well as to provide aI necessary funds, equipment, materiars, construction
works, expertise and related undertakings for the development of the project.

The Project consists of three high-end residential towers atop an upscale six-storey podium, the
bottom half of which is a shopping center and the top half a city club for urban sports and leisure.
The Proiect also includes a Boy scout convention center as provided in the Joint venture
Agreement.

AMPI and BsP agreed to share at 8s% and 7s%, respectively, of the total gross floor area of
completed and disposable units in the pro,ect. The g5% share of AMpt shall include The city club
and the 15% share of BsP shall include the Boy scout convention center. As provided in the Joint
venture Agreement, AMPI shall submit progress reports of the development works in the project on
a regular basis to BSP.

on June 2, 2011, BsP sold the Malugay property to AMpt for a total consideration of p6oo.o million.
The amount of consideration paid to Bsp was then contributed by Bsp to the development of the
Project. The Leasehold Right was effectively terminated when AMpl acquired the land from BSp in
June 2011. Despite the sale, the Joint venture remained and the partners continued the
85:15 sharing scheme. The partners have amended the Joint venture Agreement accordingly.

The Group accounts for the joint venture arrangement as a joint operation. As at December 31,
2018 and 20L7, the Group recognized its share in the development costs of the project (excluding
the costs related to the City Club - see Note 7) in the following accounts:

(tn Thousands)
Note 2018

Land and development costs and parking
lots for sale 7

11

F498,133
lnvestment

P2,656,792
lr,763,279

on september 8, 2015, the Parties executed a supplement to the Joint venture Agreement. The
supplement expressly enumerates the specific units in the Project that constitute the BSp Share
with respect to the Podium, Tower 1, Tower 2 and parking slots. The supplement further provides
that the BSP Share in Tower 3 shall be determined in another Supplement.
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5. Cash and Cash Equivalents

This account consists of:

(ln Thousands)

_ 2018 2OL?
Cash on hand and in banksili;;;;,.;il.;,". P105,888 P2os,38'- - -- 3.269 rn rr.r

P110,157 F215,593

Cash in banks earn interest at prevailing bank deposit rates.

Short-term placements are made.for varying periods of up to three months, depending on the

il}.*ffii;l requirements of the Group ani earn intereit ,.insing fro,n r.osv. to t.iiin zo.ii,

Sources of interest income recognized by the Group are as follows (see Note 19):

Note 201-7 201,5Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
ln-house financing
Restricted cash

6

7

8

Pt2,497
1,998
r,593

951

P4,t73
5,358
7 ,705

518

F7,345
9,490
8,381

4t9

6. Trade and Other ReceivibiE

This account consists of:

N ote 2018 201,7Trade receivables from:
Sale of real estate
Air transport services
Sale of club shares
Tenants

Nontrade
Contract assets
Others

10

18

P990,218
334,2L4
55,145
88,075

797 ,728
2L7,6L0

Pt,752,595
207 ,9L2
81,690
33,95s
8,796

47 20,402
2,530,001 2,105,350

Less allowance for impairment losses
71,L,846

P1,993,504

Receivables from sare of rear estate and crub shares have terms ranging from one to three years.Noncurrent portion of these receivabres are presented unde, "oit e, noncurrent assets,, account inthe consolidated statements of financiar porition 1r"" trtote r:I amortization of interest on thesereceivables amounting to p2.o million, p5.4 million and pg.5 million in 207g, 2017 ;; ;;;;,respectively (see Note 5).
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The Group entered into memorandum of agreement with BDO whereby the Group assigns, withrecourse, its insta,ment contract receivabrei from the.rr" J-trgr" rog homes covered by crs.The Group retains the balance of .rrigr"a ,."."iuJf*'"J ,*"r0, the proceeds from theseassignments as bank roans. As at December 31, zors, ii.li" r"*rvlbres and contract assets assignedamounted to p528.8 million and p39.2 mitlon, iespeAivelrlr"" ,"," ,rl.

:;T1?;,"1.", 
air transport services are unsecured, noninterest-bearing and are due and

Receivables from tenants are noninterest-bearing and are generally on a 3O_day term.
contract assets are recrassified to trade receivabres upon compretion ofthe performance obrigation.
Nontrade receivabres mainry pertain.to advances to third parties, officers and emproyees. Advancesto third parties are unsecured, noninterest-bearinc 

""J ".i'c";*",ry corectibre within one year.Advances to officers and emproyees are noninterest-bearing an-d aie suoject to riquidation.

other receivabres mainry consist of sss craims and other receivabres.

Allowance for impairment rosses pertain to receivabres from severar ressees of AST, and unit buyersot AMPI that are at least 90 days past due.

Movements of allowance for impairment losses are as follows:

Balance at beginning ot fiai 2076

Reversal of impairment loss
Changes on initial application

of PFRS 9
Provisions

P111,845
(104,609)

77,993

P39,906 P5,852

Balance at end of 34940

Reversar of impairment ross in 201g pertains to forfeited sares of AMpr condominium unit, parkinglots and AFS financiar assets wi*r. rerated ."r,r .r"r"o"g"' to F 171.5 mirion, p 13.4 mirionand P2.8 million, respectively (see Notes 7 and 1O), As a r'esuh of the forfeiture, the Grouprecognized loss on forfeited sales amounting to p104.6 million (r""-ruotu Z).

ln addition to the above write-offof arowance for impairment rosses, the Group wrote-off trade andother receivables amounting to p6.9 million in 2016 (see N",.'rOi--'
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7. Land and Development Costs and parking Lot, fot.Sul"

This account consists of the following:

20L8 20t7
Land and development costs:

Alphaland Baguio Mountain Lodges p2,t43,236 pL,050,767
Balesin Private Villa
Atphaland Makati prace 438'77L 234'8L6

parking lots for sal e 
225'988 2'521'042

- )'r) lAR 12c 1c^

,1,40 P3,942,375

Alphaland Bacuio Mountain Lodses
Movements in land and deveropment costs pertaining to the Arpharand Baguio Mountain LodgesProject are as follows:

201,7
Balance at beginning of year
Transfers
Additions:

Development costs
Capitalized borrowing costs

11
F1,050,757

653,310

6L5,277
122,644

P480,143
220,31.1

788,563
49,868

488,7L8
Pr,050,767

Cost of real estate sold
Balance at end of

The Alphaland BaBuio Mountain Lodges Project pertains to 16.8 hectares of land situated in Benguet
that is currently being developed as horizontal condominium for sale.

ln 2016, due to management's decision to deverop the property as horizontar condominium for sare,
13.1.. hectares of the property, was reclassified from ,,lnvestment properties,, to ,,Land 

and
development costs." rn 2018 and 2017, additionar 7.7 hectares and 3.7 hectares, respectively, were
reclassified to this account (see Note L1).

As at December 31', 20L8, capitarized depreciation expense incruded as part of deveropment costs
amounted to F4.8 million (see Note L2).

on october 25,2ot8, the Housing and Land use Reguratory Board (HLURB) issued a ricense to sefor Alphaland Baguio Mountain Lodges project which is valid not later than october 2019, the
completion of the approved development plan.

--(ln 

Thousands)



Balesin Private Villa
Movements in land and development costs
follows:
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pertaining to the Balesin private Villa project are as

- 

Note ----r6#-r--dl-uoroILCj d( uegtttntn!, or vpBalance at beginning oi[ii
Additions:

Development costs
Cancelled sale
Capitalized borrowing costs

Cost of real estate sold
Transfers

15

20
11

7234,816

3O5,22A
57,222
23,313

(181,808)

P-

194,380

5,242

i.71.,8L4)

Balance at end of 107,008

P234,876

ffi:"T:;.:r:fi:JJj]#,::H::r4 
4 hectares or rand situated in Baresin rsrand that is currentry

ln 2017, due to the commencement of development on the property with a view to sell, the

[:'ii:tw1as 
reclassified from "lnvestment prop".tr"r"'ii'"Land 'and 

d"""r;;;;';;;;;

ln 2018' the Group cance,ed a sare w.ith rerated cost amounting top57.2 mirion and a ross oncancellation amounting to p92.8 mirion ,.r .".;;;;;;-in "tn" 
.onrotiorted statements ofcomprehensive income under ,,Other gains (losses),, ..;;r* 

"' '

Alohaland Makati place

l:rr,;;I"*r 
in tand and devetopment costs pertaining to the Atphatand Makati ptace proiect are as

Balance at beginninCjf yeal.
Transfers to:

Property and equipment
lnvestment properties

Cost of real estate sold
Additions:

Forfeited sales
Development costs

ed
Bala nce at end of

72

11

20

?2,527,042

(2,115,863)

(3s0,734)

17L,543

P22S

P4,803,547

l.2,42s,3531
(2s7,833)

388,754
11,,927

P2,527,042

Thousands)

The Alphaland Makati Place Proiect, whlch is a joint venture with Bsp (see Note 4), is located on aone-hectare rot arong Ayara Avenue Extension .orn"r rrr"rrc.v si;eet, Makati city. Arpharand MakatiPlace consists of three residentiar.towers atop . ,irotor"yioai*i'.o,np.,r,ng of a shopping centerand the city club for sports and leisure (see r,rot" rrl. io*"ir-i.'nd z *"ru .orpleted in 2016 whileTower 3 was completed in 2017.
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Project cost classified as land and deveropment costs pertains to the Group,s proportionate interest
in the three residentiar towers of Arphaland Makati prace that are intended for sare. rn 2or7, rhe
Group changed its intention to lease Tower 3 to third parties instead of selling it as a condominium
unit. Accordingly, cost ofTower 3 was reclassified to,,lnvestment properties,, (see Note 11).

ln May 2018, AMP| started its serviced residences operation under "The Arpha suites.,, A number of
condominium units of AMPI were utilized for its serviced residences. Accordingly, the costs of these
units were transferred to "property and equipment,, account (see Note L2).

The Group started the pre-selling of condominium units in october 2ol1 tor Tower L and in
November 2013 fot Tower 2. The terms and conditions of the crs invorve the sare of one
condominium unit and one city crub share, i.e., a preferred share of TCCAMpT, in which o*n"rJip
of the condominium unit and the city crub share are inseparabre. under the crs, the components
are sold under a singre seling price with downpayment payabre upon signing of the crs and the
unpaid balance payabre in monthry instalments for a period of three yeai from uate of crs.
ownership of the city club share will allow the buyer to en.ioy the amenities and facilities of the city
Clu b.

The Housing and Land use Regulatory Board issued the permanent License to sell (LTS) to AMpr for
the sale of condominium units in Tower 1 of Alphaland Makati place on october 9, 2012 and for the
sale of condominium units in Tower 2 on May 27 ,20!4.

As discussed in Note 4, on September g, 2015, the parties executed a Supplement to the Joint
venture ASreement enumerating the specific units in the Project that constitute the BSp Share with
respect to the Podium, Tower 1, Tower 2 and parking Slots.

AMPI received deposits from the sale of real estate. As at December 3i., 2018 and 2017, the current
portion amounting to F 13.0 mirrion and p 91.4 miflion, respectivery, were presented under
"Trade and other payables" account (see Note 14) and the noncurrent portion amounting to
P7.1 million as at December 31, 2018 and 20r.7 were presented under,,other noncurrent riabirities,,
account in the consolidated statements of financial position.

ln 2018, the Group forfeited a sale with
forfeiture amounting to p 104.6 million
comprehensive income (see Note 6).

related cost amounting to p171.5 million and a loss on
was recognized in the consolidated statements of

Parkins Lots for Sale
Movements in parking lots for sale are as follows:

Note 2018 2017
Balance at beginning of year
Purchases

Cost of real estate sold

F135,750
150,998
(28,0s0)

PL5L,725

(1s,975)

ln May 2016, AMPI started to sell condominium units and parking lots under in-house financing
arrangement at 5% down payment, payable monthly over a maximum of 10 years with interest rate
at 8% per annu m.

Additions due to forfeited sales
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As at December 31, 2018, AMpr sord 209 and 226 condominium units and parking rots, respectivery.
lnterest earned from rear estate sares under in-house financing amounting to p1.5 milion,
P7.7 million and F8.4 million in 2OLB, 2OL7 and 2016, respectively (see Note 5).

8. Other Current Assets

This account consists of:

(tn Thousands)
Note 201,7

lnput VAT
Advances to contractors and suppliers
Restricted cash
CWT

Supplies
Prepayments
Deferred rent

7832,1t4
558,451
342,944
248,641
7L,416
52,832

P94L,752
611,165

1.,183

L27 ,837
52,263
28,326
29.3L9

lnput VAT
lnput vAT arises from the acquisition of land and payments to suppliers and contractors for the
acquisition of goods and development of the Group,s projects.

Advances to Contractors and Suppliers
Advances to contractors and suppliers represent advance payments to contractors for the
construction and development of the Group's projects and are recouped upon every progress billing
payment depending on the percentage of accomplishment. Advances to contractors and suppliers,
relating to the portion of the project that is classified as investment property and to advance
payments that will be appried against future bi[ings beyond 12 months from the reporting date,
amounting to P1.8 million and p138.4 million as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, are
presented under "other noncurrent assets" account in the consolidated statements of financial
position (see Note 13).

Preoavments
Prepayments include prepaid rent, insurance and commissioning fees.

Restricted Cash
Details of restricted cash are as follows:

2018 2077
Debt service reserve account (DSRA)

Escrow - license to sell
Escrow - environmental funds

F378,834
2,917

P-

193

P382,9M P1,183

2018

26
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Escrow - license to sell represents cash deposited with sterring Bank of Asia, rnc., pursuant to the
license to sell issued by HLURB to ABMLHT in reration to the compretion of Arpharand Baguio
Mountain Lodges project (see Note 7).

Escrow - environmental funds represent cash deposited with phirippine Bank of communications
(PBCom), pursuant to the Environmental Compliance Certificate issued to ABIRC relating to the
rehabilitation of the project-affected area throughout the construction and maintenanc; of the
lsland club. The funds shall be replenished annually or whenever the amount goes below 50% of the
initial deposit.

under the oLsA, Asrl, AMP|, ABrRc (co[ectivery, the Borrowers) are required to maintain a DSRA for
the security of interest and/or principal repayments to the renders. The Borrowers are required to
deposit cash to the DSRA equivalent to the upcoming interest and/or principal repayment
(see Note 15). As discussed in Note 1, the oLsA with the lenders was preterminated and refinanced
through BDO to finance new projects and working capital requirements ofthe Group.

lnterest income earned from restricted cash amounted to pi..o million, po.5 million and po.4 million
in 2018,20L7 and 2016, respectively (see Note 5).

9. lnvestment in and Advances to an Associate

This account consists of:

(ln Thousands)

201,7
lnvestment in an associate F 1r.,326 PLL,326
Advances to an associate L7 1,023 1,023

Details of investment in an associate are as follows:

(tn Thousands)

201,7
Acquisition costs:

Balance at beginning of year
Reclassification

F50,000 58,000

Balance at end of vear, , 50,000 s0,000
Accumulated equity in net loss:

Balance at beginning of year
Equity in net income during the year

(38,674) (38,043)

1,381

lnvestment in an associate comprises of a 50% interest in AHEC whose principal activity involves sale
and lease of heavy equipment as at December 31, 2O1g and 2017.

Reclassification

Ba lance at end of

2018
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AHEC

on April 5, 2013, the BoD of AHEC approved a resorution to shorten the corporate rife of AHE6 to
four years. As at December 31, 2018, AHEC's liquidation is still in progress. The remaining carrying
amount represents the Group's share in the residual net assets of AHEC.

ASAI

ALPHA initially subscribed to 79,999 common shares of AsAl representing 40% of its outstanding
shares in March 2011, which was then accounted for as an associate. ln october 2017, ALPHA
purchased additional 79,999 from an existing shareholder forpl.L.2 million increasing ALpHA,s
ownership to 80%.

Condensed financial information of the associate prepared on the historical basis of accounting are
as follows:

(tn Thousands)

2018 2077
Current assets
Current liabilities
Net equity

?46,532 F46,532
23,888
22,644

2 3,888
22,644

2018 20L620L7*
Revenue

Costs and
P- Pt2,042 P72,547

1.5,37
Net income P4,77 6 P2,824
.hcluding ASAIup to Octobet 2017.

The Group has not incurred any contingent liabilities in relation to its investment in AHEC nor does
the associate itself has any contingent liabilities for which the Group is contingently liable as at
December 31, 2018 and 2017.

The Group has not entered into any capital commitments in relation to its investment in AHEC and
did not receive any dividends from the associate in 2OIg,2OL7 and 2016.

10. Equity Securities Designated as FVOCI (Formerly Classified as AFS Financial Assets)

This account consists of:

(ln Thousands)
2018 20L7

U nquoted Clubs' preferred shares:
ABICI ?25,379,585 P24,487,268
TCCAMPT 5,5s6,sOO 5,583,000

P30,064.268
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The rollforward analysis ofthe account are as follows:

(tn Thousands)
Note 2017

Balance at beginning of year
Fair value adjustments
Sale of Equity securities designated as FVOCT

(formerly classified as AFS financial
assets)

Additional subscriptions
Additions due to forfeited sales

P30,064,268
1,084,338

(218,711)
103,400

790

P30,257,222

58,146

(2s1,500)

400

Current F1,065,311 p985,811
Noncunent 2g,g7o,774 29,01g,4s7

P30,064,268

The preferred shares herd by the Group are not required to gain contror of the crubs and are
intended to be disposed of over time to thlrd parties. The preferred shareholders are entitled to
name one nominee per share to become a member and avail of the amenities and facilities of the
clubs, unless as otherwise required by appricabre laws. They are not entitred to vote and be voted
for in all meetings ofthe sharehorders ofthe crubs. The preferred shares have preference overthe
issuer's common shares in the distribution of assets in case of dissolution and liquidation.

The cost of the Group's investments in the preferred shares of ABrcr and TCCAMpT includes the cash
consideration and the cost incurred and to complete the Clubs,facilities.

a. ABICI

on February r0,zoLL, ALPHA, ABrRc and ABrcr entered into a Development ABreement (DA) for
the development and construction of a resort club (the "lsland club,,). lt is agreed that ABIRc
will develop and construct the tsland club with ALPHA extending any financinj required for the
completion of the rsland crub and its amenities in exchange for the ABrcr shaies. ABrcr agrees
that the excess of the construction costs over the par value of the shares issued by ABlcl sh;ll be
treated as additional paid-in capital. Furthermore, it was clarified that the ownership of the
lsland club, its facilities and amenities will be transferred to ABrcl as cost is incurred.

on February 24, 2011, the philippine sEc approved ABrcr's ReBistration statement on the rsrand
club offer shares for the primary offering of 39i. of its class "B" preferred shares and secondary
offering of its 3,519 crass "8" preferred shares (offer shares or Tranche 1). rn 2013, the sEC
approved ABlcl's Amended Registration statement to increase its offer price from p2,000,000
per share to P3,000,000 per share. ABrct filed in 2013 a second Amended Registration
statement to further increase its offer price to p5,oo0,ooo, which is still subject for aplroval by
the SEC as at December 31, 2018.

ln 2012, ABIRc subscribed to additional class "8" preferred shares of ABlcl totaling 3,090 shares.
As a consideration for the additional acquisitions of ABICI preferred shares, ABIRC entered into a
supplemental DA with ABtcl in June 2012 increasing its obligation to complete the tsland club,s
facilities. By virtue of these add itiona I subscriptions, ABIRC transferred investment propertiesto
ABICI amounting to F453.3 million.

Balance at end of



-42-

On November 12, 2O!2, the shareholders of ABICI approved an amendment to the ABlCl,s
.snarlno]le1 structure whereby the additionar 3,090 shares with par varue of Floo were spritinto 6,180 shares (Tranche 2) with a par varue of pso per share. As a resurt, ABrRc,s subscription
to the above 3,090 shares was converted to 6,1g0 shares. on January 3L,2oL3,the stock sprit
was approved by the SEC.

!1 fanual 5, 2017, the sEc approved the increase in authorized capitar stock of ABrcr fromP2.1 million divided into 14,OOO common shares with par value FlOO per share, and10,090 Class "B" preferred shares divided further into 3,910 Class ,,8_1,,preferred 
shares withpar value of P100 a share and 6,190 crass "B-2" preferred shares with par varue of pso a share toP3.0 million divided into 2O,OOO common shares with par value of p100 per share, and 15,000

class "8" preferred shares divided.further into 2,ooo crass "8-L" preferred shares with p.r r.rr"ofF100 per share, 12,OOO Class ,,8-2. preferred shares with par value ofp50 per share, and1,000 Class "B-3" preferred shares with par value of p2O0 per share.

On May 31, 2017, ABTRC subscribed to additional 2,000 Class ,,8_2,, ptete*ed shares and1,000 Class "B-3" (Tranche 3) preferred shares at a subscription price of pi.OO per share and
P200 per share, respectively, or an aggregate amount of pO.4 million.

ln April 2013, ABrcr and ABtRc executed a Letter Agreement wherein the parties agreed that thedifference between the budget under the supprementary DA and the actual construction costsincurred wirr be treated as advances to ABrcr. Advances to ABrcr rerated to this agreement
amounted to pr,575 5 mi[ion as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 (see Note 17). rn 2015, ABrcr
already financed its own construction in the lsland Club

ABlcl's Tranche l and rranche 2 preferred shares entitre the horder for 14 and 7 free vi[a night
stay in the lsland Club, respectively.

The fair values of unsold shares as at December 31, 2O1g and 2OL7 are as follows:

2018 2017
Number of

Shares Amount*
Number of

Shares Amount*
Tranche L

Tranche 2

Tranche 3

7tL
11,966

P3,199,500
22,779,885

200

754
12,000

1,000

P3,016,000
27,465,068

200

TCCAMPI

ln October 2010, ASTI, AMpl and TCCAMP| entered into a DA for the development andconstruction of a city crub in Arpharand Makati prace. rt is agreed that AST. and/or AMpr widevelop and construct the city crub with AMpr extendini any financing required for its
completion and amenities in exchange for the TCCAMpI shares.

On December 9, 2010, the SEC approved TCCAMpl,s registration of an aggregate of5,000 preferred shares, with issue price ofplOO per share, comprising of 500 shares to be
offered by way of primary offering and 4,500 shares by way of secondary offering.
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ln December 2010, ASTI, AMPI and TCCAMPT entered into a Supplemental DA to clarify that
under the DA, it is AMPI who has the primary obligation to develop and construct the city club.
Moreover, it was clarified that, in consideration for the City Club's construction, TCCAMpI agrees
to convert any and all advances provided by ASTI and AMPI to additional paid-in capital as cost
is incurred. Furthermore, it was clarified that the ownership of the City Club, its facilities and
amenities will be transferred to TCCAMPI as cost is incurred.

The City Club was fully completed in January 2014.

AMPI's AFS financial assets are marked to market using the fair value of P1.5 million per share as
at December 31,201.8 and 2017. There are3,777 and 3,722 unsold shares as at December 31,
2018 and 2017, respectively. As at December 31, 2018 and 20j.7, the fair value of unsold shares
amounted to P5,656.5 million and P5,583.0 million, respectively.

Unrealized Valuation Gain on AFS FinancialAssets
The Group's AFS financial assets is marked to market using the fair value equivalent to the cash
selling price of a recent sale to the public for the unquoted preferred shares.

Movements in the unrealized gain on AFS financial assets, net of related tax effect, are as follows:

{ln Thousands)

2018 2077
Balance at beginning of year

Effect of change in tax rate
Unrealized valuation gain

Reclassification adjustments

?23,432,497
(1,301,805)

921,647
(160,701)

F23,s7 4,600 
_

s2,331
(194,434)

P23,432,497

On December L9, 20t7, a new tax reform law, Tax Reform for Acceleration and lnclusion (TRAIN),

was approved which provides amendments to several provisions of National lnternal Revenue Code
of 1997 (NIRC of 1997). This will be effective beginning January 1, 20L8. Capital gains tax (CGT)

from sale of shares of stock not traded in local stock exchange is amended from 5% on the first
P0.1 million and 10% in excess thereof based on NIRC of 1.997 to a flat rate of 15% on TRAIN.

On various dates in 2018, AMPI and ABIRC sold 33 and 51 shares, respectively, with fair values
aggregating P218.7 million at respective dates of disposal in response to liquidity requirements. The
cumulative net gain on disposal amounting to P189.1 million, gross of tax effect, was directly
reclassified to retained earninBs in 2018. Gain on sale of AFS financial assets amounting to
P123.2 million and F108.5 million in 2017 and 2016, respectively, were presented in profit or loss.

Receivable arisin8 from the sale of AFS financial assets amounted to P62.7 million and F89,2 million
as at December 3L, 2018 and 20L7, respectively (see Notes 6 and 13). No dividends were
recognized in 2018,20L7 and 2015.

As at December 31, 20L8 and 2017, deposits received from buyers of club shares amounting to
P380.3 million and P239.2 million, respectively, were presented under "Trade and other payables"
account in the consolidated statements of financial position (see Note 14).

Balance at end ofyear 222,89L,678
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11. lnvestment Propenies

Movements in this account are as follows:

(tn Thousands)
Note 2074 2011

Balance at beginning of year
Fair value change
Additions:

Capital expenditures
Purchases
Capitalized borrowing costs

Transfers from (to):
Land and development cost
Property and equipment

Rescission of:
Disposal
Sale

F40,654,073
7,453,516

177,096
31,681

(653,310)

|'2,244l.

5,000

?27,297,299
|J,,477,819

72,634
20,825

4,21,2

2,O98,O34

lrs,4771

\21,6,279r.

7

1,2

lnvestments carried at fair value consist of the following:

(ln Thousands)

201,7
Alphaland Southgate Tower
Alphaland Balesin lsland Propefi
Alphaland Makati Place:

Tower 3

Podium
Patnangunan Property

F11,463,356
9,556,450

s,672,O92
3,s48,381
5,286,260
4,744,557
4,380,012

P10,1L4,716
8,3s5,753

8,2t4,898
3,s48,381
7,772,458
4,443,752
4,200,oLL

L4,704

Baguio Property
Silang Property
Atimona n 704

72

Alphaland Southtate Tower
ln January 2008, Asrl acquired from south china Resources, lnc. and the puyat family two parcels of
land measuring a total of 9,497 square meters, more or less, at the corner of EDSA and chino Roces
Avenue in Makati city together with the existing improvements thereon. The property is now a fully
developed and operational 2o-storey office tower building with a 6-storey podium known as
Alphaland southgate Tower. lt was declared an lnformation Technology zone on January 12, 2oo9
by the Philippine Economic zone Authority, pursuant to presidential proclamation No. 1692 dated
December 22, 2008.

Rent income from Alphaland Southgate Tower including common utilities, services and maintenance
charges amounted toP779.8 million, F740.3 million and F624.6 million in zor8, 2or7 and 2016,
respectively. Direct costs related to rent income amounted to p196.7 million, pi.79.1 million and
P111.3 million in 2018,20L7 and 2016, respectively, which mainly comprised of utilities and
commissary costs (see Note 18).

2018
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The property currently secures the long-term loan facility of ALpHA under oLSA with BDo
(see Note 15). The same property was used to secure the long-term debt of AsTl which was settled
in 2017 ,

As discussed in Note 1, AsI is currently in negotiations with a third party for the sale of Alphaland
Southgate Tower. However, as at January 29 2019, there is no definitive agreement regarding the
sale. The sale is conditioned on obtaining relevant regulatory clearances.

Alphaland Balesin lsland propertv
ABIRC acquired approximately 394 hectares of land in Balesin lsland, polillo, euezon. Additional
12 hectares were also acquired via land-for-share swaps with existing Balesin lsland landowners.
This brings the total land ownership to 406 hectares. of this totar, approximately 9g hectares in
2077 and 2016 were committed for transfer to ABlcl (see Note 1o). The transfer of certificates of
title is currently being processed.

certain lots and improvements in Balesin lsland currently secure the long-term loan facility of ALpHA
under oLsA with BDo. The same rots secure the roans payabre obtained by ABrRc on May 21, 2013
and March 29, 2012 which were settled in 2017 (see Note t 5).

ln 2017, ABIRc started the development of certain portions of its land for sare. Accordingry, these
portions were reclassified to "Land and development costs,, account {see Note 7).

Alohaland Makati Place
This represents the Podium and rower 3 at the Arpharand Makati prace. The podium is currently
operated as a mall and is for lease to third parties (see Notes 4 and 7). rn 2017, the Group
reclassified rower 3 from "Land and development costs" to "lnvestment property,, account due to
change in intention over the property from condominium units for sale to a property held for
leasing The change in management's intention was evidenced by actuar change in the use of
property (see Note 7).

Rent income earned from Alphaland Makati place amounted to p393.9 million, p94.5 million and
P71.4 million in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Direct costs related to rent income amounted to
P42.5 million, F13.7 million and pi.0.3 million in 2oLg,2077 and 2016, respectively, which mainly
comprised of utilities and commissary costs (see Note 1g).

The property currently secures the long-term loan facility of ALPHA under oLSA with BDo
(see Note 15). The property, incruding the project cost crassified as rand and deveropment costs
(see Note 7), used to secure the long-term debt obtained by AMpr which was settled in 20L7 (see
Note 15).

Patnanunsan Propertv
ln 2016 and 2015, the Group acquired parcels of rand aggregating approximately 3g5.6 hectares and
325.3 hectares of land, respectively, in patnanungan, euezon. This brings the total land ownership
to 711-.0 hectares, more or less, which is reserved for future development.

ln December 2017, the Group sord 2.0 hectares to Red sun capitar Hordings corporation for
F8.0 million, resulting to a gain amounting to p2.1 million. The contract to sell was rescinded in
20r.8.

ln December 2018, the Group acquired 42.2 hectares with a carrying amount of p3i..7 million. This
brings the total land ownership to 753.2 hectares.
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Baguio Propertv
This consists of parcels of land and related transaction costs acquired by the Group (through a
wholly-owned subsidiary) from various sellers in July 2015. The beneficial owner of the entire
property is RVO, the majority shareholder and chairman of ALPHA.

These parcels of land, measuring approximately 73.4 hectares as of the end of 2015, of rolling
terrains are situated in ltogon, Benguet, just ten minutes from Baguio City by land. RVO likewise
transferred to the Group rights to another 2.9 hectares of land to complete the total area at
75.3 hectares. The Group is developing the property into the Alphaland Baguio Mountain Lodges.

The fair value of the property based on an independent appraiser's report dated October 22, 2018,
November 10, 2017 and December 2, 2076 is at P9,000 per square meter or a total of F4.7 billion,
F7,353 per square meter or a total ofP4.4 billion and F5,900 per square meter or a total of
P3.5 billion, respectively.

The Group acquired the property in 2015 at its zonal value, or a total acquisition cost of
P106.0 million, which is substantially below the appraised value. As a consideration to RVO for
having sold the property at its zonalvalue, RVO shall have a 15% interest in the project without need
of any further investment or equity infusion. The Group will shoulder all development costs
required for the project.

ln 2016, due to management's decision to develop the property as a horizontal condominium for
sale, 13.1 hectare of the property was reclassified to land and development costs. Additional
7.7 hectares and 3.7 hectares were reclassified to land and development costs in 2018 and 2077,
respectively (see Note 7).

ln 2017, the Group started the development for the initial phase of the project and the Group also
acquired additional land, measuring 4.2 hectares. The total land area of the property approximates
77.5 hectares as at December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Silanq Propertv
ASTI'S three parcels of land in Silang, Cavite, measuring a total of 300,000 square meters, more or
less, is reserved for future development. The property currently secures the long-term loan facility
of ALPHA under OLSA with BDO (see Note 15).

Atimonan Propertv
ABIRC'S land in Atimonan, Quezon Province, measuring a total of 21,005 square meters, more or
less, is reserved for future development.

The fair value of the investment properties as at December 31, 2015 is based on valuations
performed by accredited independent appraisers. As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, the
management evaluated that the carrying value of the investment property approximates the fair
value as at reporting date since there were no significant changes in the condition of this property
and economic environment between those dates.

PAGCOR CiW Propertv
ln December 2015, the Group (through a wholly-owned subsidiary) acquired PAGCOR City Property
at its zonal value of P50,000 per square meter or a total ofP198.9 million. However, on
January 11,2017, the parties agreed to rescind the purchase whereby the Group returned and
delivered to the Seller the titles to, and all other rights over the property. ln turn, the Seller
returned the full Purchase Price ofthe Property and other costs to the Group.
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The description of the varuation techniques used and key inputs to fair varuation are as folows:

lncome Capitalization Approach

Stabilized net operating

2018 2017
Alphaland Southgate Tower
Alphaland Makati place:

Tower 3**
Podium

F575,169 P542,4'79

458,026
67,968

5.00%

5.00%
2.OO%

5.39%

5.00%
2.00%

509,911
67

'.Reclossilied lrcm "Lond ond development costs', occount in 2017.

The si8nificant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement categorized within Level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy of the entity,s portfolios of investment properties are:

' stobilized Nolr carcuration used to identify performance of an investment property that
produces stable income.

' cdpitalizqtion rore: rate used to estimate the potentiar return ofthe investment property.

lncome capitalization approach is a comparative approach, which considers income and expense
data relating to the property being varued and estimated it through a capitarization process.
capitalization relates income and a defined varue type by converting an income amount into a varue
estimate. This process may consider direct rerationships (known as capitarization rates), yierd or
discount rates (reflecting measures of return on investment), or both.

Sensitivity Anqlysis. Generclly, an increase (decrease) in stabilized Nol will result in an increase
(decrease) to the fa ir va lue of investment property. An increase (decrease) in the capitalization rate
will result in a decrease (increase) to the fair varue of an investment property. The capitarization
rate magnifies the effect of a change in stabilized Nol, with a lower capitalization rate resulting in a
greater impact of a change in stabilized NOI than a higher capitalization rate.

Maaket Data AoDroach

Class of
Unobservable I

Alphaland Balesin
lsland

Atimonan

Patnanungan

Land price per square meter
Value adiustments (for development)

Land Price per square meter
Value adjustments

F1,500-F9,615
ta9yo-339%

F1,200-F3,600
4oy-aoy.

F1,000
30v.

F950-F7,000
190yt272y6

F1,200-F3,600
40%80yo

P400-P950

5%-35%

Land Price per square meter
Value adjustments

The significant unobservable inputs to fair valuation are as follows:

Price per squore meter: estimated value prevailing in the real estate
location, area, shape and time element.

market depending on the

income (NOt)*

2018
Capitalization rate

Range



_48-

volue odjustments. adjustments are made to bring the comparative varues in approximation to theinvestment properties taking into account external factori (market conditions, .orp"titiu"r"ir,
economic condition/demand/growth, time erement) and internar factors (tocation, 

' 
size/sna pej

terrain and development).

ln valuing the land using sares comparison approach, records of recent sares and offerings of simirar
land are analyzed and comparisons were made for such factors as size, characteristic of the rot,location, quality and prospective use.

Sensitivity Anolysis. The following factors were considered in determining the market value of thesubject property:

. property location and neighborhood data
o present use ofthe propeny is either commercial/residential/agricultu ral
' quantitative market varue ad.,ustments based on externar and internar factorsr hithest and best use (commerciar and residential buirding/resort and its aried deveropment)

significant increase (decrease) in price per square meter wourd resurt in a significantry higher (rower)
fair value measurement. significant increase (decrease) in varue adjustments wourd resurt in alower (higher) fair value measurement.

Land Development ApDroach

December 31,2018
Unobservable

Period of land development and selling program
Administrative/marketing cost
lnterest rate selected for discounting
Developer's profit
Proposed selling price

Calculated no. of subdivision lot
Land value/annual increment of land value

5 years
7% of gross sales

t4%
20% of development cost

P4s,000 - F55,000

320lots
25%

5 - 6 years
12% of gross sales

t2%
20% of development cost

F18,000 - P25,400

175 - 486 lots
tooa_zo%

Unobservable
Period of land development and selling program
Administrative/marketing cost
lnterest rate selected for discountinB
Developer's profit
Proposed selling price

Calculated no. of subdivision lot
Land value/annual increment of land value

20% of development cost 20% of development cost

5 years
7% of gross sales

14%

P40,000 - P50,000

320lots
25o/6

5 - 6 years
12% of gross sales

F18,000 - P26,400

175 - 486lots
70%-20%

using the land development approach, the properties are treated as mixed_used subdivision
development and the gross sares that may be expected from the proposed sareabre rots are then
estimated in accordance with the prevairing prices of comparabre deveropment subdivision rots
within the immediate vicinity. overhead and sares expenses, and deveroper,s profit, the residuar
sales income is then attributed to the.,raw,, land value.

December 31.2017
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The valuation process consists of the following:

o Preparation of a subdivision study in accordance with the highest and best use concept
(i.e. reside ntia I su bdivis ion development) ofthe land;

. Establishment of total revenue or proceeds of sales of subdivision lots on the basis of what
ready-to-build sites in similar subdivisions are selling;

. Determination of development costs consisting of clearing and grading, survey, tilting services,
construction of access roads, roadways, curbs and gutters, sewerage and drainage system,
water supply and electrical distribution, rip-rapping and supervision and other contingency
items considering current prices for construction materials, labor, contractor,s profit and
overhead expenses;

. Estimation of overhead and sales expenses such as broker's commissions, promotion and
advertisement, administrative and collection, taxes and miscellaneous expenses.

Sensitivity Analysrs. Significant increase (decrease) in land value, proposed selling price and
calculated no. of lots would result in a significantly higher (lower) fair value measurement.
significant increase (decrease) in administrative and marketing costs and developer's profit would
result in a lower (higher) fair value measurement.



E

!
r

E

.;

z
.E

6E

,9E

E6o

E.E:

!Et
E; P

!

d ll t<r trFA
oi .,i

,9

,6

!

.l

,g

cEoY
;6 9tl
! -9s,!e.::!"ErE
9{6rE:3;r!

u-EE E i 6 a a
iJ.o<cF o

o

ddi

I

F.:

:E

2a
>U

E
t
tt

F

gE
oE

9/ ;i

3!

z

!

=o

.=

3o
o,)
-o
!
al

o)

o
o-
OJ

t!
c
o

.!

o

OJ

E
q)

q,,t
Eo
llc

,i6pE
>=
o9
oo)L-Co.F
6i

a



d

i

E

:
E

E

z
-9-q

6 -9

; gpF

g.EE
gt"6
_E.!E!

tAl
1..a

E

.E
E

F

F

ltltt

oo I I I I

oi .,i

:2

l-

; - 9.9
96Ee;

;6t4E.i:

.9

3

3

8g
OE

bE
E9.
>U

,9

t

F



-52-

ln May 2018, the Group reclassified a number of condominium units of AMpl from "Land and
development costs" to "Property and equipment" account due to change in intention over the
property from condominium units for sale to a property operated as serviced residences. The
change in management's intention was evidenced by an actual change in use of the property
(see Note 7).

Fair Value Measurement
ln 2018, the Group adopted the revaluation model for the measurement of its serviced residences.
The fair value of the Group's serviced residences as determined by an independent appraiser on
october 19, 2018 using the lncome capitalization Approach amounted to 8g,229.0 million.
The difference between the fair value and the carrying amount of the serviced residences
amounting to P4,245.0 million was recognized as revaluation increase. The fair value measurement
for serviced residences has been categorized as Level 3 (significant unobservable inputs).

ln 2016, the Group adopted the revaluation model for the subsequent measurement of its aircrafts.
The fair value of the Group's aircrafts as determined by an independent appraiser on
December L2, 20Lg and November 7, 2OU using Market Data Approach amounted to
P1,446.1 million and P558.5 million, respectively. The difference between the fair value and the
carrying amount of the aircrafts amounting to p120.1 million and p9.5 million was recognized as
revaluation increase in 2018 and 2ou, respectively. The fair value measurement for the Group,s
aircraft has been categorized as Level 3 (significant unobservable inputs).

The revaluation surplus recognized in the equity section of the consolidated statements of financial
position amounted toP3,103.5 million andp75.9 million as at December 31, 201g and ZOL7,
respectively.

The carrying amount of property and equipment measured at revalued amount had they been
recognized at cost are as follows:

(ln Thousands)

20L720t8
Serviced residences
Aircrafts

F3,952,533
974,58L

P_

1,,424,677

?4,927,LL4 P1,,424,67L

Income Capitalization Approach
As at December 3L,20L8, the stabilized NOI and capitalization rate used for the fair valuation of
serviced residences amounted to P411.4 million and 5.0%, respectively.

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement categorized within Level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy of the entity's serviced residences are:

. stobilized Nol; calculation used to identify performance of a property that produces stable
income.

. Copitolizotion rotei rate usedto estimatethe potentialreturn ofthe property.

lncome capitalization approach is a comparative approach, which considers income and expense
data relating to the property being valued and estimated it through a capitalization process.
capitalization relates income and a defined value type by converting an income amount into a value
estimate. This process may consider direct relationships (known as capitalization rates), yield or
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discount rates (reflecting measures of return on investment), or both.

Sensitivity Analysis, Genetdly, an increase (decrease) in stabilized Nol will result in an increase
(decrease) to the fair value of serviced residences. An increase (decrease) in the capitalization rate
will result in a decrease (increase) to the fair value of serviced residences. The capitalization rate
magnifies the effect of a change in stabilized Nor, with a lower capitalization rate resulting in a
greater impact of a change in stabilized NOI than a higher capitalization rate.

Market Data Approach
ln determining the fair varue of aircrafts, cost data were gathered from original import commercial
invoices and as well as the comparable sources of similar machinery and equipment and used of
prices and other relevant information generated by market transaction involving similar asset. The
fair value was determined by reference to the replacement cost translated at the current foreign
exchange rate.

sensitivity Anolysis. significant increase (decrease) in replacement cost and exchange rate would
result in a significantly higher (lower) fair value measurement.

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in Note 25.

Depreciation and amortization is recognized u nder the following accounts:

(tn Thousands)
Note 2018 20L7 201,6

Property and equipment
Software

7298,78L PL24,483 P1,27,737

12384

?724,567 P1,2t,860

Depreciation and amortization are allocated as follows:

N ote
(tn Thousands)

2018 201,7 2076
Cost of services
General and administrative

P772,O05 P7 5,zLL

49,356

P38,784

83,076expenses t24,095
La nd and



-54-

13. Other Noncurrent Assets

This account consists of:

Note 20L8 20L7
lnput VAT
Refundable deposits
Prepayments
Receivables from sale of:

Club shares
Real estate

Software - net
Advances to contractors and suppliers

- net of current portion
Others

10
6

F9s,321
36,229
15,76t

7,556
4,858
3,747

1,769

P60,464
48,258

7 ,556
47,532

L38,352
25

F190 P32L,572

Electric Company (Meralco).
Refundable deposits include billing and meter deposits to Manila
These are refundable upon termination of service of Meralco.

The movements in software are as follows:

Note 2018 2077
Cost

Balance at beginning of year
Additions

F8,040 P&04:

Balance at end of year
Accumulated Amortization
Balance at beginning of year
Amortization

8,040

7 ,963
L26

7 ,879
84

Balance at end of
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14. Trade and Other Payables

This account consists of:

(tn Thousands)
Note 2018 2017

Trade
Nontrade
Retention payable

Deposits from sale of:
Preferred shares
Real estate

Accrued expenses:
lnterest
Construction costs
Others

Unearned income
Others

26

71,993,176
600,564
409,O37

34o,252
13,00s

188,291
146,773
t4,495

105,065
277

F1,030,804

407,51,4

239,16s
91,416

15,376
473,676

1,6,369

98,256
36,007

10

7

Trade payables are noninterest-bearing and are due for payment within 3O to 120 days.

Nontrade payables are noninterest-bearing and are due and demandable. These pertain to
purchases of assets.

Accrued expenses mainly pertain to accruals for development costs and general and administrative
expenses. other payables consist of government payables. Accrued expenses and other payables
are generally settled within one year.

Unearned income pertains to unearned rental.

15, Lont-term Debt

Presented below are the details of this account:

(tn Thousands)

Borrower Current Noncurrent Total Current Noncurrent Total
A!PHA

ABM LH I

t1,053,655
44,765
55,310

?4,467,365
LLA,973
74,E3L

P5,521,020
$7,734
130,141

F973,389
45,270
52,915

P5,227,985
!67 ,7 42
729,319_

76,201,37 4
273,O72

r82,234

i
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ALPHA

Omnibus Loon ond Security Agreement with BDO

on February 15, 2017, ALPHA entered into an oLsA with BDo for a loan facility of F5,500.0 million to
refinance the existing loans and to finance new proiects and working capital requirements of the
Group. The loan has a term of seven years, payable in 25 quarterly principal amortizations
commencing one year after initial drawdown date. This loan facility was subsequently increased to
P6,726.0 million in the last quarter of 2017. Loan drawdowns aggregated P4OO.O million and
P6,285.0 million in 2018 and 2017. ALPHA had undrawn borrowing facility available amounting to
F40.0 million as at December 31, 2018.

lnterest, which is based on the sum of the Fixed rranche lnterest Rate and the Floating Tranche
lnterest Rate, is payable quarterly. Fixed rranche lnterest Rate is the sum of the prevailing
seven-year PDST-R2 rate plus 2.75o/o sprcad per annum. Floating Tranche lnterest Rate is the higher
of the sum of the prevailing three-month PDST-R2 rate plus 2.75o/o spread per annum or the sum of
the prevailing deposit facility rate adopted by the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas for deposit facilities
with a term of 28 days plus 1.25% spread per annum.

Effective interest rates of the long-term debt range from 5.0% lo 9.L% and 4.8% to 8. L% per annum
in 2018 and 2017, respectively. lnterest expense recognized in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income amounted to P292.3 million and F268.2 million in 201g and 2017.

The oLSA with BDo is secured by: a) real estate mortgage over the lots and improvements in Balesin
lsland, properties in Alphaland Southgate Tower, Alphaland Makati place and Silang property with
an aBgregate amount of P39,600.0 million and P38,428.0 million as at December 31 , 2OL8 and 2}lj,
respectively (see Notes 11 and 12); b) Continuing Surety Agreement with ALPHA, ABtCt, AB|RC, AMpt
and ASTI; and c) Share Mortgage in Alphaland Property Management Corporation, ABIRC and ABlCl.

The long-term loan with BDO under the OLSA dated February 15,2OL7 , with outstanding amounting
toP5,653.2 million inclusive of interest and adjustments as of January 23, ?079, was assigned
effective on the same date by BDO to Philippine Bank of Communications - Trust and Wealth
Management Group pursuant to an Assignment Agreement dated January 23,2019 between the
parties.

The scheduled maturities of ALPHA's outstanding loans
(in thousands):

20L9
2020
202L and onwards

as at December 31,2018 are as follows

PL,06s,725
t,065,725
3

Less deferred financing cost
5,595,059

(74,039)

P5,521,020
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The details of the loans refinanced in 2017
(in thousands):

through the OLSA with BDO are as follows

Carrying Amount on the
Date of Refinancing

Borrower Bank

ASTI PBCom
of the toan

Refinancing existing OLSA wittiOO UnGnt
and for financing of genera I corpo rate
business

Partially refinancing the loan facility and
partially funding the capital expenditures
and other general corporate expenses of
ABIRC

Partially tinancing the construction and
development of Alphaland Baguio Mountain
todges Project

Partially fi nancing the development,
construdion and operation of the
Phase lofAlphaland Makati place

AEMLHI PNB

DBP, LBP, BOC

and MayBank

P2,477,166

1,009,606

723,335

4.7Y.to 5.6/o

5.9%

5.8%

The refinanced roans are secured by (a) Arpharand southgate Tower; (b) rear estate mortgage over
lots in Balesin rsland; (c) continuing suretyship agreement with ALpHA; (d) deed of pteogJclveri^g
1,000 ABlcl preferred shares herd by ABrRC; (e) corporate guarantee of AST|; (f) propertiei rocated i;
Paraiaque city; (g) Alpharand Makati prace; and (h) sirang property. Totar carrying varue of the
collateral amounted to p93,013.5 million as at Oecember gt,2Ot6.

lnterest expense pertaining to the refinanced loans amounted to p45.9 million and p223.3 million in
2OL7 and 2016, respectively.

Loon Focility with PBCom

on February 17, 20L6, ALPHA entered into an oLsA with pBcom for a loan facility of p480.0 million
for the purpose of financing the generar corporate purpose of AL,HA. on February r.1, 2or.o and
May 11, 2015, ALPHA made the first and second drawdown amounting to p4oo.0 million and
P80.0 million, respectively.

The loan has a term of seven years from initiar drawdown date, incrusive of a grace period of one
year reckoned from the initial drawdown date, payable in 24 quarterly principal amortizations after
the lapse of the grace period. rnterest, which is based on froating rate of the higher of the
three-month Benchmark Rate prus spread of 3% per annum and Bsp overnight Borrowing Rate prus
spread of 1.25% per annum, is payable quarterly.

The loan was fully settled in 2017.

Capitalized interest and other financing costs on the loans are as follows:

2078 2016

5.0/o to 6.0%

Land and development costs P67 ,037

Note

Pt45,957 P36,440

ABIRC BOC

2017
7

11
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The rate used to determine the amount of borrowing cost eligible for capitalization was 6.5% and
7.1%, as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

AAPI
On February 3, 20t7, AAPI entered into an ACL agreement with BDOLFI for a loan facility of
P245.0 million for the purpose of financing the acquisition of an ATR72 Turboprop Aircraft,
MSN 678. AAPI made its initial drawdown amounting to F20S.7 million on February 14, ZOLT at a
fixed interest rate of 7.0% per annum.

on october 5, 2017, the loan facility was increased to P265.2 million to accommodate the financing
of a replacement engine for the said aircraft. AApl made its second drawdown amounting to
P38.4 million on November 16, 2017 at a fixed interest rate of 8.0% per annum.

lnterest expense recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income amounted to
P16.4 million and P12.8 million in 2018 and 2017. The principal and interest of the loan is payable
within 60 months from the date of initial borrowing.

The AcL is secured by the: (a) deed of chattel mortgage over the subject aircraft with a carrying
amount of P374.4 million as at December 31, 2018; and (b) continuing surety of ALPHA, AAt, AsTt
and ABIRC.

The scheduled maturities of MPI's outstanding loans as at December 31,
(in thousands):

20t9
2020
2021 and onwards

2018 are as follows

F49,083
52,7 46

5

L68,364
Less deferred financing cost (620)

AAI
On March 4, 20L6, AAI entered into an ACL agreement with BDOLFI for a loan facility of
P309.0 million for the purpose of financing the acquisition of ATR72 Turboprop Aircraft, MSN 666.
On March 4, 2016, AAI made its drawdown amounting to P256.8 million.

Loan interest rate is the prevailing market rate on actual booking date up to January l, 20L7. A
subsequent agreement changed the fixed interest rate into a floating interest rate that is repriced
quarterly based on the sum of the prevailing three-month pDST-R2 rate and Z.jso/o per annum
effective January 2, 2017. The principal and interest ofthe loan is payable within five years from the
date of initial borrowing. Monthly amortization amounts to P5.3 million.

lnterest rate of the long-term debt ranges trom 5.82o/o to 7.O4o/o in 2018 and 5.06% to 7.ZS% per
annum in 2Ol7 and 2016. lnterest expense recognized in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income amounted to F10.2 million, p13.0 million and p15.4 million in 20j.8, 2017 and
2016, respectively.

The ACL is secured by the following: (a) deed of chattel mortgage over the sub.iect aircraft with a
carryinB amount of P449.3 million as at December 31, 2018; and (b) continuing surety of AST| and
ABIRC.

FL67 ,738
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of AAI'S outstanding loans as at December 31, 2O1g are as follows

P55,s96
59,467
15

130,s65

Pursuant to the terms of the loan agreements, the Group is restricted from performing certain
corporate acts without written consent from the creditor bank and is required to comply with
certain financial covenants.

The agreements also contaln cross default provisions triggered by failure of the Group to comply
with any term, obligation or covenant contained in any loan agreement.

ABMLHI
on November 16, 2018, ABMLHI entered into a memorandum of agreement with BDo unibank, lnc.
for a crS receivable purchase facility of P5oo.o million to refinance the existing crs receivables.

The notes payable represents liability from the assigned receivables with recourse of ABMLHI which
bears an effective rale of 7yo and has a term of 5 years payable in equal monthly amortization
inclusive of principal and interest. lnterest expense recognized in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income amounted to p1.1 million in 2018.

Summarized below are the details of the notes payable:

Availments P382,737
2,705

P380,032

As at December 3L, 2018, trade receivables and contract assets assigned amounted
F528.8 million and P39.2 million, respectively (see Note 6).

lnterest expense and other finance charges recognized in the consolidated statements
comprehensive income are as follows:

of

(ln Thousands)
2018 20L7 20L6

Long-term debt
Finance charges
Others

P320,038 P333,248 F291,488
t,307 29,278

- 3,26L 3,26L
P32L,345 P365 ,727 P294 ,7 49
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16. Equity

Capital Stock

The composition ofALpHA,s capital stock consisting of all common shares are as follows:

2077
Number o,

Shares
Number of

Shares Amount+Authorized - F0.1 par Value and p1 par
Value in 2018 and 2017

2,654,707,4L7
786,466,424

P2,655,7O7

186,467
2,654 ,707 ,477_

subsidiary
Beginning ofyear
Effect of stock split
Additions

lL,3a3 ,427 ,4791
.72,450,a47,3111

(16,E81,220) l7,379,210,978) '16,877,9'12)

lssued

Parent Company's shares held byi

BeginninS ofyear
Effect of stock split
Reissuance

(423,900)
(3,815,100)

(7,2741 (1,s23,900) lt2,2t4)

- 

1.100.000 11 onn
End of vear

The total number of sharehorders, which incrudes pcD Nominee corporation, is 88 and 57 as at
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

on June 5,2014, Arpharand Hordings (singapore) pte. Limited (AH) and Masrickstar corporation(Ivlc) on one hand, and another group affiliated with Rvo incrudini nLeHA and Asr (colectivery, the"RVo Group") entered into a MoA to settle a sharehorder dispuf,. pursuant to the MoA, ALPHA,through its 100%-owned subsidiary, Asr acquired the shares of stock of ALPHA owned by AH, Mcand credit suisse (singapore) Limited (credit suisse), another shareholder, and received
F2,500.0 million in cash in exchange for assets and riabirities mainry comprising of r00% ownership
of Alphaland Makati rower, rnc. (AMrr); 1oo% ownership of Arpharand ruarina corporation lnrvt{including AMC',s investment in preferred shares of aipharand Marina crub, rnc. (anacr); sodownership of ABCC, the joint venture company formed by ASTI and a group led by D.M. We;cesl;o& 

. 
Associates, tnc. (DMWA|) (the Wenceslao Group or ,,WG,,); and G0% interest in theunincorporated joint venture between the Group and Akean Resorts corporation and the additional

parcels of land acquired by the Group with total area of approximately 10.g1 hectares.

on october 17, 20!4, these assets owned by the Group were transferred to Bedfordbury
Development Corporation (BDC), a newly incorporated company owned by AH and MC. AH, MC and
BDC will be collectively referred to as the ,,AH Group.,,

P2,655,707Additions
of

End



- 61-

The Group's joint venture with w6 is subject to litigation because of wc,s actions in causing a delay
in Asrl and AMc's construction and development of the Marina club project. with BDC,s iakeover
of AMC and AMCI, BDC assumed the responsibility of handlinB the litigation with WG.

Pursuant to the implementation of the MoA discussed above, ASTI acquired shares of stock of
ALPHA owned by AH, MC and Credit Suisse amounting to p16,g18.0 million.

ln 2017, Asrl acquired additional shares of stock of ALPHA owned by a minority shareholder
amounting to P53.2 million.

Stock Split
on January L9, 20L8, ALPHA filed a Lo-for-l stock sptit with the sEc. on December 10, 2018, the
sEC approved the application for the stock split, whereby its capital stock would be divided into
P50.0 billion common shares with a par value Fo.1O each share. The stock split has no dilutive effect
on the proportionate percentage ownership of the shareholders.

Retained Earninss
Accumulated equity in net income of an associate and subsidiaries not available for dividend
declaration amounted toF16,531.4 million and F24,879.4 million as at December 31, 2018 and
2017, respectively. significant components of the retained earnings pertain to cumulative gain on
fair value changes of investment properties. Further, the Group's existing loans with various banks
prohibit the declaration and payment of dividends.

17. Related Party Transactions

The Group, in its reBular conduct of business, has transactions with its related companies. The
following tables summarize the transactions with the related companies and outstanding balance
arising from these transactions.

Purchases Rental Purchases

Reloted componies under common key

(tn Thousands)

2017
Nature of Amount of Amount of Outstanding

Ttansactions Balances

Outitanding
Balances

Trade and other receivables
Trade
Relo te d com po n i e s u n d e r

common key monogefient

Transactions

Air transport
services

Realestate
sales

(Forward)

P184,348 P317,380 ?1.54,767
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(ln Thousands)
2018 2017

Nature of
Transadions

Outstanding
Balanaes

Amount of Outstanding
Balances

Nontrade
Relo ted com po n ies u n d e t

common key mdnogement
Capital

expenditures,
debt

Contract ags€ti
Re I oted com po n ies uh d e t

conmon key monogement
Realestate

sales 452,6t1 351,356
F1,567,135 PU4,716

Trade and other payables
Trade
Reloted componies under Acquisition of

cofimoh key monoqement properties

Purchases
Associote -

ASAI Security services

12,2L6,r17
24,699

F647,301

1,143

f-
82,4t2

34,271

P-

7648,444 Fs2

Advancer to
Associote -

Reimbursement

Re I oted com po n ie s un d e t Reimbutsement
cofiaon key fionogement ol expenses 181,615 P2,609,147 8368,325 P2,777,O48

Advancesftorn
Reld ted com po n i es u n d e t

cofimon key mdnoqement
Purchase of

asset5 and
reimbursement

of expenses P153,488 P245,252 P71,091 ?81,764

Other transactions of the Group with its related companies are as follows:

. As discussed in Note 11, RVO is the beneficial owner of the investment properties (e.i. Baguio
Property) acquired by the Group during 2015.

ln 2016, the Group entered into lease agreements with TCCAMPT and ABtCt for the rental space
of AWCI. ln January 2OL7, ABICI and TCCAMPI rescinded the lease agreement and started to
assume the rental charges at no cost to AWCI. Rent expense amounted to P23.2 million in 2016
(see Note 18).

ln April 2013, ABICI and the ABIRC executed a Letter Agreement wherein the parties agreed that
the difference between the budget under the Supplementary DA and the actual construction
costs incurred will be treated as advances to ABlCl. Advances to ABICI related to this agreement
amounting toP1,575.5 million as at December 31,20L8 and 2017 is due and demandable
(see Note 10).

On August 5, 2012, ALPHA, ASTI and ABICI executed a Letter Agreement whereby AST|, as the
development arm of the Alphaland Group and on behalf of AIPHA, undertakes to perform
ALPHA'S obligations under the DA (as supplemented) entered into by ALPHA with ABTRC and
ABICI over the lsland Club, specifically to provide a subsidy to the lsland Club's operations during
AglCl's construction period.
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Terms and Conditions of Transactions with Related Companies
outstanding balances as of year-end are unsecured, noninterest-bearing and settlement occurs in
cash or equity. The Group has not made any provision for impairment losses relating to the
amounts owed by related companies.

Compensation of Kev Manaqement personnel

The details of compensation of key management personnel, which include its senior vice presidents,
follow:

(ln Thousands)
2018 2017

Short-term employee benef its P92,254 P83,868 P36,326
Post-employment benefits 29,478 638 9

P45,013

Stock Ootion Plan
on November 27, 2oL7 and December 19, 2016, the stock option plan committee awarded stock
options to key officers and employees of the Group. The stock option plan was approved by the
BoD of ALPHA on June 5, 2013, and by stockholders representing more than 2/3 of the outstanding
capital stock of ALPHA during the annual meeting held on December 3, 2014. The stock option plan
is still subject for approval by the sEc as at December 3L,2o1g and will not be effective until
approved.

18. Operating Lease Commitments

Operating Lease - Group as a Lessor
ASTI and AMPI entered into various operating lease agreements as a lessor covering mall and office
spaces at Alphaland Southgate Tower and Alphaland Makati Place for a period of one to ten years
and two to ten years, respectively, which may be renewed or extended under such new or
additional terms or conditions agreed by the parties. upon inception of the lease agreements,
tenants are required to pay certain amounts of deposits. Commencement of the lease term started
upon completion of construction of the mall and tower in November 2013 and November 2017,
respectively.

Tenants likewise pay either a fixed monthly rent, which is calculated with reference to a fixed sum
per square meter of area leased, or pay rent on a percentage rental basis, which comprises a basic
monthly amount and a percentage of gross sales or a minimum set amount, whichever is higher.
The terms of the lease agreements also provide for an increase in the rent generally at the rate of
5o/oto LO% starting on the second year and annually thereafter for ASTI; and 5o/o to 7o/o escalation
rate starting on the third year of the lease term for AMpl.
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Rent income and common utilities, services and maintenance charges from Alphaland southgate
Tower and Alphaland Makati place aBgregated top!,173.7 million, F834.8 million and p696.0 million
in 2078' 2oL7 and 2015, respectively (see Note 11). Direct costs related to rent income aggregated
lo F229.2 million, P192.8 million and p121.6 million in 2oLg, zoLT and 2016, respeaivety, which
mainly comprised of utilities and commissary costs (see Note L j.).

As at December 31, 2018, the estimated minimum future rental receivables under the lease
agreements are as follows (in thousands):

(ln Thousands)

2017
With jn one year P834,358 P1.O6,464
After one year but not more than five

As at December 31, 2018 and 2ol7 , the Group's receivable from tenants amounting to pgg.1 million
and P34.0 million, respectively, were presented under "Trade and other receivables,, account in the
consolidated statements of financial position (see Note 6).

The Group's customers'deposits on lease contracts are as follows:

(tn Thousands)
2018 2077

Current
Noncurrent

P3,592 P73,504
11 97,505

Customers' deposits on lease contracts are generally equivalent to six months rental and refundable
at the end of the lease term. current portion pertains to one year operating lease agreements while
noncurrent portion pertains to two to five years' operating lease agreements.

The Group recognizes the customers' deposits at fair value. The fair value of the deposit is
determined based on the prevailing market rate of interest for a similar loan. The excess of the
principal amount of the deposit over its fair value is accounted for as deferred lease income and
amortized on a straight-line basis. The deferred lease income amounted topo.L million and
F0.4 million as at December 31, 2018 and ZOl7, respectively, and is included under ,,Other

noncurrent liabilities" account in the consolidated statements of financial position. lnterest on the
deposit is accounted for using the effective interest rate method.

Aside from customers' deposits paid by tenants, advance rentals Benerally equivalent to two months
rental are also paid and included in the initial billing to tenants, which shall be applied to the
monthly rental at the end of the lease term. Advance rental amounted to p21.0 million and
Pi.7.7 million as at December 3r, 20Lg and 2oLi, respectively, and is included under
"Other noncurrent liabilities" account in the consolidated statements of financial position.

168
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ODeratins Lease - GrouD as a Lessee
AWcl has entered into a commercial lease for the rental space of wellness centers for an indefinite
period until such agreement is terminated. AWcl has determined, based on an evaluation of the
terms and conditions of the arrangement, that the lessor retains all the significant risks and rewards
of ownership of the properties and thus, accounts for the contract as an operating lease.
ln January 2017, the parties agreed to rescind the agreement on the commercial lease. AWcl
recognized rent expense amounting to p23.2 million in 20L6 (see Note 17).

19. Revenues

This account consists of:

Note 2018 2077 201,6
Rent
Real estate sales of:

Towers L and 2
Log homes
Private villa
Parking slots

Air transport services
Medical services
Room revenues
Security services
lnterest income
Others

Pl,773,732

499,936
467,334
331,250
48,006

226,O42
35,567
26,514
L8,7t5
77,O33

18 P834,780

356,834
222,OO0

746,556
47,77 6

200,4a3
20,992

!5,499
17,764

P696,046

1,,477,r81,

4,O54
774,774

13,188

27,343
19,635
10,870

P2,483,427 P2,335,748

Others consist mainly of commission income and income from restaurant operations.

20. Cost and Expenses

Cost and expenses are classified in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income as
follows:

(ln Thousands)
Note 2018 2077 2076

Cost of real estate sold:
Land and development cost P831,304 P818,365 P1,073,691

lots for sale

Cost of services:
Transportation
Utilities
Depreciation and amortization
Medical services
Others

1.2

2227,062
233,413

79,725
23,345

F161,916
792,758

5,794

P757,O44

121,633

7,207

F568,140 P360,468 P285,884

(tn Thousands)
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_ (tn Thousands)rrrote zo18 ---Joii-----26lG-
General and administrative:

Salaries and employees' benefits
Taxes and licenses
Utilities and rent
Depreciation and amortization
Service and professional fees
Travel and transportation
Repairs and maintenance
Sales and marketing
lnsurance
Representation
Supplies
Communication
Donation
Write-off oftrade and other

receivables
Others

12

F253,319
164,A94
74O,724

124,095
119,025
42,40t
73,2A5
52,644
46,359
37,989
12,963
10,885

P279,857

69,110
ro9,372
49,356
83,394
62,944
39,276
9,496

33,s87
78,267
74,073
7,868

I74,732

P67,328
50,001
87,353

83,076
85,455
27,975
29,922
34,476
6,643

70,434
6,606
4,242

6,8s0
27,A15

Transportation expense under "cost of services,, account includes depreciation amounting to
F92.9 million, P75.2 million and p38.8 million in 2018,2017 and 2016, respectively (see Note rzll
ln December 2017, ASTI donated to Ateneo de Manila, lnc. (Ateneo), a non_stock, non_profit
educational institution, various rear and personar property in support of the mission of Ateneo to be
an educational institution with the highest level of professional competence and service in order toprovide the best possible quality of formation and education to its students.

21. Retirement Liability

The Group has an unfunded defined benefit pran covering aI its regurar emproyees. Benefits are
computed usinB an amount equivarent to one-harf month's sarary for every year of service, with
six months or more of service considered as one year. The retirement riabirity is determined using
the proiected unit credit method.

The following tables summarize the components
consolidated statements of comprehensive income
consolidated statements of f inancial position.

of retirement expense recognized in the
and retirement liability recognized in the

2018 2077 2076
Retirement benefit cost:

Current service cost
lnterest cost

F18,137
L,794

Pr.0,548
2,L73

?6,299
1,195

Past service cost - curtailment
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(tn Thousands)

20t7
Present value of defined benefit obligation:

Balance at beginning of year
Current seNice cost
lnterest cost

?24,45L
t8,264

L,794

F31,416
10,548

2,173

l22,s14l
9,LL4

Remeasurement gain
Additions during the year
Past service cost - curtailment
Balance at end of

The accumulated remeasurement gain on retirement liability, net of deferred income tax,
recognized in the equity section of the consolidated statements of financial position amounted to
F45.4 million as at December 31, 2018 and 20i.7.

Principal actuarial assumptions used to determine retirement benefit obligations are as follows:

2017
Discount rate
Salary increase rate

5.70%
5.OO%

5.700/o

5.00%

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of each
significant assumption on the present value of the defined benefit obligation as of the end of the
reporting period, assuming all other assumptions were held constant:

(ln Thousands)

Increase (Decrease)

20t7
Discount rate:

lncrease by L4.0% to 75.5%
Decrease by LL.s% to 12.5%

Salary increase rate:
lncrease by 72.9o/o to L4.4Yo

Decrease by 10.8% to 11.9%

(8e86)

1,173

L,@4
(L,4L4l

P3,545
(2,906)

3,210

12,7 43)

Shown below is the maturity analysis of the undiscounted benefit payments as at year ended:

(ln Thousands)

20t7
20L9
2020
202t
2022
2023 to 2027

The average duration of the defined benefit
14.0 years in 2018 and 2017.

F345
1,863
3,804
2,605

28,310

obligation at the end of the period

P345

1,863
3,804
2,605

28,310

is 12.8 years
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22. lncome Taxes

The provision for current income tax represents Mclr for ALPHA, ABMIHI and ABrRc in 2018,
ALPHA, Asrl and ABIRC in 2017 and ABIRC in 2016 and Rctr for other companies within the Group.

For income tax purposes, full recognition is applied when more rhan 25% of the selling price of
condominium units has been collected in the year of sale. otheMise, the installment method is
applied.

The following are the components of the Group,s net deferred tax liabilities:

2018 2077
Deferred tax liabilities:
Gain on fair value change of investment properties
Unrealized valuation gain on AFS financial assets
Revaluation surplus
Accumulated depreciation for tax purposes
Capitalized borrowing costs
Excess of book basis over tax basis of accounting for

real estate transactions
Excess rent income under operating lease computed

on a straight-line basis

F12,845,181
4,O39,709
L,t16,947

190,837
92,a67

50,233

LL,9S2
191

P10,662,606
2,603,6L7

32,506
L45,294

55,085

55,117

8,79s
U nrea lized excha

Deferred tax assets:
MCIT

Retirement liability
NOLCO

3,734
2,93L

2,843
r,747

75,5L2
Allowance for rment losses 3

5,665 111,485

The following deferred tax assets were not recognized as it is not probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow the benefit of the net deferred tax assets to be utilized in the future:

2018 2077
NOrCO

Unearned income
MCIT

Allowance for impairment loss on receivables

P243,99L
31,550
18,930
8,923
7,036

3

?176,707
29,577
3,75L
2,771,

4,666
353

Retirement liability
Unrealized foreisn excha losses

33

(tn Thousands)
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The details of NoLco, which can be craimed as deduction from future taxabre income, within three
years from the yearthe NOLCO was incurred, is shown below (in thousands).

Beginning

Balance
Applied/ Ending

BalanceYear lncurred

1202,9s7],
(101,940)

P383,634

429,670

Ending
Balance

Valid
Until
2027
2020

2018

20t8
2077

20t6
2075

Year lncurred
2018
20t7
2076
2015

P-
632,627
101,940

47,076

Beginning

Balance

P-
5,947

297
356

lncurred
Pt6,426

4

The details of Mcrr which can be craimed as deduction from income tax due are as folows:

P76,426
5,947

297

Va lid

Until
2021
2020
2079
2018

The reconciliation of income tax computed at statutory tax rate to provision for income tax shown in
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income are as follows:

(tn Thousands)
2018 2017 2016

lncome tax computed at statutory tax rate
Applied and expired NOLCO
change in unrecognized deferred tax assets
Expired MCIT
Additions to (reductions in) income tax

resulting from:
Nondeductible expenses and others
lnterest income subjected to final tax
lncome subiected to CGT

Others

P2,r80,080 P3,471.,421
103,790
92,A78

356

64,429
(3,976)

25,790

ltL8,2s4l

61,,767

11,,4O7).

(36,945)

F3,063,206
16,530
15,20s

7 2,0s3
(s2s)

(32,ss2)

51

23. Total Comprehensive lncome per Share and Book Value per Share Computation

Total comprehensive income per share is computed as follows:

2018 2077 20L6
(a) Total comprehensive income attributable

to equity holders of the Parent Company
(in thousands)
Weighted average number of shares(b)

before the effect of stock

?8,726,791 P8,054,768 P7,702,670

P383,634 P_
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Book value per share is computed as follows:

20172018
(a)

(b)
Total equity (in thousands)
Total number of shares outstanding at

end of year before the effect of

F70,070,138 P60,415,514

The information presented above are intended as additionar information for management reporting
purposes only.

24. Risk Management Objectives and policies

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
receivables (excluding advances to officers and emproyees), advances to rerated companies,
restricted cash (presented under "other current assets" account), refundabre deposits (presentei
under "other noncurrent assets" account), advances to an associate, equity securities designated as
FVocl (formerly classified as AFS financial assets), trade and other payabres (excruding deposits from
sale, unearned rent income and statutory payabres), rong-term debt, customersi deposits and
advances from related companies. The main purpose of ttrese financial instruments is io provide
funds for the Group's operations.

The BoD has overarr responsibirity for the estabrishment and oversight of the Group,s risk
management framework. The Group's risk management policies are estabrished to identify and
manage the Group's exposure to financial risks, to set appropriate transaction rimits and contrors,
and to monitor and assess risks and compriance to internar control poricies. Risk management
policies and structure are reviewed regurarly to refrect changes in market conditions;d the
Group's activities.

The Group has exposure to credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk from the use of its financial
instruments. The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk is minimar as it does not normaly enter
into transactions in currencies other than its functional currency. The BoD reviews and approves
the policies for managing each of these risks.

Credit Risk
The Group trades only with recognized and creditworthy third parties. rt is the Group,s poricy that
all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subiect to credit verification procedures. rn
addition, receivable barances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the resurt that the Group
exposure to bad debts is not significant. For transactions that are not denominated in thefunctional
currency of the Parent company, the Group does not offer credit terms without the specific
approval ofthe Chief Finance Officer.

with respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets, the Group,s exposure to credit risk
arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equar to the carrying amount of
these instruments.

since the Group trades with recognized third parties and rerated parties, there is no requirement for
collateral. There are no other concentrations of credit risk within the Group.

P47.539

stock
Book value per share P48.081
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credit Quolity of Financior Assets. The credit quarity of financiar assets is managed by the Group
using internal credit ratings such as high grade and standard grade.

High Grade - pertains to deposits or pracements to counterparties with good credit rating or bank
standing. For receivables, this covers accounts of good paying customers, with good creditstanding
and are not expected by the Group to default in settling its obligations, thus credit risk exposure iI
minimal. This normally incrudes rarge prime financiar institutions, companies and government
agencies.

standard Grade - other financial assets not belonging to high quality financial assets are included in
this credit rating.

The table below shows the credit quality of the Group,s financial assets as at year end:

Flnancial Aisets at
tuno.tired Cost

Cash and cash

equivalents.
Trade and other

receivables..
Advances to an associate

and related
companies

Restricted cash

:231,960

2,s37,556

2,610,170
,42,94

:2t1,960

2,131,554

2,6LO,17O

442,944

:-

364,9D

r231,960

2,376,427

t-

7,2@

:-

29,72a

FinancialAssels at
FVOCT

LJnquoted clubs'

cosh oa hohd ohounting to

(ln Thousands)

December 31. 2017
Neither Past Due nor tmpaired Past Due but Past Due

"E cluding ddeonczt to oflia9 ond enploy..s dnd ifiludinq nohcurre ponion ol bod. .eceitobles onounnnq b p4,a69 ond 112,424, Grpecivety.

Grade Standard Grade not

Cash and cash

equivalents"
Trade and other

Advances to an associate
and related
companies

Restricled cash

P214,265

2,1,4s,642

P214,265

1,244,22a

2,778,071
1,183

t-

659,302

P214,265

7,947,530

P-

46,266

P_

111,846

.osh on hond onountinl to?7.328.

llnquoted Clubs'

"Er.ludi.q odvon.et to olftcers on.l enployees ahd includinq hon.u ent portion of t.ode eceivobles onounnng b ps,z96 ond p4g,oa8, rcspe.tilely_
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The following are the aging analyses offinancial assets as at year end:

Cash and cash equivalents.
Trade and other receivabtes.l
Advances to an associate and

.elated companies

P231,960
2,5t7,556

2,6LO,170
342,944

r231,950
2,5m,s71

2,6LO,1?0
182,944

,_ .- a-

unquoted clubs' preferred

'Excludinq .osh oh hdnd

(tn Thousand,
Oecember 31.2O17

"Excltdinq o.lvo.ces to olli.eR cnd enployees ond includihg non.urcht po.tion oJ trcde ft..ivdbtes ohounhhg to p4,a69 ond p12,424, rcrpectively

Cash and cash equivalents*
Trade and other receivables..
Advances to an associat€ and

related companies

8- P-
62,242 111,846

5.t87 419 4,989,307 77,562 ffi
AFS financi.lAss€ts
Unquoted Clubs' pref erred

?274,265
2,t45,642

2,774,077
1,183

P214,255
7,947,53O

2,778,O71
1,183

P-
11,562

cash oh hohd anountihg to P1"328.

" Excludinq odvonces to olfic.R and .mployees or(l including rcncurcnt portion ol t.o.le rcceivoblet omountihg to ,8,796 ond p49,ooa, respativety,

lnterest Rate Risk
lnterest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows
or the fair values of financial instruments. The Group's exposure to interest rate risk relates
primarily to its financial instruments with floating interest and/or fixed interest rates. Fixed rate
financial instruments are subject to fair value interest rate risk while floating rate financial
instruments are subject to cash flow interest rate risk. Re-pricing of floating rate financial
instruments is done every three to six months. lnterest on fixed rate financial instiuments is fixed
until maturity of the instrument. The details of financial instruments that are exposed to interest
rate risk are disclosed in Note 15.

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group,s
long-term debt subject to floating interest rates as discussed in Note 1.5.

The other financial instruments of the Group are noninterest-bearing and, therefore, not subject to
interest rate risk.
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The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group's profit before tax due to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates in the next reporting period with all other variables held constant.
There is no other impact on the Group's equity other than those already affecting profit and ross.

Effect on lncome

(F8,21s1

8,215

i.8,796).

8,796
(18,479)
78,479

Liouiditv Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to settle or meet its obligations on time.
Management is responsible for liquidity, funding, as well as settlement management. ln addition,
liquidity and funding risks, related processes and policies are overseen by manigement. The Group
manages its liquidity risk based on business needs, tax, capital or regulatory considerations, if
applicable, through numerous sources of finance in order to maintain flexibility.

The Group also maintains a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility. The polic"y of the
Group is to first exhaust lines available from affiliated companies before local bank lines are availed.
The Group seeks to manage its liquid funds through cash pranning on a weekry basis. The Group
uses historicalfigures and experiences and forecasts from its collections and disbursements. As part
of its liquidity risk management, the Group regularly evaluates its projected and actual cash flowi. rt
also continuously assesses conditions in the financial markets for opportunities to pursue fund
raising activities. Also, the Group only places funds in the money market which are exceeding the
Group requirements. Placements are strictly made based on cash planning assumptions and covers
only a short period of time.

The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities based on
undiscounted cash flows:

lln Thousandsl

Oecemb€r 31,2018

December 3t 2018

December 31, 2017

December 31, 2016

+1.0%

-t.o%
+1.0%

-r.0o/o
+1,.Oo/o

-1.00/o

in lnterest Rate before Tax Effect on
(F11,73s)

tl,735
(12,56s)
1,2,565

126,3s81
26,398

Mor€ than 90
On Demand

Flnancial Llabilities
Trade and other

payables+

Long-term debt
Customers' deposits
Advances from related

13,495,413

3,592

?2,798,752
8,448

83,524,944
5,274,O21

269,703

,22,330 r- ,-
8,494 274,977 5,982,098

256,L11

sale, oneoned rcnt hcone, an.t ttotutory poyobtet onountinO to p587,234
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More than 90
On Demand

Fln.ncial Liabilitiei
Trade and other

payabbsr
Long-term debt
Customers' deposits
Advances from related

?2,271,656 P14,281 P-
273,793

636

P53,084 P2,339,021
6,323,427 6,596,620
167,596 171,109

Capital Manasement
The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to ensure that the Group has sufficient
funds in order to support its business, pay existing obligations and maximize shareholder value. The
Group manages its capital structure and makes adiustments to it, in riBht of changes in economic
conditions. To manage or adjust the capitar structure, the Group may obtain additionar advances
from stockholders, adjust the return capitar to stockhorders or issue new shares. No changes were
made in the objectives, poricies or processes in 2o1g and 2017. The Group monitors cap[ar using
the monthly cash position report and financiar statements. The parent company is not subject to
externally imposed capital requirements. Certain subsidiaries, however, are required to maintain a
debt to equity ratio as provided in the loan agreements.

The components of the Group's capital are as follows:

(tn Thousands)
2018 20L7

ltom sole, uneomed rent incomeond stotutory

Layer l:
Capitalstock P2,842,774 P2,655,707
Additional paid-in ca 70,740,079

Retained earnings - operating income 8,255,826
(L6,881,220l,

13,395,786

!o,757,447

lt6,88L,22Ol
Parent Company's shares held by a subsidiary

Unrealized valuation gain on AFS financial assets
Revaluation surplus
Accumulated remeasurement gain on retirement

obligation
Retained earnings - gain on fair value change of

investment properties

22,891,678
3,103,638

45,350

?6,277,78L

23,432,497
75,850

45,350

28,824,264
Retained earninss - sain on rchase 767,887

Livei iii, (8'52e'eogl (o'rza'gez)

63,080,334 53,139,848
Total capital F7o,oos,6J6- p60,41-0,047-
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. Layer I is composed ofthe Group,s contributed capital;. Layer ll is composed of income from operations, excess of acquisition
interest and treasury shares; and

. Layer lll is composed of income from fair value changes of investment
bargain purchase and unrealized valuation gain on AFS financial assets.

price over acquired

properties, gain on

25. Fair Value Measurements

The following table provides the fair value hierarchy of assets and liabilities measured at fair value:

Quotedpricer Slgnificant
in observable

active markets inputs

Sitniflcant
unobservable

inputs
Fair Value

Measured at tair Value
Financial Assets -

AFS financial assets
Non-financial Asset -

lnvestment propenies
Selviced residences
Aircrafts

Fair Values are Disclosed
Financial Asset -

[oans and receivables -

Noncurrent trade
receivables

Financial Liability -
Customers'deposits

Measured at Fair Value
Financial Assets -

AFS financial assets
Non-financial Asset -

lnvestment properti€s
Aircrafts

Fair Values are Dis.losed
Financial Asset -

Loans and receivables -
Noncurrent trade

receivable5
Financial Liability -

Customers'deposits

F-

47,675,A12
8,149,8s2
1,636,459

12,424

269,703

Significant
unobservable

inputs

11
12

72

F31,036,08s

47,675,8L2
8,L49,852
1,635,459

t2,424

269,703

F31,036,085

47,675,412

&149,852
1,636,4s9

t2,424

269,703

P31,036,085

18

Significant
observable

inputs
Fa ir Value

t7
72

P30,064,26a

40,664,073
1,534,770

49,088

171,109

F30,064,268

40,664,073
1,534,710

49,088

t77,954

F30,064,268 F-

- 40,664,073

- 1,534,710

_ 49,088

- 777,954

13

18
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26. Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments
The Group entered into various construction contracts for the deveropment of its projects
(see Note 8). Total advances to contractors amounted to p560.2 million and p749.5 million is at
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Notes g and 13).

The significant construction contracts that gave rise to the advances are as folows:

(ln Thousands)

AM PI

ABMLHI

?280,925 P1.92,4J.2

t5L,7 t6 204 ,812

Civil, structural, masonry works
and supply and installation of materials

for Alphaland Makati place

Supply of labor, materials, equipment
and all related construction works for

Alphaland Baguio Mountain Lodges
proiect

Retention Pavable
Retention payable is based upon specifically identified construction contracts that stipulate the right
of the Group to retain a portion of the progress billings of contractors. Depending on the term;of
the contract, all retention payable shall be released to contractors upon 1oo% completion and
acceptance of work normally within one year after completion. Total retention payable amounted
to P409.0 million and P407.5 million as at December 31, 201g and 2ou, respectively (see Note 14).

Significant contract with retention clause arises from the civil, structural and masonry works for
Towers 1 to 3 and the construction of the podium. Totar retention payabre recognized by AMpr as at
December 31, 2018 and Z0!7 related to such contract amounted to F329.0 million, and
F351.4 million, respectively.

Continsencies
As a result of the dispute between the Group and wth the wG (see Note 16), the cases have been
filed against each other. However, the agreement signed by the maior shareholders of ALPHA, as
discussed in Note 1, includes the transfer of the Group's interest in ABcc, AMc and AMcl including
the assumption by B0c of the responsibility of handling all litigation and/or settling all disputes witI
the WG.

Deficiency vAT Assessment lor Asrt ond AMpl. The Bureau of lnternal Revenue (BrR) issued a Final
Decision on Disputed Assessment (FDDA) to ASTI and AMpl on June 20, 2016 covering the taxable
year 2014 amounting to p 30.9 million. AsTl and AMpr filed their respective motions for
reconsideration, which were subsequently denied by the BlR. AsTl and AMpt elevated the cases to
the Court of Tax Appeals (CTA). The decision is still pending with the CTA.

other Legol coses. There are certain lawsuits and claims filed by third parties against the Group
which are either pending decision by the proper judiciar bodies or under negotiation, the outcome
of which are presently undeterminable. rn the opinion of the Group's management, the ultimate
disposition of these cases, disputes and assessments will not have a material adverse effect on the
financial position or results of operations of the Group.
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27. Note to Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

The Group's noncash activities are presented below:

Note
Transfers from land and

development costs to:
Property and equipment
lnvestment properties

Transfers from investment
properties to:
Land and development costs
Property and equipment

Forfeited sales:
Land and development costs
Parking lots for sale
AFS financial assets

Cancelled sale -
Land and development costs

11

P2,7L5,86t

653,310
2,244

P- P-
2,425,353

327,3t9 392,383
L9,471

7

7

10

L71,543
13,447
2,790

57,222

The reconciliation of the Group's riabirities arising from financing activities rs presented berow:

Non-cash
Flows

(tn Thousands)

20t7 Cash Flows 2018
Long-term debt
Accrued interest
Advances from related parties
Other noncurrent liabilities

P6,596,620
L5,376
8t,764

(F411,1r6)

.296,O78!-
163,488

?L3,427
468,993

F6,198,931
188,291
245,252

29

n Thousands

2076 Cash Flows
Non-cash

Flows 20L7
Long-term debt
Accrued interest
Advances from related parties
Other noncurrent liabilities

P5,522,3s7
47 ,O92

8,693

PL,ztL,575
(60s,94s)

73,077

(P137 ,2s2]|
574,229

P6,596,620
L5,376
81,764
20,11889 69.691

P5,661 P508,950 P436,977 P6,7L3
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"STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS"

The management of Alphaland Corporation (the Company) is responsible for the preparation

and fair presentation of the financial statementsincluding the schedules attached therein, for the
years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 in accordance with the prescribed financial
ieporting framework indicated therein, and for such internal control as management determines
is neceisary to enable the preparation of flnancial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

ln preparing the flnancial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's
abitity to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directorsis responsible in overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.

The Board of Directorsrevierws and approves the financial statements including the schedules
attached therein, and submits the same to the stockholders.

Reyes Tacandong & co., the independent auditor appointed by the stockholders, has. audited

ths financial statements of the Company in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing,

and in its report to the stockholders, has expressed its opinion on the fairness of presentation

upon completion of such audit.

Chairman

^**^n{*",,*President and Vice Chairman

ohupra^
CRISINA6.2APANTA
Senior Mce President for Finance

AlPhaland Makati Place

7232 Ayala Ave,Ext., cor. Malugay St.,l2O9 Makati city, Philippines

Tt +63.2,33.7.2c,31 | E: info@alphaland.com.oh I www.alphaland.com.ph
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2: All Boxes must be properly ond cofipletely filled-up. Foilurc to do so sholl couse the deloy in updoting the corporotion's records with the
Commission and/or non-receipt ol Notice of Defrciencies. Further, non-reaeipt sholl not excuse the coryorotion Jrom liobility for its deliciencies.
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The Stockholders and the Board of Directors
Alphaland Corporation
Alphaland Makati place

7232 Ayala Ave. ext. cor. Malugay Street
Makati City

Opinion

we have audited the accompanying separate financial statements of Alphaland corporation(the company), which comprise the separate statements oirinanciat position as at December 31, 2o1gand 20L7, and the separate statements of comprehensive income, separate statements of changes inequity and separate .,.,"."n1: ol 
:.:h ftows for,t"iir"" V".,., ended December 3f, ZOf8, 20L7 and201'6, and notes to separate financiar stateme",., i".rrJirg , ',rrmmary 

ofsignificant accounting poricies.

ln our opinion, the separate financiar statements present fairry, in aI materiar respects, the separatefinancial position of the company as at December 31., 20Lg and 2077, and its separate financialperformance and its separate gash flows for the three v*rr "ra"o 
December 3r,20L8,20L7 and 2076in accordance with philippine Financial Reporting StandJ.O, frr*rf.

Bosis for Opinion

we conducted our audits in accordance with phirippine standards on Auditing (psA). ourresponsibilities under those standards are further a"r..ii"Jln the Auditors, Responsibilities for theAudit of the seporote Finonciar s_toremenfs section or orir"po.t. we are independent of the iompany inaccordance with the code of Ethics for Professional a..J-i.nt, in the philippines (code of Ethics)together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to the audit of the separate financiarstatements in the Philippinet and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance withthese requirements and the code of Ethics. we ueri*" it'"ithe audit evidence we have obtained issufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

:::i:;:i,:!:-' 
of Monosement and rhose chorsed with Governonce for the separote Finoncidt

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

Date

of these separate financial
management determines is

materia I

,st.s

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation
statements in accordance with pFRS, and for such internal control asnecessary to enable the preparation of separate financial
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

TBt POWEN OF B€ING UNOERS'OOO
alJ0ll t4x acfisuLlli{n llr-lQ nr c rr
R.y.s T...ndong & Co. is a menrber or rhe RS[,! n6iwo* !..h hen1h., ^, is- ocM -*._.^, _ ,_ _ , ----_-:J l(:RSIIT
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ln preparing the separate financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the
Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting
process.

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit ol the Seporote Finonciol Stotements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the separate financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors'
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with PSA will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, these could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these separate financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with PSA, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

r ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the separate financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis our opinion. The risk of not detecting a

material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by manaBement.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going
concern. lf we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditors' report to the related disclosures in the separate financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of the auditors' report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
including the disclosures, and whether the separate fina

8UF[ lr] OF rNrF'ri,.r
LAtlGf IA,.t6Yt lS SF |rvrCE

MA. GRACIT {uea(.i r. CASItttO
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Partner
CPA Certificate No. 81207
Tax ldentification No. 102-086-538-000
BOA Accreditation No. 4782; Valid untilAugust 15, 2021
SEC Accreditation No. 1022-AR-2 Group A

Valid until March 15, 2020
BIR Accreditation No. 08-005144-004-2017

Valid untilJanuary 13, 2020
PTR No. 7334334

lssued.lanuary 3, 2019, MakatiCity

January 29, 2019
Makati City, Metro Manila
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned

scope and timlng of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audits.

REYES TACANDoNG & Co.

EuPEau-;F:::_-
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ALPHALAND CORPORATION

SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

December 31

Note 2018 201,7

ASSETS

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Nontrade receivables
Advances to related Parties
Restricted cash

Other current assets

4
5

72

10

6

P2,853,7 5t
7,347,O24

20,940,811
378,834,896

P76,625,440
7 4,7L0

9,409,913

22,531,

Total Current Assets 48,641,351,

23,086,O75,480 21,82s,246,31,O

77,202,L6L 81,491,171,

426

Noncurrent Assets
lnvestments in and advances to subsidiaries

Aircraft
Total Noncurrent Assets 23,t63,277 27,906,697,48L

TIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current Liabilities
Payables and other current liabilities

Advances from related Parties

9

72

10

P11,956,s68
L44,3O1,L75

P30,144,515
27,1-40,187

987,347,6L4Current term debt

Total Current Liabilities

debt - net of current
Total Liabilities

,910,835 1,038,

,36s,138 5,208,690

6,247

Equity
Capital stock
Additional paid-in

Deficit

Sccurltl6e
Exctr-,r(relir li:..r)
co.f.-.csro- 0fll( i

!1..rr..r. r...rn! r...ai.ir nrq,oh

APR I6

2,842,L7 3,84L
t5 ,469 ,296 ,354

2,655,707,417
73,439,645,478

Less cost of shares

Total Equ

386,723,162\

L7,914,204,L73 15,1 09,229,7 33

L,213,526
708,016,207

F23,590 p? 1 qqq ,832

Noncurrent LiabilitY

,.^*ti?L',.ii'-:i:,.-.i.!i :,,,,i'
<---''r I)rvr(rr''^
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See occomponying Notes to Seporcte Finonciol Stotements.
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ATPHALAND CORPORATION

SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Years Ended December 31

Note zoLS 20L1 20 L6

REVENUES

lnterest income
Gain on sale of available-for-sale (AFS)

financial asset
Rent income
Other income

P1,011,440

84,993

P334,983

51,89;

P66,298

7,400,000
669,647
181,557

1,096,433 3 86,881 8,317,502

COST AND EXPENSES

Cost of services
General and administrative expenses
lnterest expense and other finance charges

13

L4

10

L2,237,593 8,336,05;
3,905,143

17,890,033
27 ,516,455
23,440,93t

L2,237,593 1-2,24L,t97 68,847,41,9

LO55 BEFORE INCOME TAX

PROVISION FOR CURRENT INCOME TAX

(11,141,160) (11,8s4,315) (60,s29,917)

L,700 1,03815

NET TOSS (11,142,860) (11,8ss,3s4) (60,s29,e1,71

oTHER COMPREHENSTVE INCOME (IOSS)

To be reclossified to profit or loss in

subsequent periods -

Reclassification adjustment on disposal

of AFS financial asset

Unrealized valuation gain on AFS financial
asset

(8,10s,000)

2,340,000

- (s,76s,000)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS (F11,142,850) (P11,8ss,3s4) \P66,294,9!t)

Total Comprehensive [oss Per Share*
Based on weighted average number

of shares outstanding before the effect
of stock split F0.025

See occomponying Notes to Sepotute Finonciol Stotements-

*Total comprehensive loss per share i5 computed based on weighted average

which was approved by the Securities and Exchan8e Commlssion on December

management reportjng purposes only.

APR 16 2';J
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ALPHALAND CORPORATION

SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Years Ended December 31

2018 2atl 2016

CAPITAL STOCK - P0.1 par value and F1 par value

in 2018 and 2017, respectivelY

Balance at beginning of year ?2,655,707,417 ?2.655,707,417 F2 ,655 ,707 ,477

Additions186,465,424-.-
Balance at end of yea t 2,a42,173,841 2,655,707,417 2'655,10'?,477

ADDITIONAI PAID-IN CAPITAL

Balance at beginning of year 73 ,439 ,64s ,47 8 73,439 ,645,418 13 ,439 ,645 ,418

Additions 11 2'029'650'876

Salance at end of yea r 75,469,296,!51 13,439,645,478 13'139,645,478

DEFICIT

Balance at beginning of year (386,123,162) 1313,717,8971

CUMULATIVE UNREALIZED VAIUATION GAIN

ON AFS FINANCIAL ASSET

Balance at beginning of year

Reclassification adjustment on disposal of AtS

financialasset
Net unrealized valuation gain on AFs financial

5,765,000

(8,10s,000)

TREASURY SHARES' at cost

Balance at and end of

See occomponying Notes to Seporcte Finonciol Stotementt-

llul?t.luC)r lir_,r .
tAi(iE- rarl,rya,rS Si 

" 
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ALPHALAND CORPORATION

SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31

N ote 2018 201,7 2016

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss before income tax
Adjustments for:

Depreciation
lnterest income
lnterest expense and other finance

charges
Gain on sale of AFS financial asset

lmpairment loss on prepayments

8

4

(P11,141,160)

4,2a9,OtO
(1,011,440)

(P11,854,316)

4,240,376
(334,983)

3,905,143

(P60,s29,917)

22,091,859
(66,298)

23,440,937
(7,400,000)

877,658

10

operating loss before changes in working
capital

Decrease (increase) in:

Nontrade receivables
Other current assets

lncrease (decrease) in payables and other
current liabilities (18,187,947) \3O,237,27s\ 60,07s,4s8

(7,863,s90)

1r,272,3t4].
(482,909)

(4,043,780)

5,189,684
(193,24s)

127,sgs,7 671

l702,r71l
(88,826)

Net cash generated from (used for)
operations (27,806,7601. 129,284,616) 37,702,694

lnterest received 1,011,440 334,983 66,298

Net cash provided by (used in) operating

CASH FTOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additions to:
lnvestments in and advances to

subsidiaries
Aircraft

Decrease (increase) in advances to related
parties

Proceeds from sale of:
AFs financial asset

{1,250,869,170}

10,392,018

(3,011,68s,966)
(1,32s,843)

14,922,L431

(611,890,264)
(369,182)

l.7,27O,6201.

18,000,000

CASH FTOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from;
lssuance of new shares

Availments of long-term debt
Payments of:

Long-term debt
lnterest and other finance charges

Net additions to (settlement of) advances

from related parties

Net cash

10

2,2L6,t77,300
400,000,000

(1,090,942,609)

6,286,OOO,OO;

(480,000,000)
(6,291,691)

tA|,GE Ilrprrc-i

0ate

480,000,000

(21,0s4,383)

104.486,049

Yt rS Si <r'e t
r -i iiS tir,I:i )tVtStC|t

APR 16 :i;J t's t.s
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Years Ended December 31

Note 2018 2017 2016

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH

EQUIVATENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVATENTS AT

BEGINNING OF YEAR

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

P365,063,207 P2,907,778 P8,413,084

t6,625,440 4,311,006
9,406,656

5,304,578

76,625,440 13,7r7,662 5,304,578

CASH AND CASH EqUIVALENTS AT END

OF YEAR

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

2,853,757
378,834,895

L6,625,440 4,311,006

9,406,656

P381,688,647 P76,625,440 P73,777,662

See occomponying Notes to Sepotute Finonciol Stotements.

APR 16 il;3
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ALPHALAND CORPORATION

NOTES TO SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Corporatelnformation

Alphaland Corporation (ALPHA or the Company) is a holding company incorporated and registered
with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on November 19, 1990. ALpHA and its
subsidiaries are collectively referred herein as the "Group."

The registered office address of ALPHA is Alphaland Makati Place, 7232 Ayala Ave. ext. cor. Malugay
Street, Makati City.

The separate financial statements as at December 31, 2018 and 2O!7 and for the three years ended
December 31, 2078, 20L7 and 2016 were approved and authorized for issue by the Executive
Committee of the Board of Directors (BOD) on January 29,ZOL9.

2. Summary of Si8nificant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation
The separate financial statements of the company have been prepared in accordance with
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) issued and approved by the Philippine Financial
Reporting Standards council and adopted by the SEC, including sEc pronouncements. This financial
reporting framework includes PFRS, Philippine Accounting Standards (pAS), and philippine
lnterpretations from lnternational Financial Reporting lnterpretations Committee (lFRlC).

The Company also prepares and issues consolidated flnancial statements for the same period in
accordance with PFRS. ln the consolidated financial statements, the subsidiary undertakings have
been fully consolidated. Users of these separate financial statements should read them together
with the consolidated financial statements in order to obtain full information on the consolidated
financial position, consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash flows of the Group.
The consolidated financial statements may be obtained at the Company's registered office address
and at the SEC.

Measurement Bases

The separate financial statements are presented in Philippine peso, which is the Company,s
functional currency. All amounts represent absolute values unless otherwise stated.

The separate financial statements of the Company have been prepared on a historical cost basis,
except for aircraft which is measured at revalued amount. Historical cost is generally based on the
fair value of the consideration given in exchange of assets and fair value of the consideration
received in exchange for incurring a liability.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell in an

APR 16 lS:J
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orderly transaction between market participants at
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The Company uses market observable data as far as possible when measuring the fair value of an
asset or a liability. Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on
inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:

Level 1- Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

lf the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorized in different
levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the
same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire
measurement.

The Company recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the
reporting period during which the change has occurred.

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in Notes g
and 20.

Adoption of New and Amended PFRS

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except for
the adoption of the following new and amended PFRS which the Company adopted effective for
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018:

o PFRS 9, Finoncial lnstruments - This standard replaces pAS39, Finoncial lnstruments:
Recognition ond Meosurement (and all the previous versions of pFRS 9). lt contains
requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities,
impairment, hedge accounting, recognition and derecognition.

PFRS 9 requires all recognized financial assets to be subsequently measured at amortized cost
or fair value (through profit or loss or through other comprehensive income [OCl]), depending
on the classification by reference to the business model within which these are held and its
contractual cash flow characteristics.

For financial liabilities where the fair value option is taken, the amount of change in fair value
of a financial liability designated as fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) that is attributable
to changes in the credit risk of that liability is recognized in OCI (rather than in profit or loss),
unless this creates an accounting mismatch.

For the impairment of financial assets, PFRS 9 introduces an expected credit loss (ECL) model
based on the concept of providing for expected losses at inception of a contract. Recognition
of a credit loss should no longer wait for there to be objective evidence of impairment.

For hedge accounting, PFRS 9 introduces a substantial overhaul allowing financial statements
to better reflect how risk management activities are undertaken when hedging financial and
nonfina ncial risk exposures.
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The derecognition provisions are carried over almost unchanged from pAS 39.

The Company has applied PFRS g with an initial application date of January 1, 2018. The
company has not restated the comparative information, which continues to be presented under
PAs 39. The adoption of PFRS 9 did not have a material impact on the financial statements.

The company has performed an assessment and determined the following impact of pFRs 9 on
its financial instruments:

classificotion ond Measurement. Based on the analysis of its business model as at
January 1, 2018 and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial instruments, the
Company has concluded that all of its financial instruments shall continue to be measured on
the same basis as under PAS 39.

The Company's cash and cash equivalents, advances to related parties and other financial assets
that were classified as loans and receivables under PAS 39 are now classified as financial assets
at amortized cost. The Company has not desiBnated any financial liabilities at FVPL. There are
no changes in the classification and measurement for the company's financial liabilities.

The application of the classification and measurement requirements under PFRS 9 did not
materially affect the carrying amounts of the company's financial instruments as at
January 1, 2018.

lmpoirment. The new impairment requirements do not result to significant provision for
impairment with respect to advances to related parties. ln performing the assessment, the
Company considered the available liquid assets of the related partles and the financial support
from the stockholders.

For cash and cash equivalents, the company assessed that the resulting EcL is not significant
because the exposures are with reputable counterparty banks that possess good credit ratings.

PFRS 15, Revenue from Controct with Customers - The new standard replaces pAS 11,
construction contracts, PAs 18, Revenue, and related interpretations. lt establishes a single
comprehensive framework for revenue recognition to apply consistently across transactions,
industries and capital markets, with a core principle (based on a five-step model to be applied to
all contracts wlth customers), enhanced disclosures, and new or improved guidance. An
amendment to the standard was issued to provide clarifications on the following topics:
(a) identifying performance obligations; (b) principal versus agent considerations; and (c)
licensing. The amendments also provide some transition relief for modified contracts and
completed contracts.

The Company adopted PFRS 15 using the modified retrospective approach with the date of
initial application of January 1, 2018. For the prior period presented, the Company has no
material revenue recognized from contracts with customers. Accordingly, the adoption of
PFRS 15 has no significant impact in the Company's separate financial statements.
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New and Amended PFRS in lssue But Not Yet Effective
Relevant new and amended PFRS which are not yet effective for the year ended December 31, 2018
and have not been applied in preparing the separate financial statements are summarized below.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after Janua ry 1,2079 -

. PFRS 16, Leoses - This standard will replace PAS 17 , Leoses, and its related interpretations. The
most significant change introduced by the new standard is that almost all leases will be brought
onto lessees' statement of financial position under a single model (except leases of less than
12 months and leases of low-value assets), eliminating the distinction between operating and
finance leases. Lessor accounting, however, remains largely unchanged and the distinction
between operating and finance lease is retained.

Under prevailing circumstances, the adoption of the foregoing new and amended PFRS is not
expected to have any material effect on the separate financial statements of the Company.
Additional disclosures will be included in the notes to separate financial statements, as applicable.

Financial Assets and Liabilities

Dote of Recognition. The Company recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the separate
statements of financial position when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial
instrument. ln the case of a regular way purchase or sale of financial assets, recognition and
derecognition, as applicable is done using settlement date accounting.

lnitiol Recognition Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value, which is the fair value
of the consideration given (in case of an asset) or received (ln case of a liability). The initial
measurement of financial instruments, except for those designated at FVPL, includes transaction
cost.

"Doy 7" Difference. Where the transaction in a non-active market is different from the fair value of
other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation
technique whose variables include only data from observable market, the Company recognizes the
difference between the transaction price and fair value (a "Day 1" difference) in profit or loss. ln
cases where there is no observable data on inception, the Company deems the transaction price as

the best estimate of fair value and recognizes "Day 1" difference in profit or loss when the inputs
become observable or when the instrument is derecognized. For each transaction, the Company
determines the appropriate method of recognizing the "Day 1" difference.

Clossification of Financial lnstrumerts. Effective January 1, 2018, the Company classifies its financial
assets at initial recognition under the following categories: (a) financial assets at FVPL, (b) financial
assets at amortized cost and (c) financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI). The classification of a financial asset largely depends on the Company's business model and
the instruments contractual cash flow characteristics. Prior to January 1, 2018, financial assets are

categorized as: (a) financial assets at FVPL, (b) held-to-maturity (HTM) investments, (c) loans and
receivables and (d) available for sale (AFS) financial assets. The classification depends on the
purpose for which the financial instruments are acquired or incurred and whether these are quoted
in an active market.

Financial liabilities, on the other hand, are classified as either financial liabilities at FVPL or other
financial liabilities at amortized cost.
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As at December 31, 2018, the Company does not have financial assets and liabilities at FVPL and
financial assets at FVOCI. As at December 37, 2077, the Company does not have financial assets and
iiabilities at FVPL, HTM investments and AFS financial assets.

Finonciol Assets dt Amortized Cosr. Financial assets shall be measured at amortized cost if both of
the following conditions are met:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment, if any. Amortized cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the
financial assets are derecognized and through amortization process. Financial assets at amortized
cost are included under current assets if realizability or collectability is within 12 months after the
reporting period. Otherwise, these are classified as noncurrent assets.

This cateSory includes cash and cash equivalents, nontrade receivables (excluding advances to
employees), advances to related parties, restricted cash and advances to subsidiaries.

Finoncial Liobilities ot Amortized Cost Financial liabilities are categorized as financial liabilities at
amortized cost when the substance of the contractual arrangement results in the Company having
an obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder, or to settle the
obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of its own equity instruments.

These financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value less any directly attributable transaction
costs. After initial recognition, these financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on the issue and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized or impaired or
through the amortization process.

This category includes payables and other current liabilities (excluding statutory payables), advances
from related parties and long-term debt.

Reclassification of Financial Assets
Effective January 1, 2018, the Company reclassifies its financial assets when, and only when, it
changes its business model for managing those financial assets. The reclassification is applied
prospectively from the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business
model (reclassification date).

For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at amortized cost category to financial
assets at FVPL, any gain or loss arising from the difference between the previous amortized cost of
the financial asset and fair value is recognized in profit or loss.
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For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at amortized cost category to financial
assets at FVOCI, any gain or loss arising from a difference between the previous amortized cost of
the financial asset and fair value is recognized in other comprehensive income.

Prior to January 1, 2018, the Company may reclassify certain financial assets when there is a change

in intention, subject to certain requirements as provided under PAS 39.

lmpairment of Financial Assets at Amortized Cost

Effective January 1, 2018, the Company records an allowance for impairment losses on its financial

assets measured at amortized cost based on ECL. ECL is based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Company

expects to receive. The difference is then discounted at an approximation to the asset's original

effective interest rate.

The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equivalent to the 12-month ECL for financial

assets on which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition or that are

determined to have low credit risk at reporting date. Otherwise, impairment loss will be based on

lifetime EcL.

l2-month ECL is the portion of ECL that results from default events on a financial instrument that
are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. However, when there has been a

signiflcant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the allowance will be based on the lifetime
ECL. Lifetime ECL are the ECLS that result from all possible default events over the expected life of
the financial instrument.

The Company considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due.

However, in certain cases, the Company may also consider a financial asset to be in default when

internal or external information indicates that the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding

contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the

Company. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the

contractual cash flows.

Prior to January 1, 2018, an allowance for impairment losses is recognized when a financial asset or
a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired, i.e., if, and only if, there is an objective

evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that have occurred after the initial

recognition of the asset (a "loss event") and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the

estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably

estimated.

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities

Finonciol Assets. A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group

of similar financial assets) is derecognized when:

. the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired;

. the Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an

obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a "pass-throuBh"

arrangement; or
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. the Company has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the asset and either: (a) has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Company has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither
transferred nor retalned substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Company's continuing
involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the
maximum amount of consideration that the Company could be required to repay.

Finoncial Liobilities. A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is

discharged, cancelled or expired. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying
amounts is recognized in profit or loss.

Offsetting Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the separate
statements of financial position il and only il there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset
the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously. This is not generally the case with master netting
agreements, and the related assets and liabilities are presented Bross in the separate statements
of fina ncial posltion.

Classification of Financial lnstrument between Liability and Equity
A financial instrument is classified as liability if it provides for a contractual obli8ation to:

. Deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity;

. Exchan8e financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are
potentially unfavorable to the Company; or

. Satisfy the obligatlon other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial
asset for a fixed number of own equity shares.

lf the Company does not have an unconditional ri8ht to avoid delivering cash or another financial
asset to settle its contractual obligation, the obligation meets the definition of a financial liability.

Other Current Assets
This account consists mainly of excess of input value-added tax (VAT) over output VAT and

creditable withholding taxes (CWT).

yAL Revenues, expenses and assets are recognized net ofthe amount of VAT, except:

o where the tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation
authority, in which case the tax is recognized as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as

part of the expense item as applicable; and

. receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of tax included.
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The net amount of tax recoverable from the taxation authority is included as part of "Other current
assets" in the separate statements of financial position.

CW. CWf represents the amount withheld by the Company's customers in relation to its income.
CWT can be utilized as payment for income taxes provided that these are properly supported by
certificates of creditable tax withheld at source subject to the rules on Philippine income taxation.
CWT is stated at estimated net realizable value (NRV).

lnvestments in Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. The Company has control when it is exposed, or
has right, to variable returns from its investment with the investee and it has the ability to affect
those returns through its powers over the investee.

The Company carries its investment in subsidiaries using the cost method. Under the cost method,
investments are carried in the Company's separate statements of financial position at cost less any
impairment in value.

Aircraft
The Company adopted the revaluation model in measuring its aircraft. Under the revaluation
model, aircraft is initially recorded at cost and subsequently measured at fair value less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, if any. Valuations are performed with sufficient regularity to
ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying amount.
Additions subsequent to the last appraisal date are stated at acquisition cost.

A revaluation increase is recorded initially in OCI and accumulated to the revaluation surplus in
equity. However, the increase is recognized in profit or loss to the extent that it reverses a

revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognized in profit or loss. A revaluation
decrease is recognized in profit or loss, except to the extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the
same asset recognized in revaluation surplus in equity in which case the decrease is recognized in
ocr.

Upon disposal, any revaluation surplus relating to the particular asset being sold is transferred to
retained earnings.

Each part of the property and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of
the item is depreciated separately. Depreciation of aircraft is computed on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful life of 15 to 23 years.

The estimated useful life and depreciation method are reviewed periodically to ensure that the
periods and method of depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits
from items of aircraft.

An item of aircraft is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognized.
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lmpairment of Nonfinancial Assets
Nonfinancial assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The Company assesses at each reporting date

whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. lf any such indication exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Company makes an estimate of the asset's

recoverable amount. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or cash-generating

unit's (CGU) fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset,

unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable

amount, the asset is considered impaired and is wrltten down to its recoverable amount. ln assessing

value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax

discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks

specific to the asset.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously

recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. lf such indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last

impairment loss was recognized. lf that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its
recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have

been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior
years. Such reversal is recognized in profit or loss unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in

which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. After such reversal the depreciation
charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset's revised carrying amount, less any residual

value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

Caoital Stock and Additional Paid-in Capital
Capital stock is measured at par value for all shares issued. Proceeds and/or fair value of
considerations received in excess of par value, if any, are recognized as additional paid-in capital.

lncremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new capital stock are recognized as a

deduction, net of tax, from the equity.

Deficit
Deficit represents the cumulative balance of the company's results of operations.

Treasurv Shares
Treasury shares are own equity instruments whlch are reacquired. These are recognized at cost

and deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognized in the profit or loss on the purchase, sale,

issue or cancellation of the Company's own equity instruments. Any difference between the
carrying amount and the consideration, if reissued, is recognized as additional paid-in capital.

Voting rights related to treasury shares are nullified for the Company and no dividends are

a llocated to them.
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Revenue Recognition
Revenue from contract with customers is recognized when the performance obligation in the

contract has been satisfied, either at a point in time or over time.

The Company also assesses its revenue arrangements to determine if it is acting as principal or as an

agent. The Company has assessed that it acts as a principal in all of its revenue sources.

The Company has no material revenue the falls within the scope of PFRS 15. The following specific

recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized.

lnterest lncome. lnterest income is recognized as the interest accrues taking into account the

effective yield on the assets.

Goin on Sole of Availoble-For-Sale (AFS) Finonciol Asset. Gain on sale of AFS financial asset are

recognized upon transfer of risks and rewards to the buyer.

Rent lncome. Rent income from operating leases is recognized on a straightline basis over the term

of the lease. Contingent rent income is recognized when it arises'

Other lncome. lncome from other sources is recognized when earned during the period.

Cost and Expense Recoqnition
Costs and expenses are decreases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of
outflows or depletion of assets or incurrence of liabilities that result In decreases in equity, other than

those relatinB to distributions to equity participants.

Cost ol Services. Cost of services is recoBnized as expense when services are rendered.

- Generol ond Administrdtive Expenses. General and administrative expenses constitute costs of

administering the business. These are expensed as incurred.

lnterest Expense ond Other Finonce Charges. lnterest expense and other finance charges are

recognized as they accrue. This includes the amortization of any discount or premium or other

differences between the initial carrying amount of an interest-bearing instrument and its amount at

maturity calculated in an effective interest rate basis.

Operating Lease

compony os o Lessor. operating lease represents lease under which the company retains

substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset. lnitial direct costs incurred in

negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized

on a straight-line basis over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are

recognized as revenue in the period in which these are earned.

lncome Taxes

Current Tox. Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the

amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rate and the tax

laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the end of

the reporting period.
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Deferred lox. Deferred tax is provided on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial

reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, including asset

revaluations. Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences,

carryforward benefits of unused tax credits (from excess minimum corporate income tax or MCIT

over regular corporate income tax) and unused tax losses (net operating loss carryover or NOLCO),

to the extent that it is probable that sufficient future taxable profit will be available against which

the deductible temporary differences and carryforward benefits of unused tax credits and unused

tax losses can be utilized.

Deferred tax liability is not recoBnized when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,

affects neither the accounting profit or loss nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax liabilities are not
provided on non-taxable temporary differences associated with investment in domestic subsidiaries.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and

reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable profit will be

available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax

assets are re-assessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognized to the extent that it
has become probable that sufficient future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be

recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rate that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rate and tax laws that have

been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to offset the current

tax assets against the current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.

Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside profit or loss is recognized outside profit or loss.

Deferred tax items are recognized in relation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in

equity.

Related Parties
parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the

other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating

decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or

common significant influence.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, seryices or obligations between a reporting

entity and a related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

Provisions
provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a

result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will

be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the

obligation.
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Provisions are made using the best estimates of the amount required to settle the obligation and

are discounted to present values using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. Changes in estimates are reflected in
profit or loss in the period they arise.

Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the separate financial statements. These are disclosed in

the notes to separate financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow of resources

embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets are not recognized in the separate

financial statements but are disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Events After the Reportins Date
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Company's financial position at

reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected in the separate financial statements. Post year-end

events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to separate financial statements

when material.

3. Significant Judgment, Accounting Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of the separate financial statements in accordance with PFRS requires management

to exercise judgment, make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts of assets, liabilities,

income and expenses reported in the separate financial statements. The judgment, estimates and

assumptions used in the separate financial statements are based upon management's evaluation of

relevant facts and circumstances as at reporting date. While management believes that the

assumptions are reasonable and appropriate, significant differences in the actual experience or

significant changes in the assumptions may materially affect the estimated amounts. Actual results

could differ from such estimates.

Judqment
ln the process of applying the Company's accounting policies, management has made the following
judgment, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the

amounts recognized in the separate financial statements.

Assessing Ability to Continue os a Going Concern. The Company's management has made an

assessment of the Company's ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied that the

Company has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore,

management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the

Company's ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the separate financial statements

continue to be prepared on a going concern basis.

Estoblishing Control in lnvestment in Subsidiories. The Company determined that it has control over

its subsidiaries by considering, among others, its power over the investee, exposure or rights to

variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and the ability to use its power over the

Investee to affect its returns. The following were also considered:

. The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee

. Rights arising from other contractual agreements
o The company's voting ri8hts and potential voting rights
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Evoluoting Legol Contingencles. There are on-going litigations involving the Company which
management believes would not have a material adverse impact on the Company's financial
condition and results of operations. The estimate of the probable costs for the resolution of possible

claims have been developed in consultation with legal counsel handling the Company's defense in

these matters and is based upon an analysis of potential results (see Note 20).

Estimates and Assumptions
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
financial reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Assessing Expected Credit Losses. The Company applies the general approach in measuring the
expected credit losses. The Company assessed that cash are deposited with reputable

counterparty banks that possess good credit ratings. For related party transactions, the Company

considered the available liquid assets and letter of support from the stockholders.

The Company assesses that a financial asset is considered credit impaired when one or more

events that have a detrimental effect on the estimated future cash flows of the asset have

occurred such as significant financial difficulty on the part of counterparty.

No expected credit losswas recognized in 2OL8,2OL7 and2016. The carrying amounts offinancial
assets carried at amortized cost are as follows:

2018 2017Note

Advances to subsidiaries
Advances to related parties

Nontrade receivables*

7

t2
5

?9,7L3,062,357 F8,454,693,1,81

20,940,8tL
153

9,409,913
7 4,7 LO

rExcluding odvonces to employees omounting to F0.2 million ond nil os ot Decefibet 31, 2018 ond 2017, rcspectively.

Estimoting lJselul Life of Aircroft. The Company estimates the useful life based on the period over

which these assets are expected to be available for use. The estimated useful life is reviewed
periodically and is updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear

and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of these

assets. ln addition, estimation of the useful lives is based on collective assessment of industry

practice, internal technical evaluation and experience with similar assets. lt is possible, however,

that future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in estimates brought
about by changes in factors mentioned above. The amounts and timinB of recorded expenses for
any period would be affected by changes in these factors and circumstances.

There were no cha nges in the estimated useful life of aircraft in 20t8, 2077 , and 2016.

Determining Fair Volue oI Aircroft Meosured dt Revolued Amount. Management uses valuation

techniques where active market quotes are not available to determine the fair value of
nonfinancial assets. This includes developing estimates and assumptions consistent with how

market participants would price the asset. As at reporting date, the management believes that
the carrying amount of acquired aircraft approximates its fair value.

The carryinB amount of aircraft amounted to P 77.2 million and P 81.5 million as at

December 31, 2O!8 and 2077 , respectively (see Note 8).
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Estimoting Nonfinanciol Assets for lmpoirment. The Company assesses impairment on

nonfinancial assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying

amount of these assets may not be recoverable. The factors that the Company considers

important which could trigger an impairment review include the following:

. Significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating

results;
. Significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the strategy for overall

business; and
o Significant negative industry or economic trends.

An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated

recoverable amount.

ln determining the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to be generated from

the continued use of the assets, the Company is required to make estimates and assumptions that
can materially affect the separate financial statements.

The Company recognized impairment loss on prepayments amounting to P0.9 million in 2015

(see Note 14). The carrying amounts of nonfinancialassets are as follows:

2018 2077N ote

lnvestments in subsidiaries
Other current assets

Aircraft

7

6

8

PL3,37 3,0L3,L23 P13,37 0,513,123
z3,o12,497
77 ,202,L61

22,53L,288
8L,49L,17 L

Assessing Reolizobility of Delerred Tox Assets. The Company reviews its deferred tax assets at

each reportlng date and reduces the carrying amount to the extent that it is no longer probable

that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be

utilized. There is no assurance that the Company wlll generate sufficient taxable profit to allow all

or part of its deferred tax asset to be utilized.

Unrecognized deferred tax assets amounted to P 19.2 million and P 28.2 million as at

December3l, 2018 and 2077, respectively (see Note 15). Management believes that it is not

probable that sufficient taxable income will be available to allow the deferred tax assets to be

utilized.

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents

This account consists of:

2018 2017

Cash in banks
Short-term investments

?2,853,75L ?6,625,440
10

Cash in banks earn interest at prevailing bank deposit rates. Short-term investments are made for

varying periods of up to three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the

Company, and earn interest at the prevailing short-term investment rates.
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lnterest earned amounted to P1.0 million, P334,983 and P66,298 in 2018, 2077 and 2016,

respectively.

5. Nontrade Receivables

This account consists of:

2018 2017

N ontrade receivables P1,153,600 P7 4,770

Nontrade receivables are unsecured, noninterest-bearing and are generally collectible within one

yea r.

Advances to employees and an officer of an affiliate are noninterest-bearing and are subject to
liquidation for a specified period of time.

6. Other Current Assets

This account consists of:

2018 2017

lnput VAT

CWT

Others

?22,670,217
58,848

P22 ,444 ,841,
59,869

ln 2015, the company wrote-off the prepayments amounting to P877,658 (see Note 14).

7. lnvestments in and Advances to Subsidiaries

This account consists of:

Note 2018 2017

lnvestments in subsidiaries
Advances to subsidiaries

?L3,373,OL3,L23 P1,3 ,37 0 ,51,3 ,1,23

4

Acquisition costs of investments in subsidiaries are as follows:

P23,086,075,480

2018

,310

201,7

Alphaland southgate Tower, lnc. (AsTl)

Alphaland Balesin lsland Resort Corporation (ABlRCl

Alphaland Aviation, lnc. (Ml)
ASAI

(Forward)

P!1,978,987,4tO
1,290,581,165

49,249,500
19,158,843

PrL,978,98? ,470
t,290,58L,765

49,249,500
19,158,843
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2017

Aegle Wellness Center, lnc. (AWCI)

Alphaland Reclamation Corporation (ARC)

Alphaland lnternational, lnc. (All)

Alphaland International, lnc. - BVI (AllBVl)

Lodgepole Holdings lnc. (LHl)

Redstone Mountain Holdings, lnc. (RMHI)

Mt. Baguio Holding Estates lnc. (MBHEI)

Pinecrest Holdings, lnc. (PHl)

Alphaland Eaguio Mountain Log Homes, lnc. (ABMLHI)

Alphaland lnternational Balesin Gateway, lnc. (formerly
Alphaland Balesin Gateway, lnc.) (ABlGl)

18,750,000
6,663,705
6,250,000

800,000
525,000
625,000
625,000
625,000

62,500

10,000

18,750,000
6,663,705
6,250,000

800,000

62,50;

10,000

773,373,OL3,r23 P13,370,513,123

Details of the Company's unpaid subscription are as follows:

2018 2017

AWCI

A
LHI

RM HI

M BHEI

PHI

ABMLHI

P56,250,000
18,750,000

1,875,000
1,875,000
1,875,000
1,875,000

187,500

P56,250,000
18,750,000

1S7,50;
F82,687,500 P7 5,1,87 ,500

Further information about the subsidiaries of the Company is as follows:

Percentage of
Effective Ownership

Nature of Business

Real property development
Real property development
Real property development
Real property development
Real property development
Aviation
Wellness center
HoldinB company
Holding company
Holding company
Holding company
Holding company
Holding company
Security agency

2018 2017

ASTI

ABMLHI
ABIGI

ARC

ABIRC

AAI

AWCI
A

AIIBVI

RMHI+*
LHI**
MBHEI**
PHI'B*

ASAI*

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

r.00

100

100

80

'Become o subsidiory in 2077-

"Incorporoted in 2078-

ASTI was incorporated and registered with the
Corporation. The Philippine SEC approved the
Development, lnc." on December 28, 2009 and

october 15, 2015.

Philippine SEC on May 29, ZO07 as Alphaland

change in its corporate name to "Alphaland
then to "Alphaland Southgate Tower, lnc." on

Company
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ASTI'S main property is a 2o-storey office tower building with a six-storey podium shopping mall
known as Alphaland Southgate Tower.

ABMLHI was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on January 17, 2073 as

Alphaland Holdings Company, lnc. on september 7, 2015, the Philippine SEc approved the
change in its corporate name to "Alphaland Baguio Mountain Log Homes, lnc.".

ABMLHI's main project is the Alphaland Baguio Mountain Lodges Project which pertains to
16.8 hectares of land situated in Benguet that is currently being developed as horizontal
condominium for sale.

ABIGI was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on May 19, 2010 as Aklan
Boracay Properties, lnc. The Philippine SEC approved the change in the corporate name to
"Alphaland Balesin Gateway, lnc." on October 17, 2016 then to "Alphaland Balesin lnternational
Gateway, lnc." on April 10,2018.

ARc was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on April 5,2011 primarily to
engage in the construction of reclamation projects and to contract for and perform reclamation
works.

ABIRC was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on May 26,2OlO primarily to
invest in, purchase, or otherwise acqulre and own, hold, use, sell, assign, transfer, mortgage,
pledge, and exchange or otherwise dispose, as may be permitted by law, of real and personal
property of every kind and description.

AAI was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on July 37, 2072 primarily to
engage in the aviation industry and its related businesses, including but not limited to, the
provision of hangarage and moorage, parking and landing operations, aircraft maintenance,
supply of parts, oils, and lubricants and other related businesses.

AWCI was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on September 28, 2015 primarily
to provide diagnostic, therapheutic and naturopathic services using formulated herbal
supplements and natural health products and sale of such herbal supplements.

All was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on January 29,2OL4 primarily to
market assets, including club shares and condominium units of the Group outside the Philippine
market.

AllBVl was incorporated and registered in the British Virgin lslands on September 6, 2002 as a

holding company.

RMHI, LHl, MBHEI and PHI were incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC in 2018
primarily to invest in, purchase, or otherwise acquire and own, hold, sell, assign, transfer,
mortgage, pledge, exchange or otherwise dispose, as may be permitted by law, of real and
personal property of every kind and description.

ASAI was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on March 18, 2011 primarily to
engage in the business of providing security and investigation services to private institutions and
government organizations.
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8. Aircraft

Movements in this account are as follows:

2018 201,7

Cost
Balance at beginning of year

Additions
F98,337,025 P97,OL7,L82

L,325,843

Balance at end of year 98,337,025 9a,337,O25

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance at beginning of year
Depreciation 4,289,010

16,845,854 72,605,478
4,240,376

Balance at end of year 21,134,464 16,845,854

Carrying Amount P77 ,202,L6L P81, ,491, ,17 1,

The management evaluated that the carrying amount of the aircraft acquired in 2014 approximates
the fair value as at December 31, 2ot8 and 2oL7 .

The Company entered into an operating lease agreement with Macondray Plastics Products, lnc. for
the lease of the machinery equipment and tools until September 30, 2016. Rent income amounted
to P669,647 in 2015. The machinery equipment and tools were disposed for P2.7 million in 2016.

Depreciation consists of the following:

2017 2016
Aircraft
Machinery equipment and tools

P4,289,010 P4,240,376 P4,70L,826
17,890,033

F4,289,010 P4,240,37 6 P 2 2,091,859

Depreciation recognized in profit or loss is charged to the following:

N ote ?o17 2076
General and administrative

expenses
Cost of services

t4
13

P4,2a9,OLo P4,240,37 6 P4,?07,826
17,890,033

P4,289,010 P4,240,37 6 P22 ,O91, ,859

9. Payables and Other Current Liabilities

This account consists of:

2018 2017

Nontrade
Accrued expenses
statutory payables

Pto,a52,r97
379,94L
724,390

P28,062,056
72,6s2

2,009,807

F11,956,558 P30,144,515
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Nontrade payables pertain to liabilities assumed by the Company in favor of a related party. These
are unsecured noninterest-bearing and are due for payment within 30 to 120 days.

Accrued expenses mainly pertain to accruals for interest expense and normal operating expenses

which are normally settled within the next financial year.

Statutory payables are payables to government agencies which are normally settled within 30 days.

10. Long-Term Debt

This account consists of:

2018 2011

Current
Noncurrent

P1,053,553,092 P941,,347,61,4

4,467,365,738 5,208,690,309

P5,521,018,230 P6,190,437,923

Omnibus Loon ond Security Agreement (OLSA) with Banco de Oro (gDO)

On February 75, 2Ot7, the Company entered into an OLSA wlth BDO for a loan facility of
F5,500.0 million to refinance the existing Group loans and to finance new projects and working
capital requirements ofthe Group. The aggregate carrying amount of refinanced loans on the date
of refinancing (inclusive of interest) amounted to P4,561.4 million. This loan facility was

subsequently increased to F6,726.0 million in the last quartet of 2077. Loan drawdowns aggregated

to P400.0 million and P6,286.0 million in 2018 and 2017, respectively. The Company had undrawn
borrowing facility available amounting toP40.0 million as at December 31, 2018.

The loan is presented net of deferred financing cost amounting to F74.0 million and P96.0 million as

at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Amortization of deferred financing cost amounting to
P21.9 million and P20.5 million in 2018 and 2017, respectively, was transferred to the company's

subsidiaries with refinanced loans (see Note 12).

lnterest, which is based on the sum of the Fixed Tranche lnterest Rate and the Floating Tranche

lnterest Rate, is payable quarterly. Fixed Tranche lnterest Rate is the sum of the prevailing

seven-year PDST-R2 rate plus 2.75% spread per annum. Floating Tranche lnterest Rate is the higher

of the sum of the prevailing three-month PDST-R2 rate plus 2.75% spread per annum or the sum of
the prevailing deposit facility rate adopted by the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) for deposit

facilities with a term of 28 days plvs 1.25% spread per annum.

Effective interest rates of the long-term debt range from 5.0% to 9.1% and 4.8%o to 8.tYo per annum

in 2018 and 2017, respectively. No interest expense pertaining to OLSA with BDO was charged to
profit or loss. lnterest expense amounting to P200.2 million and P245.5 million in 2018 and 2017,

respectively, was recognized by the Company's subsidiaries with refinanced loans (see Note 12).

The OLSA with BDO is secured by: a) real estate mortgage over the lots and improvements in Balesin

lsland, properties in Alphaland Southgate Tower, Alphaland Makati Place and Silang Property with
an aggregate value ofF39,500.0 million; bI Continuing Surety Agreement with Alphaland Balesin

lsland Club, lnc. (ABlCl), ABlRc, Alphaland Makati Place, lnc. (AMPI) and ASTI; and c) a Share

MortBage in Alphaland Property Management Corporation, ABIRc and ABlCl.
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The Company is required to maintain a Debt Service Reserve Account (DSRA) in relation to the OLSA

entered into by the Company with BDO. The DSRA is intended to hold cash deposits equivalent to
the upcoming interest and/or principal payment of the loan.

The OLSA with BDO has an original term of seven years, payable in 25 quarterly principal

amortizations commencing one year after initial drawdown date.

The scheduled maturities of the Company's outstanding OLSA with BDO as at December 31, 2018

are as follows:

P1,o65,7 25,2t8
1,065,725,277
3 ,463 ,606 ,957
5,595,057,392

Less deferred financing cost (74,039,162)

F5,521,018,230

Assignment of OLSA with BDO to Philippine Bank of Communications (PBCom)

The long-term loan with BDO under the OISA dated February f5, 2oL7, amounting to
P5,653.2 million incluslve of interest and adjustments as of January 23,2019, was assigned effective
on the same date by BDO to PBCom - Trust and Wealth Management Group pursuant to an

Assignment Agreement dated January 23, ?O!9 between the parties.

Loan Focility with PBCom

On February 17, 2076, the Company entered into an OLSA with PBCom for a loan facility of
P 480.0 million for the purpose of financing the general corporate purpose of ALPHA.

On February 17, 2016 and May 7!, 2015, the Company made the first and second drawdown
amounting to P400.0 million and P80.0 million, respectively.

The loan has a term of seven years from initial drawdown date, inclusive of a grace period of one
year reckoned from the initial drawdown date, payable In 24 quarterly principal amortizations after
the lapse of the grace period. lnterest, which is based on floating rate of the higher of the
three-month benchmark rate plus spread of 3% per annum and Bangko Sentral ng Pllipinas

overnight borrowing rate plus spread of !.25% pet annum, is payable quarterly.

The loan was fully settled in 20u.

lnterest expense and other financing cost recognized in the profit or loss amounted to nil,

P3.9 million and P23.4 million in 2ol8,2Ol7 and 2016, respectively. The loan was fully settled in
2077 .
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11. Equity

Capital Stock

a. This account consists of:

2018 2071

Number ot
Shares

Number of
Amount Shares Amount

Authorized capitalstock (F0.1 Par

Value and F1 Par Value in 2018
and 2017, respectively)

Beginning of year 5,000,000,000 ,5,000,000,000 5,000,000,000 F5,000,000,000
Ff{c.f ol <to.k snlil 45 Om flm OOO -
End ofyear 50,m0,0q),000 P5,0{rc,0fi),000 5,000,000,000 F5,000,000,000

lssued
Beginning of year
Additions
Effect of stock split

2,654,707,477
L86,466,424

25 ,570,564 ,569

2,555,707,417 2,654,707,4t7 P2,655,707,4\7
186,466,424 

_ -

End of yeat 28,411,738,410 P2,842,173,U1 2,654,707 ,417 P2,655,707 ,477

Treasury

ln 2018, the Company issued 185,455,424 common shares resulting to an additional paid-in
capital amounting to P2,029.7 million.

The total number of shareholders, which includes PCD Nominee Corporation, is 88 and 57 as at
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Stock Split
On December 10, 2018, the SEC

whereby its capital stock would be

F0.10 each share. The stock split
ownership of the shareholders.

The resulting shareholder structure
treasury shares, is as follows:

approved ALPHAs application for a 10-for-1 stock split,
divided into P50.0 billion common shares with a par value
has no dilutive effect on the proportionate percentage

of ALPHA, after the transactions mentioned above, net of

Shareholders Number of Shares

ASTI

RVO Capital Ventures Corporation
Boerstar Corporation
Red Epoch Group Ltd.
Fine Land Limited
Azurestar Corporation
Loustar Corporation*
Powerventures, lnc.+
Galaxyhouse, lnc.*

(Forward)

73,834,27 4,790
8,426,567 ,460
1,677 ,884,300

967,t34,730
890,000,000
280,626,360
222,510,970
279,604,500
190,304,900



-22-

Shareholders Number of Shares

Crystal Ventures, lnc.*
Towermill Capital Ventures Corporation+
Gemsplace Resources, lnc.*
Summer Wind Capital Ventures Corporation*
Mega Access Capital Ventures, lnc.*
Globalcentric Corporation*
Earthlight, lnc.t
Regentstar Holdings Corporation*
Citadel lnvestments Limited
Derek Arculli
Redcrest Holdings Corporation*

188,796,760
L88,454,140
L87 ,5L2,680
767 ,t69,230
LOO,825,370

100,473,550
too,247,230
100,138,190
100,000,000
100,000,000

98,555,520
Other minority 272,348,220

28,407,499,4L0

'With outstonding subsctiption rcceivobles.

12. Related Party Transactions

The following tables summarize the transactions with the related parties and outstanding balance
arising from these transactions.

Nutrr" of
Transactions 2018 2077 2018 201,7

Advances to Related Panies
tntities und€r common key manaSement

F37,406,519 P4,922,743 ?t7,O23,449 F5,492,551

P20,940,811 t9,409,913

Advances to subsidiades
Subsidiaraes cashadvances 11,070,763,A7

ereenses 280,145,862
Transfer of interest

expense 2U),202,517

deferred financing

21,520,936,702 77,516,22L,473 ?6,501,675,762

1,383,651,965 2,196,8i1o,444 1,953,017,425

246,477,Sa7

21,922,915 20,515,075

F9,713,052,357 P8,454,693,187

Advances from Related Parties
Entities under.ommon key management Reimbursements

of expenses t117,5E5,500 P22,U5,221 7144,30\,!73 ?21,149,ta1

Terms and Conditions of Transactions with Related Parties

Outstanding balances as at reporting date are unsecured, noninterest-bearing and settlement
occurs in cash. The Company has not made any provision for impairment losses relating to the
amounts owed by related parties.

Compensation of Kev Management Personnel

Key management personnel of the Company are also officers of ASTI. These key management
personnel do not receive direct compensation from the Company, but from ASTI.
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Commitments
The Company has issued corporate surety in favor of various counterparties in connection with the

transactions entered into by its subsidiaries (see Note 20). The Company is also a co-borrower in a

loan facility agreement entered into by the company and Alphaland Aviation-Pampanga, lnc. (AAPI)

in March 2017 and Ml in 2016 with BDO Leasing and Finance, lnc. (BDOLFI).

13. Cost of Services

This account pertains to depreciation expense of machinery equipment and tools amounting to
F17.9 million in 2016 (see Note 8).

14. General and Administrative Expenses

This account consists of:

Note zoLa 2017

service and professional fees

Depreciation
Taxes and licenses

Outside services
office supplies and printing
Representation
Bank charges
lmpairment loss on

prepayments

Others

P5,149,453
4,289,O70
1,833,42s

s97,600
62,424
47 ,721
28,743

228,8L7

F3,638,225
4,240,376

6,511

23,536
26,922
66,430

P79,2L2,O87
4,207,826
2,445,262

6,667
74,808
19,555

877,658

P27,516,455

15. lncome Taxes

The current provision for income tax represents the Company's MCIT in 2018 and 2017. There is no

provision for income tax in 2015 due to the company's taxable loss position.

The following deferred tax assets were not recognized as it is not probable that sufficient taxable

proflt will be available to allow the benefit of the net deferred tax assets to be utilized in the future:

20L8 201,7

7L9,206,2s7 P28,186,65 9
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The details of MCIT which can be claimed as deduction from income tax due are as follows:

Year lncurred
Beginning

Balance lncurred Expired Ending Balance Expiry Year

2018
20L7

P- P1,700 P- P1,700

1,038 1,038

202r
2020

P1,038 P1,700 P- P2,738

As at December 31,2018, details of the Company's unused NOLCO which can be claimed as

deduction against future taxable income are as follows:

Year lncurred
Beginning

Balance lncu rred Expired Ending Ealance Expiry Year

2018
201,7

201,6

2015

P_

7,760,291
48,468,697

37,726,542

P7,79r,869 8- P7,79L,469

- 7,760,291

- 48,468,697
(37,726,542\

2027
2020
2019
2018

p93,955,530 p7,791-,869 \p37,726,542\ p64,020,857

The reconciliation of income tax computed at statutory tax rate to provision for income taxes shown
in the separate statements of comprehensive income are as follows:

2017 2076

lncome tax computed at statutory tax rate
Expired NOLCO

Change in unrecognized deferred tax asset
Add (deduct) tax effects of:

Nondeductible expenses
lnterest income subjected to finaltax

(P3,342,348)

7L,3L7 ,963
(8,978,7O2].

1,308,2L9
(303,432)

(P3,556,295)

L6,360,622
(L4,031.,497l.

7,328,703
(100,49s)

(P18,158,975)

74,534,376
6,233

5,858,255
(19,889)

lncome subjected to capital gains tax (2,220,000].

lncome tax computed at effective tax rate P1,700 P1,038

16. Total Comprehensive Loss Per Share

Totalcomprehensive loss per share is computed as follows:

2018 20t7 2076
(a) Net loss
(b) Weighted average number of shares

outstanding before effect of stock split

(P11,142,850)

2,747,576,725

(P11,8s5,354) (P66,294,97?l

2,654,283,517 2,654,283,517

Basic/diluted loss per share (a/b) (P0.004) (P0.004) (Po.o 2 s )

Total comprehensive loss per share is computed based on weighted average number of shares

outstanding before the effect of stock split which was approved by the SEC on December 10, 2018.

This is intended as additional information for management reporting purposes only.
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17. Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Company's principal financial instruments comprise of cash and cash equivalents, nontrade
receivables (excluding advances to employees), advances to related parties, restricted cash,

advances to subsidiaries, payables and other current liabilities (excluding statutory payables),

advances from related parties and long-term debt. The main purpose of these financial instruments
is to raise funds for the Company's operations.

The BOD has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company's risk

management framework. The Company's risk management policies are established to identify and
manaBe the Company's exposure to financial risks, to set appropriate transaction limits and
controls, and to monitor and assess risks and compliance to internal control policies. Risk

management policies and structure are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions
and the Company's activities.

The Company has exposure to credit risk and liquidity risk from the use of its financial instruments.
The BOD reviews and approves the policies for managing each of these risks.

C.edit Risk

Credit risk is due to uncertainty in the counterparty's ability to meet its obligations. With respect to
credit risk arising from financial assets consisting of cash and cash equivalents, nontrade
receivables (excluding advances to employees), advances to related parties, restricted cash and
advances to subsidiaries, the Company's exposure to credit risk arises from default of the
counterparty, with a maxlmum exposure equal to the carrying amount ofthese instruments.

Since the Company trades only with recognized third parties and related parties, there is no
requirement for collateral. There are no other concentrations of credit risk within the Company.

The tables below summarize the analysis of the Company's financial assets:

Neither Past

Due nor
lmpaired

Past Due but not lmpaired
1'30 Days 31-50 Days Over 60 Days lmpaired Total

Cash end cash equivalents
Nontrade receivables'
Advances to related parties

Restricted cash

Advances to subsidiaries 9,713,062,357 - - - - 9,713,062,357

,-r-FFr2,853,7s1_ : ": _,;ill,ffi
r- F4,400

:2,853,751
1,149,200

20,940,811
378,834,896

P10,116,841,015 :-:10,116,84s,415

' Excluding odvonces to employees onounting to PO.2 million

Neither Past

Due nor

lmpaired

Past Due but not lmpaired

l-30 oays 31-60 Days Over 60 Days mpaired Tota

Cash and cash equivalents
Nontrade receavables

Advances to related parties

Advances to subsidiaries

P16,625,440
74,170

9,409,913
a,454,693,787

:16,625,440
74,170

9,409,913
8,4s4,693,1a7

P- P- ,_ F_

P8,480,802,710 P- F8,480,802,710
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Credit Quolity of Finoncial Assets. The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Company

using internal credit ratings such as high grade and standard grade.

High Grade - consists of financial assets from counterparties with good financial condition and with
relatively low defaults, thus credit risk exposure is minimal. This normally includes large prime

financial institutions and companies.

Standard Grade - pertains to financial assets having risks of default but are still collectible.

The Company has assessed the credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor
impaired as high grade.

LiquidiW Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to settle or meet its obligations on time or
at a reasonable price. Management is responsible for liquidity, funding as well as settlement
management. ln addition, liquidity and funding risk, related processes and policies are overseen by

the management. The Company manages its liquidity risk based on business needs, tax, capital or
regulatory considerations, if applicable, through numerous sources of finance in order to maintain
flexibility.

The Company also maintains a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility. The policy of
the Company is to first exhaust lines available from related parties before local bank lines are

availed of. The Company seeks to manage its liquid funds through cash planning on a weekly basis.

The Company uses historical figures and experiences and forecasts from its cash receipts and

disbursements. As part of its liquidity risk management, the Company regularly evaluates its
projected and actual cash flows. lt also continuously assesses conditions in the financial markets for
opportunities to pursue fund raising activities.

The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the Company's financial liabilities based on
undiscounted cash flows:

less than
l Year

l Year up to
3 Years 3 Years Total

Payables and other current liabilitiesr ,-
t44,30t,t7SAdvances from related parties

Long-term debt

P- P-

7,O55,725,2t7 3,453,606,958
349,5s7p42 165,407,199

PlL,23Z,t7a

1,065,? 25,217
217,316,496

217,232,178
144,301,t75

5,595,057,392
412,282,037

?144,301,17 5 ?7,354,274,291 P1,455,283,159 71,629,O14,ls1 P6,582,81 2,142

'Excluding stdtutory pdyobl.s onountingto PO.a millian.

On Demand

More ihan
Lessthan l Year upto

1 Year 3 Years

More than
3 Years Tota

Payables and other current liabilitiesl
Advances from related parties

Long-term debt

:- F28,134,708

- 21,140,747
F P2a,734,708 P-

27,140,t47

- 996,160,000 1,992,320,000 3,297,520,OOO 5,286,000,000

Future interest - 362,249,351 541,516,050 364,852,708 1,258,618,109

?27,140)g P1,386,544059 F2,533,835,050 P3,662,312,7O8 F7,509,893,004

'Ex.luding stotutory pdyables omountinqto ?2.0 nillion.
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18. Capital Manatement

The primary objective of the Company's capital management is to ensure that the Company has

sufficient funds in order to support its business, pay existing obligations and maximize shareholder
va lue.

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in

economic conditions. To manage or adjust the capital structure, the Company may obtain additional
advances from stockholders, adjust the return of capital to stockholders or issue new shares. No

changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes in 2018, 2077 and 2076.
The Company monitors capital using the monthly cash position report and financial statements. The
Company considers its equity as capital employed.

19. Fair value Measurement

The following tables present the carrying amount and fair value of the Company's assets and
liabllities measured at fair value or for which fair value is disclosed, and the corresponding fair value
hierarchy.

Carrying

Quoted price

(Levell)

Significant
observable

lnputs
{l,evel2l

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level3)

Asset forwhich fairvalue is disclosed
I P77,202,151 ?7 7,207,151

liability for which fairvalue is disclosed
Long-term debt 10 P5,S9S,0S7,392 F- F6,951,408,526

Fair Value

Carrying

Quoted pri.e
in active
market3
(Levell)

SiSnificant Significant
observable unobservable

lnputs inputs
(Level 2) {Level3)

Asset for which fai. value is disclosed
Aircraft ?a\491,111 Pa1,491,7t't

Uablllty torwhich rai. v.lue i5 disclosed
Long-term debt 10 P5,286,000,000 P- P7,554,618,109

The following methods and assumptions were used to determine the fair value of each class for
which it is practicable to estimate such value.

Aircraft. As at December 31, 2018, the management has assessed the carrying amount of the
aircraft acquired in 2014 approximates its fair value.

Long-term Debt. fhe fair value of the Company's long-term debt was determined as the sum of all

future cash flows, discounted using the prevailing market rates of interest for similar type of
instruments. The discount rates used in determining the fair value of long-term debt range from
4.86% Io 5.94%in 2Ot8 and 4.67%to 5.91Yo in 2077.

F-

2477
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There were no transfers between levels in the fair value hierarchy as at December 31, 2018 and
2077 .

The table below presents the financial assets and liabilities of the Company whose carrying amounts
approximate the fair values due to the short-term nature of the transactions:

2017

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Nontrade receivables*
Advances to related parties

Restricted cash

Advances to subsidiaries

?2,853,75L
1,153,600

20,940,811
378,834,896

9 ,7 L3 ,062,357

?76,625,440
74,7LO

9,409,913

4,454,693,787

Financial Liabilities
Payables and other current liabilities* * 7LL,232,L74 P28,1,34,708

Advances from related parties 144,301,175 27,140,187

i155,533,353 Pss,274,895
,Excludinq otfuonces to employees ornounting to m-2 million ond nil os ot Decembet 37, 2078 ond 2077, tespectively.

"Excluding stotutory poyobles omounting to 90.8 million ond P2.0 mi ion os ot Decembet 3T, 2078 ond 2017, rcsryctively.

Advonces to Subsidiories. These advances are due and demandable but since the Company has no

intention to collect these advances within one year, these are presented as noncurrent. However,

since the timing and amounts of future cash flows cannot be reasonably and reliably estimated,
these are presented at cost.

20. Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments
AMPI, a wholly owned subsidiary through ASTI, entered into a Joint Venture (JV) ABreement with
the Boy Scouts of the Philippines (BSP) to develop the Alphaland Makati Place Pro.iect (the Project).

Pursuant to the JV Agreement, the Company has issued a corporate guaranty in favor of BSP

whereby, in the event AMPI is unable to complete the Project (for reasons attributable to the fault
of AMP|), the company shall pay BSP the amount of P600.0 million in exchange for BsP's 15% share

ln the sharing scheme as defined in the JV Agreement.

The Company has also issued Continuing Suretyship Agreements in favor of BDOLFI in loan

accommodations entered into by MPI in 2017 and AAI in 2016.

Continpencies
There are on-going litigations involving the Company which are either pending decision by the
proper judicial bodies or under negotiation, the outcome of which are presently undeterminable. ln

the opinion of the Company's management, the ultimate disposition of these cases, disputes and

assessments will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position or results of operations

of the Company.

2018

PLO,776,845,415 P8,480,803,250
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21. Note to Statements of Cash Flow

The reconciliation of the Company's liabilities arising from financing activities is presented below:

2077 cash Flows Non-cash Flows 2018

Long-term debt F6,790,037,923 (F690,942,509) P21,922,915 F5,521,018,230

Advances from related parties 27,140,187 117,160,988 - 744,307,775

Cash Flows Non cash Flows 20tl
Long-term debt
Advances from related parties

P480,000,000 P5,806,000,000
2,777,O57,733 12,749,916,9461

1P95,962,O'17) P6,79O,037,923

- 27,t40,7A7
Accrued interest 2,385,548 (2,386,548) - -

P3,259,443,687 P3,O53,695,sO6 1P9s,962,077|, P6,277,778,710

F6,277,L7A,LIO l?573,78L,6271 Pzr,922,916 F5,565,319,405
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

TO ACCOMPANY SEPARATE FINANCIAT STATEMENTS FOR FILING WITH THE

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors

Alphaland Corporation
Alphaland Makati Place

7232 Ayala Ave. ext. cor. Malugay Street
Makati City

We have audited the accompanying separate financial statements of Alphaland Corporation
(the Companyl as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 and for the three years ended December 3L,2078,

2OL7 and 2016, on which we have rendered our report dated January 29, 2019.

ln compliance with the Securities Regulation Code Rule 68, as amended, we are stating that as at

December 31,2018, the Company has 75 stockholders owning 100 or more shares each

REYE5 TACANDoNG & Co,

Arrr; b,kA
BELINDA B. FERNANDO

Pa rtner
CPA Certificate No. 81207
Tax ldentification No. 102-086-538-000
BOA Accreditation No. 4782i Valid until August 15, 2021

SEc Accreditation No. 1022-AR-2 Group A

Valid until March 15, 2020
BIR Accreditation No, 08-005144-004-2017

Valid untillanuary 13, 2020
PTR No,7334334

lssued January 3, 2019, Makati CitY

January 29, 2019
Makati City, Metro Manila
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

ON SUPPTEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF ADOPTION OF

EFFECTIVE ACCOUNTING STANOARDS AND INTERPRETATIONs

The stockholders and the Board of Directors
Alphaland Corporation
Alphaland Makati Place

7?32 Ayala Ave. ext. cor. Malugay Street
Makati City

We have audited in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, the separate financial statements
of Alphaland Corporation (the Company) as at December 31, 2018 and 2077 and for the three years

ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 and have issued our report thereon dated January 29, 2079.
Our audits were made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic separate financial statements
taken as a whole. The accompanying Supplementary Schedule of Adoption of Effective Accounting
Standards and lnterpretations is the responsibility of the Company's management as at December 31,

2018. This schedule is presented for the purpose of complying with Securities Regulation Code Rule 68,

as amended, and is not part of the basic separate financial statements. The information in this schedule
has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our audit of the basic separate financial
statements, including comparing such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the basic separate financial statements or to the basic separate financial
statements themselves. ln our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation
to the basic separate financial statements taken as a whole.

REYES TACANDoNG & Co.
\

flr!^- $ 0. 14/,4,,-,.9'-/
BELINDA B. FERNANDO

Partner
CPA Certificate No. 81207
Tax ldentification No. 102-085-538-000
BOA Accreditation No. 4782; Valid untilAugust 15, 2021

SEC Accreditation No. 1022-AR-2 Group A
Valid until March 15, 2020

BIR Accreditation No. 08-005144-004-2017
Valid untilJanuary 13, 2020

PTR No.7334334
lssued January 3, 2019, Makati city

January 29, 2019
Makati City, Metro Manila
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ALPHALAND CORPORATION

SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF ADOPTION OF

EFFECTIVE ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
DECEMBER 3I, 2018

Title Adopted
Not

Adopted
Not

Applica ble

Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial

Statements

Conceptual Framework Phase A: Objectives and qualitative characteristics

PFRSs Practice Statement Management Commentary

PFRSs Practice Statement 2: Making Materiality iudgments

Philippine Financial ReportinB Standards (PFRS)

PFRS Title Adopted
Not

Adopted
Not

Applica ble

PFRS 1 (Revised)
First-time Adoption of Philippine Financial Reporting
standards

Amendments to PFRS 1: Additional Exemptions for
First-time Adopters

Amendment to PFRS 1: Limited Exemption from
Comparative PFRS 7 Disclosures for First-time
Adopters

Amendments to PFRS 1: Severe Hyperinflation and

Removalof Fixed Date for First-time Adopters

Amendments to PFRS 1: Government Loans

Amendments to PFRS 1: First-time Adoption of
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards - Deletion of
Short-term Exemptions for First-time Adopters

PFRS 2 Share-based Payment

Amendments to PFRS 2: Vesting Conditions and

Cancellations

Amendments to PFRS 2: Group Cash-settled
Share-based Payment Transactions

Amendments to PFRS 2: Classification and

Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions

PFRS 3 (Revised) Business Com binations

Amendment to PFRS 3: Accounting for Contlngent
Consideration in a Business Combination
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PFRS Title Adopted
Not

Adopted
Not

Applicable

Amendment to PFRS 3: Scope Exceptions for Joint
Ventures

PFRS 4 lnsurance Contracts

Amendments to PFRS 4: Financial Guarantee Contracts

Amendments to PFRS 4: Applying PFRS9, Finonciol
lnstruments wilh PFRS 4, lnsuronce Controcts

PFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations

Amendment to PFRS 5: Changes in Methods of Disposal

PFRS 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources

PFRS 7 Financial lnstruments: Disclosures

Amendments to PFRs 7: Reclassification of Financial
Assets

Amendments to PFRS 7: Reclassification of Financial
Assets - Effective Date and Transition

Amendments to PFRS 7: lmproving Disclosures about
Financial lnstruments

Amendments to PFRS 7: Disclosures - Transfers of
FinancialAssets

Amendments to PFRS 7: Disclosures - Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Amendment to PFRS 7: Servicing Contracts

Amendment to PFRS 7; Applicability of the
Amendments to PFRS 7 to condensed lnterim Financial

Statements

PFRS 8 Operating Segments

Amendments to PFRS 8: Aggregation of Operating
Segments

Amendments to PFRS 8: Reconciliation of the Total of
the Reportable Segments'Assets to the Entity's Assets

PFRS 9 Financial lnstruments

PFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

Amendments to PFRS 10: Transition Guidance

Amendments to PFRS 10: lnvestment Entities

Amendments to PFRS 10: lnvestment Entities: Applying
the Consolidation Exception
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PFRS Title Adopted
Not

Adopted
Not

Applicable

PFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

Amendments to PFRS 11:Transition Guidance

Amendments to PFRS 11: Accounting for Acqulsitions
of lnterests in Joint Operations

PFRS 12 Disclosure of lnterests in Other Entities

Amendments to PFRS 12: Transition Guidance

Amendments to PFRS 12: lnvestment Entities

Amendments to PFRS 12: lnvestment Entities: Applying
the Consolidation Exception

Amendment to PFRS 12: Clarification of the Scope of
the Standard

PFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

Amendment to PFRS 13: Short-term receivables and
Payables

Amendment to PFRS 13; Portfolio Exception

PFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts

PFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Amendments to PFRS 1.5: Clarifications to PFRS 15

Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS)

PAS Title Adopted
Not

Adopted
Not

Applicable

PAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements

Amendments to PAS 1: Puttable Financial lnstruments
and Obligations Arising on Liquidation

Amendments to PAS 1: Presentation of ltems of Other
Comprehensive lncome

Amendment to PAS 1: Clarification of the
Requirements for Com pa rative Presentation

Amendments to PAS L: Disclosure lnitiative

PAS 2 lnventories

PAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows

Amendments to PAS 7: Disclosure lnitiative
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PAS Title Adopted
Not

Adopted
Not

Applicable

PAS 8
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates

and Errors

PAS 1O Events after the Reporting Period

PAs 12 lncome Taxes

Amendments to PAS 12: Recovery of Underlying Assets

Amendments to PAS 12: Recognition of Deferred Tax

Assets for Unrealized Losses

PAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment

Amendment to PAS 16: Classification of Servicing

Equipment

Amendment to PAS L6: Revaluation Method -
Proportionate Restatement of Accumulated
Depreciation

Amendment to PAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment
- Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation
and Amortization

Amendment to PAS 16: Agriculture: Bearer Plants

PAS 17 Leases

PAS 19
(Revised)

E mployee Benefits

Amendment to PAS 19: Defined Benefit Plans:

Employee contributions

Amendment to PAS L9: Discount Rate: Regional Market
lssue

PAS 20
Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of
Government Assistance

PAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates

Amendment: Net lnvestment in a Foreign Operation

PAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs

PAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures

Amendment to PAS 24; Key Management Personnel

PAS 26 Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans

PASZT
(Amended)

Separate Financial Statements

Amendments to PAS 27: lnvestment Entities
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PAS Title Adopted
Not

Adopted
Not

Applicable

Amendments to PAS 27: Equity Method in Separate

Financial Statements

PAs 28
(Amended)

lnvestments in Associates and loint Ventures

Amendments to PAS 28: lnvestment Entities: Applying
the Consolidation Exception

Amendments to PAS 28: Measuring an Associate or
Joint Venture at Fair Value

PAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies

PAS 32 Financial lnstruments: Disclosure and Presentation

Financial lnstruments: Presentation

Amendments to PAS 32: Puttable Financial lnstruments
and Obligations Arising on Liquidation

Amendment to PAS 32: Classification of Rights lssues

Amendments to PAS 32: Offsetting FinancialAssets and
Financial Liabilities

Amendments to PAS 32: Tax Effect of Distribution to
Holders of Equity lnstruments

PAS 33 Earnings per Share

PAS 34 lnterim Financial Reporting

Amendment to PAS 34: lnterim Financial Reporting and
Segment lnformation for Total Assets and Liabilities

Amendment to PAS 34: Disclosure of lnformation
'Elsewhere in the lnterim Financial Report'

PAS 36 lmpairment of Assets

Amendments to PAS 36: Recoverable Amount
Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets

PAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

PAS 38 lntangible Assets

Amendment to PAS 38: Revaluation Method -

Proportionate Restatement of Accumulated
Amortization

Amendment to PAS 38: Clarification of Acceptable
Methods of Depreciation and Amortization

PAS 40 lnvestment Property
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PAS Title Adopted
Not

Adopted
Not

Applicable

Amendment to PAS 40: Clarifying the lnterrelationship
between PFRS 3 and PAS 40 when Classifying Property

as lnvestment Property or Owner-occupied Property

Amendments to PAS 40: Transfers of lnvestment
Property

PAS 41 Agriculture

Amendment to PAS 41: Agriculture: Bearer Plants

Philippine lnterpretations

lnterpretations Title Adopted
Not

Adopted
Not

Applicable

IFRIC 1
Changes in Existing Decommissioning, Restoration and

Similar Liabilities

IFRIC 2
Members'5hare in co-operative Entities and Similar
lnstruments

IFRIC 4
Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a

Lease

tFRtc 5
Rights to lnterests arising from Decommissioning,

Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds

rF Rtc 6
Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market
- Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment

tFRtc 7
Applying the Restatement Approach under PAS 29

Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies

rFRtc 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

Amendments to Philippine lnterpretation IFRIC-9:

Embedded Derivatives

tFRtc 10 lnterim Financial Reporting and lmpairment

IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements

rFRtc 13 customer Loyalty Programmes

rFR tc 14
PAS 19 - The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,

Minimum Funding Requirements and their lnteraction

Amendments to Philippine lnterpretations IFRIC- 14,

Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement

tFRlc 16 Hedges of a Net lnvestment in a Foreign Operation

lFRtc 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

rFRtc 18 Transfers of Assets from customers
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lnterpretations Title Adopted
Not

Adopted
Not

Applica ble

tFRtc 19
Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity

lnstruments

tFRtc 20
Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface

Mine

IFRIC 21 Levies

tFRtc 22
Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance

consideration

PH ITIPPINE INTERPRETATIONS - SIC

lnterpretations Title Adopted
Not

Adopted
Not

Applicable

stc-7 lntroduction of the Euro

stc-10
Government Assistance - No Specific Relation to
Operating Activities

stc-15 Operating Leases - lncentives

s tc- 25
lncome Taxes - Changes in the Tax Status of an Entity

or its Shareholders

stc 27
Evaluating the substance of Transactions lnvolving the
Legal Form of a Lease

src-29 Service Concession Arrangements: Disclosures

stc-3 L
Revenue - Barter Transactions lnvolvinB Advertising

services

stc 32 lntangible Assets - Web Site Costs




